
 

 

AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD 

 

Tuesday, September 24, 2019 
4:30 pm in BR126 

North Vancouver Campus 
 

We respectfully acknowledge the Lil'wat, Musqueam, Squamish, Sechelt and Tsleil-Waututh people on 
whose territories our campuses are located. 

AGENDA ITEM ACTION SCHEDULE TIME 

1. Approval of Agenda – Cherian Itty, Chair    

 MOTION:  THAT the agenda be approved as presented.  Approval  5 
min 

2. Introduction of New Board Members and Oath of Office – Cherian Itty, Chair Info 2 10 
min 

3. Consent Agenda – Cherian Itty, Chair    
 

MOTION:  THAT the Board approve the following items on the consent agenda:  Approval  10 
min 

3.1. Minutes from the June 18, 2019 Board Meeting   3.1  

3.2. Board Committee Reports:    

3.2.1    Finance and Audit Committee  3.2.1  

3.2.2    Investment Management Committee  3.2.2  

3.3. Correspondence  3.3  

4. Board Chair’s Report – Cherian Itty, Chair Info verbal 10 
min 

5. Senate Reports 

 5.1.   Vice-Chair – Stephen Williams 

 5.2.   Board Liaison – Duncan Brown 

Info 
 
Info 

verbal 
 
verbal 

 
 
15 
min 
 
 

6. President’s Report – Paul Dangerfield, President 

6.1   Faculty Board of Governors Election 

Info 

Info 

6 

verbal 
15 
min 

7. Finance and Audit Committee – Patricia Heintzman, Committee Chair 

 7.1.  Statement of Financial Information, Fiscal 2019/20 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approves the Statement of 
Financial Information for the Year Ended March 31, 2019. 

7.2  Five year Capital Plan 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approves the Five Year Capital Plan 
for 2020/21 - 2024/25. 

7.3  Credit and Debit Card Policy 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approves adoption of B.211 Credit 
and Debit Card Policy. 

 
 
Approval 

 

 

Approval 

 

 

Approval 

 

 

 
 
7.1 

 

 

7.2 

 

 

7.3 

 

 

 

30 
min 



Agenda   
Regular Meeting of the Board 
September 24, 2019 
   

 

 

 

7.4 Cash Policy 

MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approves adoption of B.210 Cash 
Policy. 

Approval 7.4 

8. 50TH Anniversary Final Report – Paul Dangerfield, President Info 8 10 
min 

9. In Camera Session 
MOTION:  THAT the Board move In-Camera following the adjournment       
of the Regular Meeting. 

  

 

10. Adjournment  

MOTION:  THAT the Regular Meeting of the Board be adjourned. 
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WELCOME TO OUR NEW BOARD MEMBERS! 

Grace Dupasquier 
Elected Member – Board of Governors 

Elected student representative for a term beginning June 30, 2019 and ending June 30, 2020. 

Grace Dupasquier is a third-year student at Capilano University in pursuit of her Bachelor of Arts with a 
major in Liberal Studies. She is a lifelong North Shore resident, and is dedicated to serving the 
community she loves. 

Grace is committed to helping to create a welcoming and equitable university environment that 
students from all walks of life can thrive and learn in. She is a passionate advocate with a keen interest 
in policy and civic engagement, and hopes to use these interests to ensure that her community is one 
that uplifts and empowers all of its members in as many ways possible. 

Outside of school, Grace works in the tourism industry. She enjoys exploring North Vancouver’s amazing 
forests on long walks/romps with her dog, reading anything and everything, and expanding her already-
too-large collection of dresses with pockets. 

Barbara Joe 
Appointed Member – Board of Governors 

Appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council for a term beginning July 31, 2019 and ending July 31, 
2020. 

Barbara began her career as a Registered Social Worker in the 1980s, then started a computer 
consulting business. Recognizing the need for technology and finance, she began Certified General 
Accounting courses leading to a Certified Aboriginal Financial Manager designation. 

Barbara began working for the Sechelt Band in the 1990s as a coordinator for an employment program 
while studying accounting and was soon promoted to the full time position of Chief Financial Officer, a 
role she filled until 2005.  

In 2006, ready for a new challenge, Barbara agreed to return as the Chief Administrative Officer and 
continued in that capacity up to 2014. 

Barbara is of Kaska Dena heritage, daughter of Martha Shorty, granddaughter of Yanima from Lower 
Post, B.C. She has 3 grown children, Ashley, Sarah and Lakota. 
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Layne North 
Elected Member – Board of Governors 

Elected student representative for a term beginning June 30, 2019 and ending June 30, 2020. 

Layne North is completing his first year in General Sciences as a student at Capilano University. His 
commitment to the Board of Governors is a continuation of his interest in Canadian government, 
stemming from his time this year as President of the North Shore Constituency Youth Council for the 
Minister of Oceans and Fisheries, the Honourable Jonathan Wilkinson, and previously, as the President 
of his high school’s student council. 

In recent years, he was selected to attend the Democracy and Youth Program of Encounters Canada, 
and the Forum for Young Canadians. In 2018 he was one of 150 young people from across the country 
chosen for their leadership and ideas and given the privilege of representing Canada’s youth at the 
Canada 150 and Me National Youth Forum in Ottawa. 

Academically, he is highly interested in CapU’s psychology program, as well as courses offered in Physics 
and Chemistry. Currently he is taking a variety of courses, including philosophy, to try to broaden his 
perspective. 

Outside of university, North is an active member of his community and has been volunteering at the 
Vancouver Aquarium’s Marine Mammal Rescue Centre since 2016.  He is an avid player of percussion 
instruments, particularly the Marimba, and has toured internationally as a member of the World Music 
Program. 

Since 2012, he has performed at the ISME conference in Greece, the Aberdeen International Youth 
Festival, a competition winning performance at Carnegie Hall and most recently at the Musikverein / 
Golden Hall of Vienna in July 2018 as part of the acclaimed Summa Cum Laude International Youth 
Festival.  

In his remaining spare moments at home he reads constantly, and enjoys playing games of all forms and 
kinds. 

Rodger So 
Appointed Member – Board of Governors 

Appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council for a term beginning July 31, 2019 and ending July 31, 
2020.  

As a partner at Ernst & Young LLP, Rodger So coordinates and executes the day-to-day tax planning, 
compliance and reporting activities for his clients and also works with all of EY’s service lines as a 
champion of the B.C. market lifestyle sector. 

He has over 12 years of experience in public accounting, serving domestic and international entities 
primarily in the financial services and consumer sectors. Rodger is a graduate of UBC with a Bachelor of 
Arts and Diploma in Accounting. 

He also holds a Master of Arts from UVic. Rodger is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA) and a 
member of the Canadian Tax Foundation. A passionate supporter of the arts, he previously served as 
Director and Treasurer of the PuSh International Performing Arts Festival. 
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Excerpt from Policy B.306 - Board Bylaws 

4. OATH OF OFFICE

The Board Chair shall administer to each Board Member, at the first Board meeting he or she attends, 
the following Oath of Office (and the Board Member shall swear, sign and date the Oath): 

“I, ______________, sincerely promise and swear (or 

affirm) that I will truly, faithfully and impartially, to the best 

of my ability, execute the duties and responsibilities of a 

Member of the Board of Governors of Capilano University. 

I have read and agree to abide by the bylaws of the Board 

of Governors of Capilano University.” 

Signed_____________________ 

Date_______________________ 

______________________ 
(Please print name)
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MEETING  
MINUTES OF THE BOARD 

Tuesday, June 18, 2019 
4:00 pm in BR126 

North Vancouver Campus 

Board Staff 
Soon Kim, Chair 
Cherian Itty, Vice Chair 
Paul Dangerfield, President 
Andrew Petrozzi 
Ash Amlani 
Aurelea Mahood 

Regrets: 

Duncan Brown 
Emily Gaudette 
Hassan Merali 
Michael Fleming 
Mila Mattson 
Patricia Heintzman 

Carleen Thomas 
David Fung 
R. Paul Dhillon

Jennifer Ingham, VP of University Relations 
Jacqui Stewart, VP Finance & Admin 
Laureen Styles, VP Academic & Provost 
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning 
Lesley Cook, EA to the Board of Governors 
Ryan Blades (for item #6) 

Guest 
Majid Raja, Senate, Vice Chair 

We respectfully acknowledge the Lil'wat, Musqueam, Squamish, Sechelt and Tsleil-Waututh people on 
whose territories our campuses are located. 

The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:07 p.m. 

1. Approval of Agenda

It was moved (Duncan Brown), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved;

THAT the agenda be approved as presented. 

2. Consent Agenda

Jacqui Stewart noted an addition to page 13 of the agenda package, schedule 2.2.3 Investment
Management Committee quarterly returns. The Q4 quarterly disbursement rate for the Vancouver
Foundation is 1.4% and year to date returns is 4.3%.  The year to date returns before fees for the
Capilano University Foundation is 8.7%.

It was moved (Cherian Itty), seconded by (Patricia Heintzman) and resolved;

THAT the Board approves the consent agenda with the changes as noted: 

2.1. Minutes from the April 16, 2019 Board Meeting 

2.2. Board Committee Reports: 

2.2.1. Finance and Audit Committee 

2.2.2  Governance Committee 
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2.2.3  Investment Management Committee 

2.2.4  Policy and Planning Committee 

2.3. Correspondence 

3. Board Chair’s Report 

Soon Kim addressed the Board Members. He provided a retrospective view for new board 
members and shared that in the beginning it took him 2-years to feel fully engaged. He recollected 
how different the campus tone was at the start of his six-year term, compared to now. He 
attributes the positive change to the huge transformation in management. Today, the campus has 
a “can do” attitude. President Paul Dangerfield is working hard and has made significant strides in 
international student enrollment and takes time to create an experience “second to none”.  

4. Senate Reports 

4.1 Vice-Chair 

Majid Raja, Senate Vice Chair, reported that Senate met on May 14 and June 6. There have been 
some changes in Senate composition. New voting members are Anthea Mallinson, faculty 
representative, and four new students who are Alea Rzeplinkski, Bridget Stringer-Holden, 
Christopher Ballard, and Oscar Blue. The new Senate Vice Chair is Stephen Williams. 

The Positive Space Program was presented to Senate. This is a joint Capilano University and 
Capilano Students’ Union project that is aligned with both the University’s values and Executive 
commitment to focus on positive working and learning environments. 

Lastly, a concept paper regarding a Post-Baccalaureate Certificate and Diploma for social 
innovation was approved. 

4.2 Board Liaison 

In retrospect, Duncan Brown commented that his experience as Board liaison to the Senate has 
been invaluable. He recommends that Board members try to attend at least one Senate meeting. 
For consideration, a rotating Board member who attends monthly Senate meetings. Majid added 
that the Senate welcomes all Board members and he encourages Board participation at all levels, 
liaison, contributor from the gallery, and spectator and he backed Duncan’s proposal for a rotating 
Board liaison.  

5. President’s Report 

Paul Dangerfield was pleased to introduce Jennifer Ingham, VP of University Relations.  

He acknowledged that he is grateful for the opportunity to publish the President’s Report because 
it is a vehicle by which Capilano University can communicate, with detail, to all stakeholders. He 
agrees that the reports are quite lengthy and efforts are being made to reduce them by 
approximately 50%.  

He thanked the Board members for their participation in the 2019 Capilano University Convocation 
and commented that the 2-days were extraordinary and beyond what the University has been able 
to do in the past. Emeritus recipient award winner, Pierre Coupey, and the two honorary degree 
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recipients Sarah McLachlan and Bruce Poon Tip are three outstanding individuals, who will stay 
connected with the University.  

Paul spoke to the departure of Board member, Soon Kim, who has held a 6-year term, the longest 
any Board member may hold. In his three most recent years he has open-handedly given of his 
time and served as Capilano University’s Board Chair. On a personal note Paul expressed a 
heartfelt thanks to Soon for his immeasurable dedication to Capilano University. Soon made 
himself available for uncountable collaborative hours of work with Paul, outside of each Board 
meeting.  Paul expressed that he could not have asked for a better Board Chair. Chancellor David 
Fung, who was unfortunately not in attendance, wrote words of thanks to Soon, which Paul read 
to the Board. 

“I do want to thank Soon for his many years of dedication and leadership on the CapU 
Board of Governors.  The positive and collaborative cultural change at CapU during his 
terms as the Board Chair has been remarkable.  The sound financial position of CapU has 
changed the narrative from the annual complaints of under-funding by the Province to 
the ambitious aspiration for growth and impact.  I hope that he will find further 
opportunities to participate in the future growth of CapU.  I wish him health, happiness, 
success and prosperity.” 

6. Campus Master Plan: Capital Asset Management 

Jacqui Stewart introduced Ryan Blade, Director, Facilities Services and Capital Planning.  Ryan 
shared that a Campus Master Plan Steering Committee has been established to bring together 
plans for new construction, renovation of existing buildings, deferred maintenance projects that 
align with the academic and programs.  The Steering Committee will use the Campus Master Plan 
as part of the planning framework on maximizing use of the campus.   

Ryan took questions from Board members and confirmed that the Ministry is aware of the scale of 
deferred maintenance, which is similar to our peers.   

Paul thanked Jacqui and Ryan and noted that the University is armed with helpful information to 
carefully tackle deferred maintenance and new projects.    

7. University KPIs & Dashboard  

Toran Savjord introduced Christine Chan, Manager of Institutional Research. Christine 
demonstrated the dashboard which is accessible to the Board of Governors online and also by a 
mobile phone application. Toran suggested that Board members try to access the dashboard and 
that staff from Institutional Research will assist those with user account issues. The dashboard will 
continue to be developed over the summer months as will training, which will reach to all levels of 
users within the University. Development of a data governance plan is also in the works.  

8. Institutional Accountability Plan and Report (IAPR) 

Toran Savjord provided background and the key information with regard to the Institutional 
Accountability Plan and Report for Board members. 

• The document is comparable to a government report card. 
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• CapU follows the reporting standards established for other institutions, allowing for 
comparisons between institutions. 

• CapU’s report format is similar to other similar sized institutes. 
•  The Ministry provides the guidelines, templates and the targets and results.   
• This is the first year that CapU will be able to start building targets where provincial 

targets are not provided. 
• Feedback must should be sent to Lesley Cook no later than July 2.  

Andrew Petrozzi joined the meeting at 5:20 pm. 

Action: Board members to provide feedback to Lesley Cook by July 2, 2019. 

9. Three New Proposed Degrees 

Laureen Styles thanked everyone involved in developing these three degrees and for the 
commitment to the processes institutionally that ensures solid academic review. 

9.1 Bachelor of Science General – Stage 2 Program Proposal 

The proposed degree builds on an existing Associate Degrees at the university, and affords 
new opportunities for students to complete a degree that will include experiential and applied 
approaches aligned with Cap Core requirements. As this is a general degree, there are three 
concentration areas for choice and flexibility for learners to ‘build their own degree’ to some 
extent. The projected enrolments numbers represent new students to the university (years 
three and four). The timeline is for launching in Fall 2020 if all approvals are in place. 

It was moved (Hassan Merali), seconded by (Duncan Brown) and resolved; 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Science, General Full Program Proposal 
(Stage 2), as presented, for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval. 

9.2 Bachelor of Human Kinetics – Stage 2 Program Proposal 

This proposed program has two streams (health promotion and biomechanics) and graduates 
are anticipated to take up roles that contribute to the overall health of individuals and 
communities. The degree builds on the strong foundation of an in-demand existing diploma, 
and has a field component in the third year with a focus on applied learning experiences. The 
projected intake is 80 students annually with 45-50 graduates a year (not all students will 
pursue the degree). It is estimated that this program will launch in 2020. Future directions 
include a more robust learning lab with the Sport and Wellness Center. The timeline for launch 
is Fall 2021; although Fall 2020 is possible if all approvals are in place. 

It was moved (Ash Amlani), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved; 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Human Kinetics Full Program Proposal 
(Stage 2), as presented, for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval. 
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9.3 Bachelor of Arts in English – Stage 2 Program Proposal 

Already known for its reputable creative writing program, a Bachelor of Arts in English is 
intended to attract new students to CapU where students can complete a full degree with 
Major and Minor options. The highlight of the program proposal is that it offers a blend of 
approaches in critical reading, writing, and self-awareness, as well as experiential and applied 
learning aligned with the university Cap Core requirements. This proposal has not yet had 
Stage One approval by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training. If all approvals 
are in place, the anticipated launch will be Fall 2020. 

Andrew Petrozzi suggested incorporating a writer in residence program to strengthen the 
program. This aspect of the program is under consideration by the department who have 
several potential candidates in mind.  

It was moved (Patricia Heintzman), seconded by (Hassan Merali) and resolved; 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English Full 
Program Proposal (Stage 2) for the following credentials as presented for Minister of 
Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval. 

• Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English;  
• Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English (Honours); 
• Minor in English;  
• Minor in Creative Writing; 
• Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English, Creative Writing Concentration 

10. Finance and Audit Committee 

10.1 Confirmation of Chair 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded by (Ash Amlani) and resolved; 

THAT the Board of Governors confirms the Chair of the Board’s appointment of Patricia 
Heintzman as Chair to the Finance and Audit Committee and the re-appointment of Cherian 
Itty as Vice Chair. 

10.2 Audited Financial Statements for 2018/19 

Board Chair, Soon Kim discussed the statements with regard to the $4 million in surplus. Jacqui 
took questions regarding the results.   

Duncan Brown clarified that the cover report in the agenda package references an in-camera 
meeting which was an in-camera meeting between the Committee members and the KPMG 
auditors without CapU management. 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded by (Patricia Heintzman) and resolved; 

THAT the Board approve the Draft Consolidated Financial Statements of Capilano University 
for the Year Ended March 31, 2019. 
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10.3 Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for 2018/19 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded by (Patricia Heintzman) and resolved; 

That the Board approves the Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for the Year 
Ended March 31, 2019. 

10.4 Appointment of Auditors 

Management confirmed that the Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia will provide 
oversight of the audit in 2019/20 and then will directly audit the financial affairs of the 
university.  The university must appoint an auditor for the upcoming year, until the Office of 
the Auditor General arrives. 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded by (Patricia Heintzman) and resolved; 

That the Board appoint KPMG as the auditors for 2019/20. 

11. Governance Committee 

11.1 Board Self-Assessment Survey Results 

Duncan Brown provided highlights of the survey results, which are the same survey questions 
asked last year, with one new question. The new question asked Board members if they 
identified as a new or returning member. Cherian Itty added that the feature qualitative 
analysis was helpful. Duncan asked that the Board members keep in mind the perspective of 
the percentages, i.e. 25% is the equivalent to two people.  

12. Future Board Meetings 

Paul Dangerfield explained the new approach to planning the 2019/2020 Board of Governors 
meetings. Going forward, Board meetings will be scheduled to align with particular Board -
committee meeting dates that line up with key Ministry reporting due dates. The meeting 
schedule will follow the academic year, September to June.  

Board members made some suggestions for future events: 

• that the Joint Board and Senate social date rotate so that it falls on a Board meeting date 
every other year, 

• periodic presentations could be made to the Board to enable a more fulsome 
understanding of each faculty department, and 

• to hold a short social prior or post each board meeting.    

Action: Lesley to send the Board members meeting invitations as per the proposed schedule.  

Action: Lesley and Duncan will continue to work on the scheduling of committee meetings. 

13. Board Chair and Vice Chair Election 

Paul Dangerfield reviewed the relevant legislation and followed the script for election.   
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Duncan Brown nominated Cherian Itty, for Board Chair and Hassan Merali seconded it, which was 
elected by acclamation. Cherian Itty nominated Duncan Brown for Board Vice-Chair. Duncan 
Brown was elected by acclamation. 

14. In Camera Session 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded (Cherian Itty) and resolved; 

THAT the Board move In-Camera following the adjournment of the Regular Meeting. 

15. Adjournment 

It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded (Cherian Itty) and resolved; 

THAT the Regular Meeting of the Board be adjourned. 

The Regular Meeting of the Board adjourned at 6:30 pm. 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 3.2.1:  FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE:  September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER:  Patricia Heintzman, Finance and Audit Committee Chair 

PURPOSE 

To provide the Board with a summary of the September 9, 2019 Finance and Audit Committee meeting.  

DISCUSSION 

The members of the Committee are: Patricia Heintzman (Chair), Cherian Itty (Vice Chair), Ash Amlani, 
Duncan Brown, and Rodger So.  The Committee met to discuss many items and received the following 
for information only: 

• Financial Statements for Fiscal 2019/20, Q1 ending June 30, 2019 (attached)

• Summary of Response to Bookstore Cybersecurity Incident

• Follow up on the approach to Internal Audit.  A fulsome report and recommendations for the
Board of Governors will be brought forward at the November meeting.

• Briefing note on Financial Stewardship in the Public Sector

• Update on Integrated Planning and Budget Development, Fiscal 2020/21 - 2022/23

Also discussed and presented under separate cover for the Board of Governors are motions regarding: 

1. Statement of Financial Information, Fiscal 2018/19

2. Five Year Capital Plan

3. Credit and Debit Card Policy

4. Cash Policy

RECOMMENDATION 

This is for the Board’s information only. 
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Capilano University
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at June 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2019

2019

June 30

2019

March 31

Change

 $

Change

 % Change explanation

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 41,856,451$       46,823,206$      (4,966,755)$       -10.6% Change explained on 4-Stmt Cash Flows

Investments 43,140,355         42,370,818         769,537 1.8%

Change relates to the unrealized and realized gains and losses on the investment 

portfolio

Accounts receivable 3,043,342           3,126,024           (82,682) -2.6%

FY2019 AR includes $1.2m in student receivables; normalizing for this item, AR 

increased approximately $1.1m due to increase in invoices - Quest University is 

significant portion of this

Inventories 771,788 723,621 48,167 6.7% Increase due to purchases for Fall semester

88,811,936         93,043,669         (4,231,733)         -4.5%

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,448,220         17,018,227         (6,570,007)         -38.6%

Decrease in AP due to payments being issued quickly, therefore pushing AP 

down

Employee future benefits 1,189,100           1,189,100           - 0.0%

Deferred revenue and contributions 31,208,332         31,523,958         (315,626)            -1.0%

Decrease in deferred tuition and Fall fee payment deadline not yet approached 

to set up new deferrals

Deferred capital contributions 48,694,390         49,653,146         (958,756)            -1.9% Amortization of existing DCC amounts; no new funds to date

91,540,042         99,384,431         (7,844,389)         -7.9%

Net debt (2,728,106)          (6,340,762)         3,612,656          -57.0%

Non-financial assets

Endowment investments 10,675,337         10,503,329         172,008 1.6%

Change relates to the unrealized and realized gains and losses on the investment 

portfolio

Tangible capital assets 72,588,603         73,609,550         (1,020,947)         -1.4% Purchases of $789k less amortization of $1.8m

Prepaid expenses 758,253 245,998 512,255 208.2% Significant increase from year end due to many contracts running April to March

84,022,193         84,358,877         (336,684)            -0.4%

Accumulated surplus 81,294,087$       78,018,115$      3,275,972$     4.2%

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:

Accumulated surplus 72,840,812         70,269,709$      2,571,103$     3.7%

Accumulated remeasurement gains 8,453,275           7,748,406           704,869 9.1%

81,294,087$       78,018,115$      3,275,972$     4.2%
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Capilano University
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

as at June 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2019

 2020

Actuals YTD 

2020

Forecast*

2020

Budget

Variance $

fav/(unfav)

Variance %

fav/(unfav) Variance explanation

2019

Actuals March 31

Revenue:

Province of British Columbia 10,495,979       43,339,854       43,231,657       108,197$        0.3% 41,738,160$           

Tuition fees - Domestic 3,467,453         25,708,233       25,783,895       (75,662)           -0.3% 23,298,875              

Tuition fees - International 7,880,043         35,885,142       32,196,016       3,689,126       11.5% 31,427,649              

Project and other revenue 1,367,205         7,297,832         7,456,057         (158,225)         -2.1% 7,579,595                

Amortization of deferred capital contributions 958,757            3,728,082         3,728,082         -                   0.0% 4,002,330                

Sales of goods 228,881            2,145,704         2,145,000         704                  0.0% 2,301,220                

Parking, childcare and theatre 446,241            2,157,481         2,078,151         79,330            3.8% 2,228,709                

Donations and gifts-in-kind 44,953               600,000            500,000            100,000          20.0% 953,846                   

Investment income 382,906            2,370,717         2,370,717         -                   0.0% 1,087,340                

25,272,418       123,233,045     119,489,575     3,743,470       3.1% 114,617,724           

Expenses:

Salaries and benefits 15,903,928       77,638,249       80,347,966       2,709,717       3.4%

Variance is mainly due to hiring lag (Staff and Admin 

positions); budget owners have discretion to spend lag 

(manage within approved budget) 69,131,525              

Cost of goods sold 164,794            1,554,126         1,554,126         -                   0.0% 1,694,878                

Buildings and grounds 965,815            5,263,098         5,316,473         53,375            1.0% 6,300,859                

Student support 47,473               2,228,700         2,278,901         50,201            2.2% 2,045,629                

Operating expenses 3,825,401         23,455,491       22,197,642       (1,257,849)      -5.7%

Agency fees $380K, Supplies $315K, Travel $136K, 

membership fees $125K 23,829,210              

Amortization of capital assets 1,810,270         8,246,774         7,794,467         (452,307)         -5.8%

Difference is made up of year-end classification 

adjustments from operating expense to capital for Student 

Success Centre and Banner 9 upgrade that were not 

factored into budget development 7,775,403                

22,717,681       118,386,438     119,489,575     1,103,137       0.9% 110,777,504           

Annual operating surplus 2,554,737         4,846,607         -                     4,846,607       3,840,220                

Endowment donations received 16,366               -                     -                     -                   476,033                   

Surplus/(Deficit) 2,571,103         4,846,607         -                     4,846,607       4,316,253                

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 70,269,709       70,269,709       70,269,709       -                   0.0% 65,953,456              

Accumulated surplus, end of year 72,840,812$     75,116,316       70,269,709       4,846,607$     6.9% 70,269,709$           

Mainly due to international summer revenue
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Capilano University
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt

as at June 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2019

2020 Budget

2019

June 30

2019

March 31

Surplus/deficit -$                        2,571,103$           4,316,253$            

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (12,092,814)           (789,323)               (5,349,439)             

Amortization of tangible capital assets 7,794,467              1,810,270             7,775,403              

(4,298,347)             1,020,947             2,425,964              

Acquisition of prepaid expense (820,402)               (395,538)                

Use of prepaid expense 308,147                484,770                  

-                          (512,255)               89,232                    

Remeasurement gains (losses) 704,869                2,394,265              

Change in endowment investments (172,008)               (840,369)                

Decrease in net debt (4,298,347)             3,612,656             8,385,345              

Net debt, beginning of year (6,340,762)             (6,340,762)            (14,726,107)           

Net debt, end of year (10,639,109)$        (2,728,106)$         (6,340,762)$           
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Capilano University
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

as at June 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2019

2020

June 30

2019

March 31

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:

Surplus/(deficit) 2,571,103$          4,316,253$         

Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,810,270             7,775,403           

Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions (958,757)               (4,002,330)          

Change in non-cash operating working capital:

Accounts receivable 82,682                  (1,363,152)          

Prepaid expenses (512,255)               89,232                 

Inventories (48,167)                 26,028                 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (6,570,006)           3,439,664           

Accrued benefit liability -                         (58,200)                

Deferred revenue (315,626)               15,010,046         

(3,940,756)           25,232,944         

Capital activities:

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (789,323)               (5,349,439)          

Financing activities:

Contributions received from capital assets -                         2,189,361           

Investing activities:

Net purchase of investments (236,676)               (1,565,599)          

Increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,966,755)           20,507,267         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 46,823,206          26,315,939         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 41,856,451$        46,823,206$       
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Capilano University
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses

as at June 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2019

2020 2019

Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year 7,748,406$         5,354,141$         

Unrealized gains (losses) attributed to fair value of investments 751,649$             2,546,064$         

Amounts reclassified to investment income (46,780)$              (151,799)$           

Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year 704,869$             2,394,265$         

Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year 8,453,275$         7,748,406$         
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 3.2.2:  INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE:  September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER:  Cherian Itty, Investment Management Committee Chair 

PURPOSE 

To provide the Board with a summary of the Investment Management Committee meeting that took 
place on September 5, 2019.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Committee held their quarterly meeting to review investment returns for Q1 (attached) and receive 
a report from the University’s Investment Managers, Phillips, Hager and North (PH&N).  The Committee 
reviewed the asset mix for the University and Foundation portfolios, as they do each quarter, and 
decided that no changes were warranted at this time. 

Updates and revisions to the Investment Policy Guidelines will be reviewed at the next meeting.  The 
Committee’s Terms of Reference will be discussed at the next committee meeting and recommended 
changes will be brought forward to the Board for consideration. The Committee discussed the proposed 
committee meeting schedule and no changes were made. 

RECOMMENDATION 

This report is for the Board’s information only. 
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Capilano University
Earnings Performance on Investments held with Phillips, Hager and North 
as at Period 3 ending June 30, 2019

Q1   Q2   Q3   Q4   Year to Date
Apr1‐Jun30 Jul1‐Sep30 Oct1‐Dec31 Jan1‐Mar31 Returns

Book Value 38,545,105  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Beginning balance 41,979,818  ‐  ‐  ‐ 
    Interest and dividends 157,960  ‐  ‐  ‐  157,960 
    Unrealized gains  573,484  ‐  ‐  ‐  573,484 
    Realized gains  38,094  ‐  ‐  ‐  38,094 
    Contributions  229,565  ‐  ‐  ‐  229,565 
    Earnings withdrawals  (229,565)  ‐  ‐  ‐  (229,565)                
Ending balance 42,749,355  ‐  ‐  ‐  769,537 

Quarterly Returns
Total gain (loss) before fees 769,537  ‐  ‐  ‐  769,537 
Return, before fees 1.83% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.83%

Management fees 33,448  33,448 
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Capilano University Foundation
Earnings Performance on Investments
as at Period 3 ending June 30, 2019

Q1   Q2   Q3   Q4   Year to Date
Apr1‐Jun30 Jul1‐Sep30 Oct1‐Dec31 Jan1‐Mar31 Returns

Investments Held with PHN:
Book Value 9,487,109                      ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                   

Beginning balance 10,503,329                   ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                   
    Interest and dividends 31,936                           ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    31,936                         
    Unrealized gains  131,385                         ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    131,385                       
    Realized gains  8,686                              ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    8,686                            
    Contributions  54,325                           ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    54,325                         
    Earnings withdrawals  (54,325)                          ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    (54,325)                        
Ending balance 10,675,337                   ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    172,008                       

Quarterly Returns
Total gain (loss) before fees 172,008                         ‐                                  ‐                                    ‐                                    172,008                       
Return, before fees 1.64% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.64%

Management fees 8,552                             

Investments Not Held with PHN:
Vancouver Foundation
Investment Principal 1,010,050                      1,010,050                      1,010,050                        1,010,050                       
Quarterly Disbursement ‐                                
Quarterly Disbursement Rate 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 3.3: CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE:  September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER:  Cherian Itty, Boar Chair 

PURPOSE 

The following correspondences summarized below and attached occurred over the course of the summer, 
June 25 to July 31, 2019. 

a. To Soon Kim, From Assistant Deputy Minister B. Butterworth-Carr regarding policy options to
address the misuse of firearms and imitation firearms in our communities.

b. To Deputy Minister S. MacDonald, from Dr. A. Davis, Chair BC Association of Institutes + Universities
regarding the First Nations request for a mandatory First Peoples course to be included in the
requirements for any student graduating from the K-12 system.

c. To Board Chair, from Deputy Minister S. Baskerville regarding the first Indigenous Post-Secondary
Board Member Gathering on Friday, September 20, 2019.

d. To Jacqui Stewart, from Assistant Deputy Minister K. Brewster regarding Capilano University’s
operating grant and student full-time equivalent (FTE) target for 2019/20, and the associated
accountabilities, roles and expectations.

RECOMMENDATION 

This report is for the Board’s information only. 
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July 16, 2019 

Scott MacDonald 
Deputy Minister of Education 
Deputy Minister’s Office 
PO Box 9179, Stn Prov Govt, 
Victoria BC V8W 9H8 
By email:    dm.education@gov.bc.ca 

Dear Deputy Minister MacDonald, 

First Nations, through the First Nations Education Steering Committee (FNESC) have requested a 
mandatory First Peoples course, or bundle of credits, to be included in the requirements for any student 
graduating from the K-12 system. We note and appreciate the changes to date that have been made in 
the curriculum, but also recognise the concern expressed by FNESC that only with a mandatory 
requirement can there be assurance that students are leaving the K-12 system with a full understanding. 
Courses already existing that satisfy the request include English First Peoples 10-12, BC First Peoples 12, 
and Contemporary Indigenous Studies 12 along with locally developed courses. Many organizations 
support the implementation of a mandatory course in K-12, including the BC Teachers Federation, the BC 
School Trustees Association, FNESC, and the First Nations Leadership Council.  

The matter has been discussed at the Post Secondary Education and Training Partners Table, and also at 

the Vice Presidents Academic sub committee of BCAIU and with BCAIU Presidents. We believe that a 

mandatory First Peoples course would significantly advance reconciliation in BC by ensuring that all 

students leaving the K-12 education system and entering the public post secondary system would have a 

deeper understanding and appreciation of First Peoples history, perspective knowledge and rights. It 

would also serve as an important strategy in reducing racism. In terms of admissions, we see no challenges 

in terms of students being able to meet admission requirements, noting that English First Peoples is 

already recognised as the equivalent of English 12.   

Our program offerings reflect our regional and province wide relationships with communities, business 

and industry and our BCAIU institutions are actively engaged with Indigenous communities and students. 

There is much more we can do, and we fully support implementation of a mandatory First Peoples course. 
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Yours truly,  

Dr. Alan Davis      
President and Vice-Chancellor 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

Chair 
BC Association of Institutes + 
Universities 
 

 
Ruth Wittenberg 
President, BC Association of Institutes + 
Universities 
 

Cc: 
Debbie Jeffrey 
Executive Director, FNESC  
 
Debbie Hull 
Executive Director, Indigenous Policy and Engagement 
Branch, AVED+ST 
 
BCAIU Member Presidents 
Kathy Kinloch, BCIT 
Paul Dangerfield, Capilano University 
Gillian Siddall, Emily Carr University of Art and Design 
Michel Tarko, Justice Institute of BC 
Ken Tourand, Nicola Valley Institute of Technology 
Joanne MacLean, University of the Fraser Valley 
Deborah Saucier, Vancouver Island University 
 
BCAIU Member VP Academics 
Tom Roemer, BCIT 
Laureen Styles, Capilano University 
Trish Kelly, Emily Carr University of Art and Design 
Colleen Vaughan, Justice Institute of BC 
Sandy Vanderburgh, Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Verna Billy-Minnabarriet, Nicola Valley Institute of    
Technology 
Eric Davis, University of the Fraser Valley 
Carol Stuart, Vancouver Island University 
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From: AEST Deputy Minister AEST:EX <AEST.DeputyMinister@gov.bc.ca> 
Date: Tue, 16 Jul 2019 at 11:06 
Subject: Our Ref. 115452 - Re: Indigenous Board Member Gathering Hold-the-Date 
To:  
Cc: Dreilich, Bryan AEST:EX <Bryan.Dreilich@gov.bc.ca> 

July 16, 2019 

Our Ref. 115452 

Dear Board Chair, 

The Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training (the Ministry), in partnership with the First 
Nations Education Steering Committee, Métis Nation BC and the Crown Agency Board Resourcing 
Office, is hosting the first Indigenous Post-Secondary Board Member Gathering on Friday, September 20, 
2019. Please share this email with your Board members who identify as Indigenous (First Nations, Métis 
or Inuit) to save the date in their calendars and join us for the Gathering in September.  

The Gathering will be held at the Musqueam Cultural Education Resource Centre in Vancouver. The 
intent is to bring Indigenous board members together to discuss Indigenous post-secondary education and 
training, the implementation of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission Calls to Action and the United 
Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and the board appointment and orientation 
processes.  The programme will include opportunities for sharing experiences, networking and planning 
next steps. 

We would appreciate a preliminary RSVP from interested Indigenous board members for planning 
purposes. Indigenous board members who are interested in attending the Gathering should please send 
preliminary RSVPs to Bryan Dreilich, Director, Indigenous Policy and Engagement in the Ministry at 
bryan.dreilich@gov.bc.ca, by August 6, 2019.  

If you or your members have any questions about the Gathering, please contact Bryan Dreilich by email 
or by phone at 778-698-9778.  

Thank you, 

Shannon Baskerville 

Deputy Minister  

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 

 pc:           Bryan Dreilich, Director                  Bryan.Dreilich@gov.bc.ca 

Post-Secondary Engagement and Partnerships 

Indigenous Policy and Engagement Branch 

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 
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Ministry of  
Advanced Education, 
Skills and Training 

Finance, Technology 
and Management Services 
and Division Responsible for 
Student Housing 

Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9134 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC  V8W 9B5 

Location Address: 
3rd Floor – 835 Humboldt Street 
Victoria BC  V8V 4W8 

Telephone:  (250) 356-2496 

Our Ref.  116621 
File No.  66710-20 - 2019/20 Budget 

July 18, 2019 

Ms. Jacqui Stewart 
Vice-President, Finance & Administration 
Capilano University 
2055 Purcell Way 
North Vancouver BC  V7J 3H5 

Dear Ms. Stewart: 

I am writing to provide you with information regarding Capilano University’s operating grant 
and student full-time equivalent (FTE) target for 2019/20, and the associated accountabilities, 
roles and expectations. 

2019/20 Operating Grant and FTEs 

Attachment 1 provides details pertaining to your institution’s operating grant and student FTE 
targets for fiscal 2019/20.  Targets pertaining to Skills Gap Plan reporting have not been 
incorporated as this process is currently under review.  Additional direction will be provided 
later in the fiscal year. 

Your institution’s operating grant allocation includes funding for: 
• collective agreements ratified under the Economic Stability Mandate (ESM), and for the

associated Economic Stability Dividends; and
• the Employer Health Tax (EHT) that came into effect on January 1, 2019.

Your institution has received 2019/20 one-time funding: 
• toward the remaining Medical Services Plan premiums from April to December 2019;

and
• for tuition compensation for Adult Basic Education (ABE) and English Language Learning

(ELL) programs.

In the fall, the Ministry will provide further information on funding for collective agreements 
ratified under the Sustainable Services Mandate. 

… /2 
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The Ministry wishes to draw attention to Capilano University’s domestic student FTE utilization 
rate relative to the cohort of public teaching universities in BC.  The final 2018/19 domestic 
student FTE utilization rate comparison is as follows: 
 

Highest utilization rate 109% (Thompson Rivers University) 
Average utilization rate 95.6% (All teaching universities) 
Capilano University 70.9% (Lowest teaching university) 

 
Improving access to public post-secondary education for domestic students is a high priority for 
the Ministry and this government. Your institution’s domestic student FTE utilization rate is low 
for a Lower Mainland teaching university.  
 
The Ministry supports an improved domestic FTE utilization rate at the North Vancouver 
campus, and strategically feels this should be Capilano University’s main focus. Capilano 
University’s plan for significant investment in another community does not address the low 
student FTE utilization at your core campus in North Vancouver.  The Ministry is willing to 
work with your institution on suitably scaled academic expansions into other communities for 
demand driven programming that compliments utilization improvements at your core campus. 
 
Developmental Program FTEs, Adult Basic Education (ABE), English Language Learning (ELL) 
and Adult Special Education (ASE) programs  
Student FTE targets for Adult Basic Education (ABE) and English Language Learning (ELL) 
programs have been revised in consultation with your institution. As well, a new funding 
approach to support tuition-free delivery of these programs has been implemented. This funding 
is to be targeted to tuition-free ABE and ELL, and is in addition to the amounts your institution 
will continue to allocate from your base operating grant for the delivery of these programs. The 
Ministry’s expectation is that all institutions which provide instruction in these programs will 
meet or exceed their revised FTE targets. The Ministry may consider a reduction in funding if 
student enrolment is consistently below mutually agreed to FTE targets.  Early in 2020, the 
Ministry and institutions will examine interim FTE reports and FTE forecasts to determine 
whether any adjustment to FTE targets, and associated funding, is warranted for the next fiscal 
year.  In previous years, ASE and/or LINC programming has been included in your institution’s 
developmental FTE target.  Starting in 2019/20, these programs are not included in the 
developmental programs target; however, the Ministry expects delivery of these programs will 
be maintained or increased.  Providing more opportunities for adult learners supports 
government priorities of improving access and affordability so that all British Columbians can 
participate in a strong economy. 
 
Financial Oversight and Accountabilities 
 
Good financial management helps ensure that institutions are able to achieve their operational 
and fiscal objectives; gain the respect and confidence of funding agencies and other stakeholders; 
and create a position of long-term financial sustainability.  The post-secondary sector receives  
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significant funding from government, and as such, is accountable to taxpayers for the effective 
and efficient use of these resources.  This includes ensuring that expenditures throughout the 
organization are reasonable, appropriate and directly support the core mandate of the institution.  
The following information is provided to guide and inform institutions’ financial planning. 
 
Post-secondary institutions are required to meet or exceed their financial targets, and are 
responsible for the effective and efficient use of taxpayer investments to ensure a high quality, 
accessible post-secondary education system in British Columbia.  The financial accountabilities 
of institutions are outlined in legislation (the College and Institute Act, the University Act, the 
Royal Roads University Act, the Thompson Rivers University Act and the Budget Transparency 
and Accountability Act [BTAA]); and are grounded in prudent, transparent fiscal management.   
 
Balanced Financial Results 
Legislation requires that an institution must be in an annual balanced or surplus financial 
position, including amortization expenses but excluding new endowment contributions.  In 
addition, capital projects must be managed within approved project budgets.  The starting point 
to achieve these results is an annual balanced budget, including both operating results and the 
funding requirements of capital projects.   
 
Fiscal Year Forecasts and Financial Reporting 
The BTAA sets out that all government reporting entities will provide quarterly financial reports 
of actual results, including year-to-date actuals and four-year forecasts.  These reports are 
consolidated and publicized by specified dates.  To support these timeframes, the Ministry of 
Finance establishes quarterly reporting dates, and institutions are expected to provide all reports 
on time.  
 
Forecasts reflect best-available estimates of year-end operating and capital results.  As such, the 
accuracy of forecasting is of primary importance to institutional financial health and sectoral 
sustainability.  Institutions’ third-quarter projections for the following fiscal year are used to 
establish the Budget and Fiscal Plan targets.  Financial outcomes are monitored against these 
figures throughout the following year, and institutional reporting on variances from these 
projections are essential to informing individual institutional financial strategy and sectoral 
results.  
 
Material changes to operating results or to capital project schedules and/or provincial cash flows 
from forecasts should be brought to the Ministry’s attention immediately.  Where changes may 
involve an exception to the balanced budget requirement, institutions are expected to adhere to 
the protocols and timelines outlined in the Deficits section.   
 
Deficits 
Under extraordinary circumstances, institutions may seek an exception to the annual balanced 
budget requirement and request approval from the Minister of Finance and the Minister of 
Advanced Education, Skills and Training to operate in a deficit position.  Requests for deficit 
approval must be provided to the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training by the  
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end of the second quarter and include an explanation of key deficit drivers; actions taken to 
mitigate the deficit; a plan to return to a balanced position and the associated timeframe; and an 
outline of any extraordinary implications for students.  Regardless of the circumstances, an 
institution should not assume that a request to operate in a periodic deficit will be approved. 
 
Tuition Limit 
Institutions are expected to comply with Government’s tuition limit policy.  For 2019/20, the 
2% limit on tuition and mandatory fee increases for existing programs and services continues to 
apply.   
 
Institutions are required to consult with the Ministry and students before implementing any new 
fees for new services and must submit a written request to the Ministry to review substantially 
revised programs for determination as to whether the program is new for the purposes 
of establishing new tuition and mandatory fee rates.  The request must outline: 

• the revisions and how they lead to new or changed objectives, goals, learning 
competencies and outcomes for the program and students, and 

• the proposed tuition and mandatory fees.   
 
In completing the review, consideration is given to the comparability of the proposed fees to fees 
for similar programs.  Institutions are encouraged to propose fees that are in line with similar 
programs or provide a rationale if that is not the case.  
 
Executive and Management Compensation 
 
B.C.’s public sector employers are now making compensation decisions based on a common 
compensation philosophy with shared core principles and benchmarking criteria that will over 
time lead to greater consistency for excluded and executive employees across the public sector. 
This approach ensures that compensation decisions are based primarily on employee 
performance and merit rather than an entitlement to a salary increase. 
 
While unionized employees have received modest wage increases through negotiated settlements 
funded under the 2019 Sustainable Service Negotiating Mandate, excluded and executive 
compensation increases are funded from within existing employer budget allocations.  
 
Board Expenses 
 
As the institution’s oversight body, the Board of Governors plays an integral role in ensuring that 
the institution operates within its mandate in an effective and efficient manner, and that the 
taxpayer funds that are invested in the institution, are managed appropriately.  The ministry has 
developed an Orientation for B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institution Board Members  to provide 
guidance to members in this regard. 
 
Treasury Board Directive 2/17, section 7, provides guidance on business travel and expense 
reimbursements for appointed board members.    
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Capital and Real Estate 
 
Direction relating to 2019/20 Routine Capital and Carbon Neutral Program has been sent under 
separate cover.  Should you have any questions, please contact Alison Prince, Director, Capital 
Asset Management at Alison.Prince@gov.bc.ca.  
 
Student Housing Program 
 
Budget 2018 included a new public post-secondary financing program, providing access to up to 
$450 million in government loans and grants to help B.C.’s public universities, institutes and 
colleges finance new student housing projects over the next 10 years. Participating institutions 
will be expected to contribute to project costs, with government loans being fully repaid over 
time through student housing rental income.                                  
 
By working together and leveraging the knowledge, experience and capacity across the sector, 
B.C.’s public post-secondary institutions have an unprecedented opportunity to address the 
housing needs of B.C.’s students.  For details on how institutions can participate in the loan 
program, please contact Alison Prince, Director responsible for colleges and institutes, at 
Alison.Prince@gov.bc.ca, and Deborah Gogela, Director responsible for universities, at 
Deborah.Gogela@gov.bc.ca. 
 
Administrative Service Delivery Transformation 
 
The Administrative Service Delivery Transformation (ASDT) initiative is a collaboration 
between the Ministry, all 25 public post-secondary institutions and BCNET to optimize 
administrative support services. 
 
ASDT has partnered with BCNET to offer a wide range of joint procurement agreements for 
services and supplies (e.g. facilities, finance, travel, hardware and software). Institutions are 
encouraged to work with BCNET to take advantage of these opportunities and increase their 
percentage spend through joint procurement agreements. Institutions are expected to consider the 
use of joint procurement contracts, unless there are unique circumstances such as existing 
contractual commitments. 
 
ASDT has also partnered with BCNET to pilot sector Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
services to improve cost management, reduce overall risk and enhance service delivery to 
students.  
  
Central Deposit Program 
 
The Central Deposit Program (CDP) allows schools, universities, colleges and hospitals to 
deposit short-term cash with government. The program provides competitive interest rates and 
the ability to access funds with two days’ notice. Institutions are encouraged to consider the 
program when making short-term deposits.  
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Thank you for your cooperation in working with the Ministry and other system partners to 
provide students with an accessible, affordable, high quality and relevant post-secondary 
education.  If you have any questions, or would like to discuss contents of this letter, please 
contact Mr. James Postans, Executive Director, Post-Secondary Finance Branch, at 
(778) 698-9751 or James.Postans@gov.bc.ca. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Kevin Brewster 
Assistant Deputy Minister 
 
Attachments 
 
pc:  Ms. Shannon Baskerville, Deputy Minister 

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 
 
  Mr. Soon Kim, Chair of the Board of Governors 
  Capilano University 
 
  Mr. Paul Dangerfield, President and Vice-Chancellor 
  Capilano University 
 
  Mr. Jeff Vasey, Assistant Deputy Minister 

Post-Secondary Policy and Programs  
  and Division Responsible for Learner Supports 
Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 

 
Mr. Tony Loughran, Executive Lead 
Governance, Legislation and Corporate Planning Division 
Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 

 
 Mr. James Postans, Executive Director 

Post-Secondary Finance Branch 
Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 
 
Ms. Wendy Grondzil, Director  
Post-Secondary Finance Branch 
Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 
 
AEST.FinancialReporting@gov.bc.ca 
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Attachment 1
as at July 18, 2019

Capilano University

2019/20 Operating Grant and Student FTE Targets
FTE Operating Grant

2018/19 Restated 5,484 38,859,161$        

2019/20 Adjustments
Employer Health Tax 295,327
Economic Stability Mandate 835,204
Health Programs Remove Prior Year One-time -20
Technology Expansion 25 250,000
Early Childhood Education Program Expansion Remove Prior Year -15
Early Childhood Education Program Expansion One-time 20
2019/20 5,494 40,239,692$        
Year over Year Change 10 1,380,531$         

2019/20 CAPU Targeted Program FTE Details
FUNS 
Code CIP Code Change Total FTE Target

Health
RNs, PNs and HCAs 

Health Care Assistant NRCA 51.3902 48

Allied Health
Rehabilitation Assistant HLTH 51.0817 35

 Health Care Assistant - North Vancouver (one-time) HLOT 51.3902 -20 -                          
Allied Health HLTH 51.0000 55

Total Health -20 138

Developmental
Developmental DEV Multiple -261 267

Total Developmental -261 267

Technology-Related Program Expansion*
2D Animation and Visual Effects Diploma AVED 1003 7 7
3D Animation Diploma AVED 1003 18 18

Total Technology-Related Program Expansion 25 25

Early Childhood Education Program Expansion*
Part Time ECE Diploma - Squamish AVED 1907 10 10
Part Time ECE Diploma - Sechelt AVED 1907 10 10
ECE Infant Toddler AVED 1907 -15 -                          

Total Early Childhood Education Program Expansion 5 20

AVED all other programs AVED Multiple 261 5,044
Total FTE Targets 10 5,494

*Where applicable AEST will be monitoring enrolment growth over previous activity supported through base funding.

2019/20 One-time Funding (not included in Operating Grant)
Medical Service Plan Premiums 276,467

427,137Adult Basic Education/English Language Learning Tuition Compensation
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT TO THE BOARD
OVERVIEW 
September 24, 2019 

P R E S I D E N T ’ S  O F F I C E  

Leaders from Capilano University and Líl̓wat Nation signed an affiliation agreement on August 26, 2019 that recognizes 
shared values and commitments as they continue to work together to deliver post-secondary learning opportunities. The 
Líl̓wat Nation develops its own long-range educational plan, and CapU supports the development and implementation of 
this plan by offering advice and expertise related to post-secondary education and teaching courses in Mount Currie. 
Preparations for the opening of CapU Lonsdale continue. Once opened later this fall, it is expected that there will be over 
400 students at the new CapU Lonsdale location. CapU’s involvement with projects such as CityStudio (where students 
explore potential innovative solutions for issues in North Vancouver) will make the Lonsdale location a central connecting 
point for community-university activities and initiatives. Student orientation took place at CapU’s North Vancouver 
campus from August 26 to September 6, 2019, and we welcomed over 2,000 new students. Orientation activities are 
crucial for the transition and successful on-boarding of new students. For the Fall 2019 term, CapU has a total of 7,702 
new and returning students enrolled, a 5.3% increase from Fall 2018 enrollment numbers.  

Data Snapshot: September 16, 2019 
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A C A D E M I C  &  P R O V O S T  

Over the summer semester, planning continued for academic programming at CapU Lonsdale as an additional location that 
will extend the options for learners. Partnership agreements in various forms have been signed with the Vancouver Film 
School and two international universities (Hanoi Open University in Vietnam and Udayana University in Indonesia) to 
foster international collaborations and contribute to diversifying the international student population as well as creating 
new opportunities for faculty academic international endeavors. Three new academic leaders joined the University in 
August: Aurelea Mahood as Director, Academic Planning and Initiatives Office; Dawn Whitworth as Director, Creative 
Activity, Research and Scholarship Office; and Lara Duke as Dean, Faculty of Global and Community Studies. In October, 
Micki McCartney will take on the inaugural role of Regional Director in Sechelt at the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast campus.  

F I N A N C E  &  A D M I N I S T R A T I O N  

On the financial front, the focus has been completing the Q1 reporting for April to June and working with budget owners 
on the financial forecast for the fiscal year. Integrated planning for 2020/21 to 2022/23 has been initiated with 
identification of the themes to guide the process. The themes were informed by discussions with executive and insights 
from the Envisioning 2030 process to ensure that building the operational and budget plan to support our long-term goals 
in alignment of the strategic priorities. Discussions on the themes have started with stakeholders as part of the integrated 
budget development. 

S T R A T E G I C  P L A N N I N G ,  A S S E S S M E N T  A N D  I N S T I T U T I O N A L  E F F E C T I V E N E S S  

The Integrated Planning team has initiated the next planning cycle for 2020/2021. Using feedback from previous planning 
exercises and diverse consultation mechanisms, the Integrated Planning process for this year brings significant 
improvements that focus on simplification, collaboration and alignment from the top. After multiple face-to-face and 
digital consultation events, the Envisioning 2030 team has gathered input from diverse community partners. Along with 
the development of a final situational analysis document, the team has initiated the works to set up a task force with 
representation of our community partners in order to synthesize feedback and identify themes, trends and highlights that 
will inform the development of the 2030 Plan template and draft.  

U N I V E R S I T Y  R E L A T I O N S  

Jennifer Ingham, vice president, university relations, officially arrived on campus in August and is connecting with the 
internal community to build relationships and identify opportunities under the university relations portfolio. To close off 
the 50th Anniversary, a final report has been published and will be posted to capilanou.ca at the end of September. 
Planning is underway to structure a new government relations and community engagement unit to strengthen the 
University’s strategic outreach. The CapU Lonsdale ad campaign launched along the Lonsdale corridor and in the SeaBus 
terminals. Design elements from the University’s 2020-21 Viewbook can be seen in the ad campaign, as well as on campus 
elevator doors, walls and windows to welcome students and faculty to the 2019/20 academic year. Recent gifts to the 
Foundation include a $50,000 gift in support of the Learning Commons Phase II, which brings the total funds raised for the 
project to $180,000. As part of donor stewardship, the development team has been delivering fund summary donor 
reports, which provide donors with a list of student recipients and the amount they received. Three University events after 
Convocation took place over the summer months. On July 1, Capilano University hosted a booth at the North Vancouver 
Canada Day Celebration at Waterfront Park. In advance of CapU Lonsdale’s opening, CapU provided sponsorship support 
to The Shipyards opening event on July 20, 2019. The University was also a sponsor of Pride at the Pier on July 30, 
allowing us to showcase CapU as an inclusive employer and a learning environment characterized by diversity. 

If you wish to read the full 20-page President’s Report to the Board, please click here. 
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Memorandum 

To: Lesley Cook  

From: Toran Savjord 

Date: September 17, 2019 

Subject: Fall 2019 Board of Governors Election timeline and seats up for election.  

Fall 2019 Board of Governors Election timeline: 

Date  Action Duration
Thursday, September 26  Call for nominations  Two weeks 
Thursday, October 10, 4pm  Call for nominations CLOSED  Four weeks 
Friday, October 11, 11:30am  Orientation (by request) 
Thursday, November 7, 12:01 am  Voting OPEN  One week 
Thursday, November 14, 11:59pm  Voting CLOSED 
Monday, November 18  Election Results Announced  (Posted in two working days) 

Fall 2019 Board of Governors seats up for election: 

Faculty  1 Voting Seat Term ending in 
July 31, 2021
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BOARD REPORT 

PURPOSE 

For the Board of Governors to review and approve the Statement of Financial Information for 2018/19. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approves the Statement of Financial Information for the Year Ended 
March 31, 2019. 

BACKGROUND 

The Financial Information Act requires public sector organizations, including Capilano University, 
to prepare certain financial information within 6 months of the fiscal year end.  The prescribed 
information includes: 

(a) Statement of assets and liabilities
(b) Operational statement
(c) Schedule of debts
(d) Schedule of guarantee and indemnity agreements
(e) Statement of severance agreements
(f) Schedule of remuneration for board members
(g) Schedule of employee remuneration exceeding $75,000 plus expenses
(h) Schedule of supplier goods and services exceeding $25,000

The statement of assets and liabilities and operational statement are basically the audited financial 
statements along with the management representation letter and the auditors’ report.  The remaining 
schedules are not audited but include reconciliations to published information.  The statements are 
submitted to the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training (as the Ministry responsible) and, in 
turn, shared with the legislative library.  The final approved report will be posted publicly on the 
University website in September 2019, similar to other public sector organizations. 

AGENDA ITEM 7.1: STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION, FISCAL 2018/19 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE: September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER: Patricia Heintzman, Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 
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Statement of Financial Information
March 31, 2019
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September 24, 2019

Ms. Wendy Grondzil
Director, Post‐Secondary Finance
Post Secondary Finance Branch
Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training
PO Box 9134
Stn Prov Govt
Victoria, BC V8W 9B5

Re: Statement of Financial Information 2018/2019

Dear Ms. Grondzil,

Please find enclosed documentation in support of Capilano University's Financial Information Act 
reporting for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2019.

Should you require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact me at 604‐984‐4937 or 
jacquistewart@capilanou.ca .

Sincerely,

Jacqui Stewart
Vice President, Finance & Administration
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Financial Information Approval

The undersigned represents the Board of Governors of Capilano University and is authorized to sign the 
statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial Information produced in accordance 
with the Financial Information Act of the Province of British Columbia.

________________________________
Cherian Itty
Chair, Board of Governors
September 24, 2019
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, and has 
prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

March 31, 2019 in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the 
Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This 
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and 

making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which judgment is required. 

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial 
statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and 

related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
that the financial records provide a reliable basis for the preparation of the financial 
statements. 

The Board of Governors of the University carries out its responsibility for review of the 
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee of the Board meets with 
management and the external auditors to discuss the results of audit examinations and 

financial reporting matters. 

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by KPMG LLP, the 
University’s external auditors appointed by the Board of Governors. The external auditors 

have full access to the Board with and without the presence of management. 

Paul Dangerfield, President 

Jacqui Stewart, Vice-President, Finance & Administration 

June 18, 2019 
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KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Governors of Capilano University, and 
To the Minister of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capilano University (the “Entity”), 
which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2019 

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then 
ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements as at and for the year ended March 
31, 2019 of the Entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial 
reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of 
the Province of British Columbia. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
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Emphasis of Matter – Financial Reporting Framework 

We draw attention to Note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes the applicable 
financial reporting framework and the significant differences between that financial reporting 
framework and Canadian public sector accounting standards.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and 
Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Entity to express an opinion on the financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 

June 18, 2019 
 
 

Sch 7.1



1

CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 

2019 2018 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,823,206 $ 26,315,939 
Investments (note 3)  42,370,818 39,251,323 
Accounts receivable  3,126,024 1,762,872 
Inventories 723,621 749,649 

93,043,669 68,079,783 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4) 17,018,227 13,578,563 
Employee future benefits (note 5(a)) 1,189,100 1,247,300 
Deferred revenue and contributions (note 6) 31,523,958 16,513,912 
Deferred capital contributions (note 7) 49,653,146 51,466,115 

99,384,431 82,805,890 

Net debt (6,340,762) (14,726,107) 

Non-Financial Assets 

Endowment investments (note 3) 10,503,329 9,662,960 
Tangible capital assets (note 8) 73,609,550 76,035,514 
Prepaid expenses 245,998 335,230 

84,358,877 86,033,704 

Contractual obligations (note 10) 

Accumulated surplus $ 78,018,115 $ 71,307,597 

Accumulated surplus is comprised of: 
Accumulated surplus $ 70,269,709 $ 65,953,456 
Accumulated remeasurement gains 7,748,406 5,354,141 

$  78,018,115  $ 71,307,597 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

Soon Kim Cherian Itty 
Chair, Board of Governors Vice Chair, Audit Committee 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
 
March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  Budget 2019 2019 2018 
  (note 2(j) and 12) 
 
Revenue: 

Province of British Columbia $ 39,658,608 $ 41,738,160 $ 39,950,902 
Tuition fees 50,307,573 54,726,524 45,236,697 
Project and other revenue (note 6 (b)) 7,080,569 7,579,595 5,718,384 
Amortization of deferred capital  

contributions (note 7) 3,961,988 4,002,330 3,963,724 
Sales of goods 2,188,500 2,301,220 2,316,264 
Parking, childcare and theatre 2,093,880 2,228,709 2,172,000 
Donations and gifts-in-kind 500,000 953,846 5,633 
Investment income 2,009,000 1,087,340 2,186,027 
  107,800,118 114,617,724 101,549,631 

 
Expenses: 

Instruction and student support 62,963,059 64,627,503 57,964,128 
Facilities and institutional support 38,415,425 39,478,248 33,826,191 
Ancillary 6,421,634 6,671,753 5,959,152 
  107,800,118 110,777,504 97,749,471 

 
Annual operating surplus - 3,840,220 3,800,160 
 
Endowment donations received - 476,033 218,841 
 
Annual surplus - 4,316,253 4,019,001 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 65,943,456 65,953,456 61,934,455 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 65,943,456 $ 70,269,709 $ 65,953,456 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  Budget 2019 2019 2018 
  (note 2(j) and 12) 
 
Annual surplus $ - $ 4,316,253 $ 4,019,001 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (5,584,311) (5,349,439) (4,456,305) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,140,848 7,775,403 7,763,849 
  3,556,537 2,425,964 3,307,544 
 
Acquisition of prepaid expense - (395,538) (252,082) 
Use of prepaid expenses - 484,770 136,090 

 - 89,232 (115,992) 
 
Remeasurement gains (losses) - 2,394,265 (56,405) 
 
Change in endowment investments - (840,369) (358,194) 
 
Decrease in net debt 3,556,537 8,385,345 6,795,954 
 
Net debt, beginning of year (14,726,107) (14,726,107) (21,522,061) 
 
Net debt, end of year $ (11,169,570) $ (6,340,762) $ (14,726,107) 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operating activities: 

Annual surplus  $ 4,316,253 $ 4,019,001 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 7,775,403 7,763,849 
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions (4,002,330) (3,963,724) 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable (1,363,152) (335,711) 
Prepaid expenses 89,232 (115,992) 
Inventories 26,028 (39,278) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,439,664 1,110,549 
Employee future benefits  (58,200) (121,000) 
Deferred revenue and contributions 15,010,046 2,712,860 

  25,232,944 11,030,554 
 
 
Capital activities: 

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (5,349,439) (4,456,305) 
 
 
Financing activities: 

Deferred capital contributions received 2,189,361 1,801,361 
 
 
Investing activities: 

Net purchase of investments (1,565,599) (1,662,171) 
 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 20,507,267 6,713,439 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 26,315,939 19,602,500 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 46,823,206 $ 26,315,939 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year $ 5,354,141 $ 5,410,546 
 
Unrealized gains attributed to fair value of investments and 
endowment investments 2,546,064 292,004 
Amounts reclassified to investment income (151,799) (348,409) 
 
Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year 2,394,265 (56,405) 
 
Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year $ 7,748,406 $ 5,354,141 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019 
 
 

1. Purpose of the University: 

Capilano University (the “University”) is a post-secondary educational institution funded by the 

Provincial Government of British Columbia. The University is incorporated under the amended 
University Act (Bill 34 was enacted on September 1, 2008). The University is a special purpose 
teaching university and has regional campuses in the Province of British Columbia in 

North Vancouver, Squamish and the Sunshine Coast.  

The University is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act and is exempt from income tax under 
Section 149 of the Income Tax Act. 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial position and results of operations 
and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the University and its controlled foundation, the Capilano 
University Foundation (the “Foundation”). The purpose of the Foundation is to raise funds for student 

financial assistance, capital needs, and program development at the University. The Foundation is 
a registered charity and is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act. 

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the University are prepared by management in accordance 

with the basis of accounting described below. Significant accounting policies of the University are 
as follows: 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of 
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia 
supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the Province of 

British Columbia Treasury Board.  

The Budget Transparency and Accountability Act requires that the consolidated financial 
statements be prepared in accordance with the set of standards and guidelines that comprise 

generally accepted accounting principles for public sector organizations, or if the Treasury Board 
makes a regulation, the set of standards and guidelines that comprise generally accepted 
accounting principles for public sector organizations as modified by the alternate standard or 

guideline or part thereof adopted in the regulation. 

Regulation 257/2010 requires all tax-payer supported organizations in the Schools, Universities, 
Colleges and Hospitals sectors to adopt Canadian public sector accounting standards without 

any PS4200 elections effective their first fiscal year commencing after January 1, 2012.  

Sch 7.1



CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(a) Basis of accounting (continued): 

Regulation 198/2011 requires that restricted contributions received or receivable are to be 

reported as revenue depending on the nature of the restrictions on the use of the funds by the 
contributors as follows: 

(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital asset 

or contributions in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred 
capital contributions and recognized in revenue at the same rate that amortization of the 
related tangible capital asset is recorded. The reduction of the deferred capital contributions 

and the recognition of the revenue are accounted for in the fiscal period during which the 
tangible capital asset is used to provide services. 

(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than those for the acquisition or 

development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred contributions 
and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or restriction on the 
contributions have been met.  

For British Columbia tax-payer supported organizations, these contributions include government 
transfers and externally restricted contributions. 

The accounting policy requirements under Regulation 198/2011 are significantly different from 

the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which requires that:  

 government transfers that do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability be recognized 
as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the eligibility criteria have 

been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard PS3410; and 

 externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 
resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public sector 

accounting standard PS3100. 

As a result, revenue recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated 
Surplus and certain related deferred capital contributions would be recorded differently under 

Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of three 

months or less at the date of purchase. 
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Financial instruments: 

Financial instruments are classified into two categories: fair value or amortized cost.  

(i) Fair value category: Portfolio instruments that are quoted in an active market and derivative 

instruments are reflected at fair value as at the reporting date. Sales and purchases of 
investments are recorded on the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of 

investments are recorded as an expense. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets 
are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until 
such time that the financial asset is derecognized due to disposal or impairment. At the time 

of derecognition, the related realized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and related balances reversed from the 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Unrealized gains and 

losses on endowment investments where earnings are restricted as to use are recorded as 
deferred contributions and recognized in revenue when disposed and when related 
expenses are incurred. 

The financial instruments measured at fair value held within each investment are classified 
according to a hierarchy which includes three levels, reflecting the reliability of the inputs 
involved in the fair value determination. There different levels are defined as follows:  

a) Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

b) Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

c) Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that not based on observable market data. 

The University’s investments, except for the donated insurance policy, are all considered to 
be level 1 financial instruments for which the fair value is determined based on quoted prices 

in active markets. The donated insurance policy is deemed a level 3 financial instrument as 
the inputs for the asset are not based on observable market data. Changes in fair valuation 
methods or in the availability of market observable inputs may result in a transfer between 

levels. During the year there were no significant transfers of securities between the different 
levels. 

(ii) Amortized cost category: Investments with specified or determinable maturity dates are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus when 
the financial asset is derecognized due to disposal or impairment. Sales and purchases of 

investments are recorded on the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of 
investments is included in the cost of the related investments.  

Accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any gains, losses or interest 
expense is recorded in the annual surplus depending on the nature of the financial liability 
that gave rise to the gain, loss or expense. Valuation allowances are made when collection 

is in doubt. 
  

Sch 7.1



CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019 
 
 

 9 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Inventories:  

Inventories held for resale, including books and materials, are recorded at the lower of cost or 

net realizable value. Cost includes the original purchase cost, plus shipping and applicable 
duties. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less any costs to sell. 

(e) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They may have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are 
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. 

Donated assets are recorded at fair value at the date of donation. In unusual circumstances 
where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, the tangible capital asset would be 
recognized at nominal value. Land is not amortized as it is deemed to have a permanent 

value. The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives shown below: 
 
Asset   Rate 
 
Buildings, concrete/steel  40 years 
Buildings, wood frame  20 years 
Computer equipment  4 years 
Software 3 years 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years 
Library books 10 years 
Public works 10 years 
Vehicles 10 years 
 

 

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 
Borrowing costs, if any, attributable to the construction of tangible capital assets are 

capitalized during the construction period. 

Tangible capital assets are written down to net realizable value when conditions indicate 
that they no longer contribute to the University’s ability to provide goods and services, or 

when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are 
less than their net book value.  

(ii) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are accounted 
for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as incurred. As 

at March 31, 2019, the University did not have leased tangible capital assets (2018 - nil). 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Employee future benefits: 

The University and its employees make contributions to the College Pension Plan and Municipal 

Pension Plan, which are multi-employer jointly trusteed plans. These plans are a defined benefit 
plan, providing a pension on retirement based on the member’s age at retirement, length of 
service and highest earnings averaged over five years. Inflation adjustments are contingent 

upon available funding. As the assets and liabilities of the plan are not segregated by institution, 
the plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan and any contributions of the University 
to the plan are expensed as incurred. 

The University also has a defined benefit plan for retired employees and employees on long-
term disability. The University accrues its obligations under this defined benefit plan as the 
employees render the services necessary to earn these benefits and as employees on long-

term disability become eligible for such benefits. Actuarial gains (losses) incurred are deferred 
and recognized into the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus over 
the estimated average remaining service life of the employee group. The effective date of the 

most recent valuation is December 31, 2018, and the next required valuation will be as of 
December 31, 2019. This actuarial valuation has been extrapolated to March 31, 2019. 

The University accrues vacation for employees as earned. However, revenue for funding for 

these is not accrued, as the Province does not provide special funding for vacations and retiring 
allowances. As the majority of employees are paid salaries, management anticipates that 
vacation accruals will be reversed when these employees take their standard vacations and that 

no additional funding will be required above authorized salaries. 

(g) Revenue recognition: 

Tuition and student fees and sales of goods and services are reported as revenue at the time 

the services are provided or the products are delivered, and collection is reasonably assured.  
Fees received prior to the year-end where the course is delivered subsequent to the year-end 
are recorded as deferred revenue. 

Project revenue and expenses are recognized as the related activities are performed. The zero 
profit margin method is used when a contract’s financial outcome is not reasonably 
determinable. This method of accounting requires that equal amounts of revenue and expense 

be recognized until the financial outcome of a contract can be reasonably estimated. Provision 
for anticipated losses is made in the period in which they become evident. 

Unrestricted donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable if the amounts can 

be estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Pledges from donors are recorded as 
revenue when payment is received by the University or the transfer of property is completed. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Revenue recognition (continued): 

Restricted donations and grants are reported as revenue depending on the nature of the 

restrictions on the use of the funds by the contributors as follows: 

(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital asset 

or in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset, in each case for use in providing 

services, are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions and recognized in 
revenue at the same rate that amortization of the tangible capital asset is recorded. The 
reduction of the deferred capital contributions and the recognition of the revenue are 

accounted for in the fiscal period during which the tangible capital asset is used to provide 
services. 

(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than for those to be held in perpetuity or 

the acquisition or development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as  
deferred contributions and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or 
restriction on the contribution have been met.  

(iii) Contributions restricted to be retained in perpetuity, allowing only the investment income 

earned thereon to be spent are recorded as endowment donations received on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus for the portion to be held 

in perpetuity and as deferred contributions for the investment income earned thereon. 

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis and dividends recorded as 
declared, realized gains and losses on the sale of investment and write downs on investments 

where the loss in value is determined to be other-than-temporary. 

(h) Contaminated sites: 

A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and the 

following criteria are met: 

(i) An environmental standard exists; 

(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standards; 

(iii) The University is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including 
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for 
a contaminated site. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

framework described in note 2(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions. 
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and related 
disclosures. Key areas where management has made estimates and assumptions include those 

related to the useful lives of tangible capital assets, accrued liabilities and employee future 
benefits payable. Where actual results differ from these estimates and assumptions, the impact 
will be recorded in future periods when the difference becomes known. 

(j) Budget figures: 

Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes and have been derived from the 
consolidated budget approved by the Board of Governors of the University on April 17, 2018. 

This budget is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt.  

 

3. Financial instruments: 

Financial assets, non-financial assets recorded at fair value are comprised of the following:  
 
 2019 2018 
 

Level 1: 
Fixed income investments $ 23,974,880 $ 23,582,844 
Canadian equity investments 16,199,604 14,346,231 
Foreign equity investments 12,308,663 10,702,218 

  52,483,147 48,631,293 
 
Less: endowment investments (10,503,329) (9,662,960) 
  41,979,818 38,968,333 

Level 3: 
Donated insurance policy 391,000 282,990 

 
Investments $ 42,370,818 $ 39,251,323  
 

4. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 6,021,950 $ 4,356,448 
Salaries and benefits payable 7,808,328 6,146,740 
Accrued vacation pay 3,187,949 3,075,375 
 
  $ 17,018,227 $ 13,578,563 
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5. Employee future benefits: 

(a) Benefits for employees on long-term disability and faculty retirees: 

Information about liabilities for the University’s employee benefit plans is as follows:  
 
  2019 2018 
 
Accrued benefit obligation balance, beginning of year $ 1,194,000 $ 1,314,300 
Interest cost 3,900 3,200 
Employee contributions 386,900 301,800 
Expected benefit payments (387,800) (302,000) 
Immediate recognition of continuation of  

benefits for disabled employees (53,500) (117,000) 
Actuarial gain (60,700) (6,300) 
 
Accrued benefit obligation balance, end of year $ 1,082,800 $ 1,194,000  
 
 

  2019 2018 
 
Accrued benefit obligation $ 1,082,800 $ 1,194,000 
Unamortized actuarial gain 106,300 53,300 
 
Accrued benefit liability $ 1,189,100 $ 1,247,300  
 

As the employee future benefit liability for long-term disability is an event-driven obligation, the 
expense (recovery) recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated 
Surplus is comprised only of the immediate recognition of the liability. 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the University’s accrued benefit 
obligation are as follows: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Obligation discount rate 2.45% 2.75% 
Estimated average remaining service life 9 years 9 years 
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5. Employee future benefits (continued): 

(b) Provincial pension plans:  

Capilano University and its employees contribute to the College Pension Plan and Municipal 

Pension Plan (the “Plan”), jointly trusteed pension plans. The Board of Trustees for these plans 
represent plan members and employers and are responsible for the management of the pension 
plan including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The pension plans are 

multi-employer contributory pension plans. Basic pension benefits provided are based on a 
formula. The College Pension Plan has about 14,000 active members from college senior 
administration and instructional staff and approximately 8,000 retired members. The Municipal 

Pension Plan has about 197,000 active members.  

The actuarial valuation for the College Pension Plan as at August 31, 2015 indicated a 
$67 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits. The actuarial valuation for the Municipal 

Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015 indicated a $2,224 million funding surplus for basic 
pension benefits.  

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 

contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate with 
the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and 

cost to individual employers participating in the Plan. 

The University records pension expense as cash contributions to the plans are made. During 
the year, the University contributed $5,005,371 (2018 - $4,791,364) to the above plans. 

 

6. Deferred revenue and contributions: 

Deferred revenue and contributions consists of deferred tuition fees, deferred government 
contributions and project and other revenue, deferred restricted donations and deferred restricted 
investment income as follows: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Tuition fees $ 23,430,887 $ 9,126,832 
Deferred government contributions and 

project and other revenue (a) and (b) 2,157,950 2,316,915 
Restricted donations and investment income (c) 5,935,121 5,070,165 
 
  $ 31,523,958 $ 16,513,912 
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6. Deferred revenue and contributions (continued): 

(a) Included in deferred government contributions and project and other revenue is the following: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Provincial contributions: 

Beginning of year $ 728,756 $ 382,707 
Amounts received during the year 2,691,981 2,492,920 
Recognized as revenue (2,572,622) (2,146,871) 

 
  $ 848,115 $ 728,756  
 

Operating grants from the Province of British Columbia of $39,165,538 (2018 - $37,804,031) 
were immediately recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and 

Accumulated Surplus when received. Amounts recognized as revenue are included in the 
Province of British Columbia revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and 
Accumulated Surplus. 

(b) Included in deferred government contributions and project and other revenue is the following 
related to contributions revenue: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Non-provincial contributions: 

Beginning of year $ 1,588,159 $ 1,483,095 
Amounts received during the year 7,301,271 5,823,448 
Recognized as revenue (7,579,595) (5,718,384) 

 
  $ 1,309,835 $ 1,588,159  
 

(c) Restricted donations and investment income is comprised of the following amounts from non-

government organizations:  
 

  2019 2018 
 
Beginning of year $ 5,070,165 $ 4,845,008 
Amounts received during the year 2,340,781 647,659 
Recognized as revenue (1,475,825) (422,502) 
 
  $ 5,935,121 $ 5,070,165  
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7. Deferred capital contributions: 

Contributions for capital are referred to as deferred capital contributions. Amounts are recognized 
as revenue over the useful life of the asset. Treasury Board provided direction on accounting 

treatment as disclosed in note 2(a). Changes in the deferred capital contributions balance are as 
follows: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 51,466,115 $ 53,628,478 
Contributions received during the year  2,189,361 1,801,361 
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions (4,002,330)  (3,963,724) 
 
Balance, end of year $ 49,653,146 $ 51,466,115  
 
Included in the above is the following related to government and non-government organizations:  
 
  2019 2018 
 
Provincial contributions: 

Beginning of year $ 36,751,991 $ 37,977,276 
Amounts received during the year 2,189,361 1,801,361 
Recognized as revenue (3,280,734) (3,026,646) 

 
 $ 35,660,618 $ 36,751,991  
 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Federal contributions: 

Beginning of year $ 14,239,119 $ 14,660,715 
Recognized as revenue (421,596) (421,596) 

 
 $ 13,817,523 $ 14,239,119 
 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Other contributions: 

Beginning of year $ 475,005 $ 990,487 
Recognized as revenue (300,000) (515,482) 

 
 $ 175,005 $ 475,005  
 

Revenue is recognized as amortization of deferred capital contributions on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 
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8. Tangible capital assets: 
 

 Balance at Additions  Balance at 
 March 31, Net of  March 31,  
Cost 2018 Transfers Disposals 2019 
 
Land $ 10,000,370 $ - $ - $ 10,000,370 
Buildings 115,572,513 1,596,429 - 117,168,942 
Leasehold improvements - 60,830 - 60,830 
Computer equipment 10,224,266 2,143,035 - 12,367,301 
Library books 89,253 - 89,253 - 
Other furniture and equipment 11,966,215 837,652 - 12,803,867 
Public works 2,201,475 (8,526) - 2,192,949 
Software 1,465,525 437,909 - 1,903,434 
Vehicles 313,121 282,110 - 595,231 
 
Total $ 151,832,738 $ 5,349,439 $ 89,253 $ 157,092,924 
 
 

 Balance at   Balance at 
Accumulated March 31,   March 31,  
amortization 2018 Additions Disposals 2019 
 
Land $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Buildings 61,039,908 3,028,703 - 64,068,611 
Leasehold improvements - - - - 
Computer equipment 6,171,567 2,269,144 - 8,440,711 
Library books 88,904 349 89,253 - 
Other furniture and equipment 6,808,155 1,666,479 - 8,474,634 
Public works 766,458 196,079 - 962,537 
Software 848,313 461,886 - 1,310,199 
Vehicles 73,919 152,763 - 226,682 
 
Total $ 75,797,224 $ 7,775,403 $ 89,253 $ 83,483,374 
 
 

 Net book value   Net book value 
 March 31, 2018   March 31, 2019 
 
Land $ 10,000,370     $ 10,000,370 
Buildings 54,532,605   53,100,331 
Leasehold improvements -   60,830 
Computer equipment 4,052,699   3,926,590 
Library books 349   - 
Other furniture and equipment 5,158,060   4,329,233 
Public works 1,435,017   1,230,412 
Software 617,212   593,235 
Vehicles 239,202   368,549 
 

Total $ 76,035,514 $ 73,609,550 
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9. Financial risk management: 

The University has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, 
market risk and liquidity risk. 

The Board of Governors ensures that the University has identified its major risks and ensures that 
management monitors and controls them. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the University if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from certain 
financial assets held by the University consisting of cash, investments, accounts receivable and 

endowment investments. The University assesses these financial assets on a continuous basis 
for any amounts that are not collectible or realizable. 

(b) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, including interest rates, will affect 
University’s income. The objective of market risk management is to control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.  The University 

manages market risk by adoption of an investment policy and adherence to this policy by an 
investment manager.  Investments are in pooled funds in a diversified portfolio in accordance 
with the University’s investment policy. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. 

It is management’s opinion that the University is not exposed to significant market or interest 

rate risk arising from its financial instruments. 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 

become due.  

The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows 
from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as possible, 

that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the University’s 
reputation. 
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10. Contractual obligations: 

The nature of the University’s activities results in multi-year contracts and obligations whereby the 
University is committed to make future payments. Significant contractual obligations related to 

facilities, security, parking and janitorial services that can be reasonably estimated are as follows: 
 
 
2020  $ 2,535,486 
2021  1,529,448 
2022  653,418 
2023  310,422 
 
Total   $ 5,028,774 
 

11. Expenses by object: 

The following is a summary of expenses by object: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Amortization of tangible capital assets $ 7,775,403 $ 7,763,849 
Buildings and grounds maintenance 6,300,859 5,096,114 
Cost of goods sold 1,694,878 1,615,010 
Other operating expenses 23,829,210 16,522,633 
Salaries and benefits 69,131,525 64,748,530 
Student support activities 2,045,629 2,003,335 
 
  $ 110,777,504 $ 97,749,471 
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12. Budget figures: 

Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes and have been derived from the 
consolidated budget approved by the Board of Governors of the University on April 17, 2018. The 

budget is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt and is reconciled to the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations as follows: 
 
    Statement 
    of Operations

   and 
 Approved  Accumulated 

  Budget Reallocation Surplus 
 
 
Expenses by object: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets $ 9,140,848 $ (9,140,848) $ - 
Expenses 27,185,945 (27,185,945) - 
Salaries and benefits 71,473,325 (71,473,325) - 
  107,800,118 (107,800,118) - 

 
Expenses by function: 

Instruction and student support  62,963,059 62,963,059 
Facility and institutional support  38,415,425 38,415,425 
Ancillary  6,421,634 6,421,634 
   107,800,118 107,800,118 

 
  $ 107,800,118 $ - $ 107,800,118 
 

13. Comparative information: 

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the financial statement 
presentation adopted in the current year. 
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2019

Schedule of Debts
Capilano University does not have any existing long‐term debt.

Schedule of Guarantee Agreements
Capilano University has not given any guarantee or indemnities under the Guarantees and Indemnities 
Regulations.

Statement of Severance Agreements
There were twelve severance agreements under which payment commenced between Capilano 
University and its unionized and non‐unionized employees during fiscal year 2018/2019.  These 
agreements represent from three to eighteen months of compensation.
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Name Position Term Ended Expenses

Amlani, Ash Order‐in‐Council
Brown, Duncan Order‐in‐Council
Dhillon, R. Paul Order‐in‐Council
Doll, Christopher Vice‐Chair, Order‐in‐Council Ended December 31, 2018
Fung, David Chancellor
Heintzman, Patricia Order‐in‐Council
Itty, Cherian Order‐in‐Council
Kim, Soon Chair, Order‐in‐Council 360$                   
Nex, Cheryl Order‐in‐Council Ended December 31, 2018
Petrozzi, Andrew Order‐in‐Council
Thomas, Carleen Order‐in‐Council
Williams, Jessie Order‐in‐Council Ended October 31, 2018

Dangerfield, Paul J.  President & Vice‐Chancellor
Clarke, Christopher Staff Member Ended July 31, 2018
Fleming, Michael Faculty Member
Mahood, Aurelea Faculty Member
Matson, Mila Staff Member

Ali, Imroz Student Member Ended July 31, 2018
Gaudette, Emily Student Member
Merali, Hassan Student Member 73                        

433$                   

Chancellor and order‐in‐council members

Board of Governors Remuneration and Expenses

President, faculty and staff members

Student members

No remuneration has been paid to any member of the Board of Governors for Board 
activity.  The remuneration and expenses of the President, Faculty or Staff who are also 
members of the Board, are listed in the Schedule of Employee Remuneration and 
Expenses.
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Name Remuneration Expenses
Acimovic, Milica 93,797$               ‐$                     
Actis, Andrea 75,441                 50                         
Acton, Timothy 95,721                 ‐                       
Aitken, Carol 87,771                 3,641                  
Alderson, Lucy 76,217                 74                         
Alekson, Tania 93,779                 808                      
Alkenbrack, Martha 91,592                 ‐                       
Amos, David 93,388                 1,079                  
Anderson, Marsha 94,579                 ‐                       
Anderson, Nathan 93,824                 59                         
Andrade, Bernadette 79,609                 9,620                  
Arce Gonzales, Enrique 105,484               ‐                       
Argatoff, Lorraine 94,425                 ‐                       
Ashley, Sean Matthew 86,467                 907                      
Atapour, Mahshid 93,824                 ‐                       
Atkins, Stephen 94,580                 ‐                       
Bains, Tally 121,515               1,278                  
Banks, Cyndi 145,162               10,611                
Barber, Gillian 93,797                 358                      
Baxter, Deanna 76,925                 387                      
Bayanpour, Nikta 76,641                 ‐                       
Beaver, Dwayne 99,451                 ‐                       
Begg, Michael 93,824                 ‐                       
Bell, Susan 93,797                 43                         
Beltran‐Sellitti, Elaine deFatima 77,896                 ‐                       
Bentley, Don 117,189               ‐                       
Bischoff, Mary Jo 78,304                 ‐                       
Black, Fiona 93,651                 ‐                       
Black, Julia 101,427               701                      
Blades, Ryan 118,829               11,093                
Blythe, Scott 103,009               3,777                  
Bothen, Kim 85,421                 120                      
Bottrill, Chris 126,043               59,766                
Bowen, Jordy 90,016                 2,065                  
Boyle, Bettina 94,420                 5,346                  
Bracewell, Maureen 95,763                 ‐                       

Employee Remuneration and Expenses
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Name Remuneration Expenses
Brand, Richard 99,668                 44                         
Burrows, Jared 94,515                 246                      
Cant, Annabella 109,136               764                      
Carlos, Roberto 88,633                 77                         
Carmack, Elizabeth Sarah 76,265                 ‐                       
Carnovale, Chris 95,494                 2,597                  
Castagne, Michel Roger 92,067                 ‐                       
Cederholm, Ann‐Marie 94,328                 ‐                       
Chan, Ching Kiu 93,399                 11,544                
Chanin, Irene 100,735               1,680                  
Chau, Camlon 93,824                 ‐                       
Chu, Eugene 76,627                 ‐                       
Cook, Graham 98,176                 ‐                       
Cox, Janet 75,118                 447                      
Cresswell, Ian 95,715                 ‐                       
Cripps, Kevin 77,056                 ‐                       
Crowther, Gillian 93,824                 ‐                       
Cusanelli, Antonio 105,484               37                         
D'almeida, Claudia 85,999                 ‐                       
Dangerfield, Paul 209,248               21,063                
Davies, John 93,769                 ‐                       
Davies, Rick 76,815                 ‐                       
De Jesus, Ramel 77,005                 ‐                       
De Jong Westman, Marja 93,781                 ‐                       
de Kraker, Michiel 100,611               212                      
Demopoulos, William 91,016                 7,109                  
Depatie, Caroline 93,518                 4,075                  
Dhammi, Dilbagh 93,797                 ‐                       
Dignum, Tracy 93,877                 3,771                  
Dixon, Benjamin Frank 96,991                 100                      
Dodds, Christine 94,227                 5,120                  
Dotzeva, Teodora 94,782                 2,326                  
Dritmanis, Susan 92,449                 1,260                  
Dubord, Denis 93,824                 ‐                       
Eby, Andrea 89,885                 16,914                
El Rayess, Sara Moufida 91,829                 ‐                       
Enwright, William 94,197                 ‐                       
Fairlie, John 94,767                 635                      
Farr, Roger 76,684                 ‐                       
Feist, Jillian 90,016                 1,699                  
Feist, Maggie 84,474                 1,698                  
Fessenden, Bradley 101,667               ‐                       
Fleming, Michael 109,993               ‐                       
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Flower, Thomas 95,336                 2,500                  
Fossett, Brenda 100,611               3,229                  
Furby, Robin 93,897                 4,629                  
Gallagher, Stephen 109,257               4,174                  
Ganter, Brian 107,922               995                      
Garland, Adam 88,254                 ‐                       
Geary, David William 81,243                 420                      
Genoway, Noel 93,797                 2,362                  
Gervan, Ted 98,438                 2,983                  
Ghaseminejad, Amir 93,797                 ‐                       
Ghoreishi, Mohammad 96,170                 ‐                       
Gilker, Colin 93,774                 549                      
Gjerdalen, Greig 93,824                 3,400                  
Gliatis, Panagiota  89,400                 576                      
Gloor, Catherine 77,871                 59                         
Godwyn, Martin 93,797                 ‐                       
Goerzen, Christy 82,597                 2,569                  
Gopaul, Nila 96,976                 ‐                       
Graff, Shelly 90,016                 1,501                  
Grant, Wendy 93,797                 5,857                  
Gratham, Chris 93,797                 ‐                       
Greenberg, Charles 94,519                 ‐                       
Gruber, Paul 94,825                 143                      
Gunness, Michelle 91,246                 73                         
Hale, Alison 99,641                 251                      
Hall, Karin 93,900                 25                         
Hallman, Jocelyn 87,676                 181                      
Hamilton, Edward 93,797                 2,474                  
Han, Angeline 83,040                 208                      
Hardcastle, Christopher 93,797                 58                         
Harrington, Neil 96,119                 1,556                  
Harrison, Nicholas 77,489                 ‐                       
Hauka, David 93,797                 9,000                  
Hazeri‐Chabok, Shaya 85,895                 102                      
Herrmann, Mathius 93,797                 6                           
Hill, Charlene 99,800                 809                      
Hill, Richard 93,797                 646                      
Hillebrand, Darcie 93,867                 ‐                       
Hogan, Susan 94,297                 225                      
Holden, Peter 77,721                 ‐                       
Hughes, Wayne 93,824                 ‐                       
Hurlbut, Cheryl 78,304                 629                      
Ingram, Heather 111,911               2,498                  
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Isola, Rita 94,767                 ‐                       
Jamison, Debbie 100,491               977                      
Jantzen, Roy 95,441                 4,047                  
Jessen, Violet 95,827                 3,345                  
Jiang, Shana 76,019                 302                      
Johanson, Reg 96,586                 4,750                  
Johnstone, Chad 75,114                 3,333                  
Johnstone, Douglas 93,797                 ‐                       
Jorgenson, Rachelle Noelle 103,832               ‐                       
Jung, Carrie 93,806                 ‐                       
Kaldestad, Stephen 93,451                 1,529                  
Kendall, Nicholas 93,769                 ‐                       
Kiamanesh, Mitra 93,788                 6,999                  
Kim, Bo Sun 85,899                 2,500                  
Kind, Sylvia 93,797                 1,757                  
King, Stephen Michael 105,984               ‐                       
Kiraly, Michael 78,083                 494                      
Kirk, David 100,893               1,424                  
Knudson, Michael 145,162               ‐                       
Koch, Diane 87,989                 1,650                  
Kocher, Laurie 79,385                 6,528                  
Kolytchev, Leonid 77,903                 ‐                       
Kramer, Cheryl 94,227                 3,758                  
Kummen, Kathleen 91,871                 19,286                
Kwok, Tony 77,382                 ‐                       
Labossiere, Danielle  100,328               125                      
Lajeunesse, Lisa 100,171               3,151                  
Lam, Ki Fung 87,660                 ‐                       
Lau, John 79,154                 607                      
Lawrence, Mark 104,720               52                         
Le Page, Matthew 81,397                 ‐                       
Lebeau, Michelle 92,104                 1,353                  
Lewis, Kent 94,617                 ‐                       
Lohmeyer, Juanita 92,718                 ‐                       
Lucas, Nanci 93,824                 ‐                       
MacDonald, Sorcha 80,400                 ‐                       
MacKay, Laura 113,606               11,935                
Mahood, Aurelea 112,503               ‐                       
Malenstyn, Andrea 98,078                 ‐                       
Manuel, Doreen 101,606               ‐                       
Markwick, Michael 94,197                 ‐                       
Martin, Brad 120,246               701                      
Mason, Michelle 94,328                 ‐                       
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Mathieson, Barbara 94,732                 1,064                  
Mathur, Neil 76,788                 ‐                       
Matthews, Karen 92,566                 8                           
Mazariegos, Maria 81,528                 ‐                       
McFadden, Erin 85,082                 ‐                       
Mcmillan, Paul 93,797                 1,698                  
McNeil, Alison 93,797                 3,794                  
Mcpherson, Seanna         93,797                 3,077                  
McRae, Sandra 96,114                 9,658                  
Meitz, Ann 80,417                 1,483                  
Milelli, Pascal 85,685                 3,927                  
Miles, Victoria 103,009               5,178                  
Minkus, Kim 90,914                 115                      
Minty, Keri 85,806                 ‐                       
Moffatt, Lauren  77,551                 ‐                       
Molendyk, John 99,668                 ‐                       
Molson, Michael 93,770                 ‐                       
Moore, Daina 88,075                 598                      
Moscrip, Kathryn 102,966               480                      
Muckle, Robert 93,797                 2,621                  
Muench, Corey 83,800                 ‐                       
Nelson, Lesley 80,360                 ‐                       
Nesselroad, Jennifer 101,120               313                      
Neubauer, Nadja  93,197                 129                      
Newfield, Todd 93,797                 ‐                       
Ng, Nancy 85,065                 4,477                  
Nichol, Melissa 101,239               1,553                  
Nickolichuk, Natalie Rae 94,121                 ‐                       
Nikolov, Gueorgui 93,824                 ‐                       
Nowlan, Nancy 94,328                 ‐                       
Oceguera Silva, Jorge 94,580                 ‐                       
Okun, Karen 83,346                 2,479                  
Ottaway, Paul 78,146                 ‐                       
Pack, Bradshaw 91,283                 ‐                       
Penhall, John Wesley 111,975               ‐                       
Perro, Donald 114,894               3,264                  
Perry, Donna 93,797                 ‐                       
Queree, Claire 95,195                 ‐                       
Raja, Majid Fakhar  81,029                 2,210                  
Raycraft, Jane 94,390                 5,776                  
Reyes, Carlos 93,818                 ‐                       
Romeo‐Gilbert, Susan 94,767                 ‐                       
Ross, Jeff 89,902                 260                      
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Ross, Sheila 96,192                 ‐                       
Ross, Sheila May 93,797                 ‐                       
Rudolph, Gordon 94,784                 2,045                  
Rurak, Debra Alice 93,632                 2,500                  
Sale, Adam 90,999                 138                      
Sauer, Deborah 93,769                 ‐                       
Savjord, Toran 152,668               13,325                
Schachter, Debbie 111,997               13,077                
Schoen, Carol 95,247                 ‐                       
Schreader, Cheryl 98,855                 639                      
Schuster, Robert 120,093               2,583                  
Seekins, Sandra 106,789               ‐                       
Sellers, Wade 95,714                 748                      
Seyedi, Elham 101,260               5,006                  
Shafai, Azita 94,580                 694                      
Simmons, Craig 94,767                 898                      
Simpson, Carey Lynn 93,220                 ‐                       
Skapski, Natalia 88,685                 1,897                  
Smith, Tia 94,515                 1,139                  
Sohi, Sukhi 82,212                 104                      
Stern, Carolyn 81,665                 ‐                       
Stewart, Jacqui 166,240               3,122                  
Stewart, Kymberley 98,959                 2,317                  
Stock, Richard 96,838                 1,845                  
Stone, Anne 90,195                 ‐                       
Stretch, Carole 87,606                 1,085                  
Styles, Laureen 132,208               19,810                
Surjanovic, Ivan 94,448                 ‐                       
Sutherland, Sara 90,416                 10,568                
Sylvester, Glen 93,797                 726                      
Taft, Kathryn     93,797                 ‐                       
Takei, Masaji 82,526                 ‐                       
Tanimura, Cheiko 111,355               ‐                       
Tarry, Hammond 98,279                 ‐                       
Thiessen, Calvin Lloyd 84,392                 392                      
Thoma, Michael 93,997                 ‐                       
Toma, Cristian 93,953                 954                      
Tomberli, Bruno 92,558                 ‐                       
Toor, Rajrupinder 79,732                 ‐                       
Towill, Tammy 79,824                 5,220                  
Turner, Brad 80,681                 ‐                       
Twiss, Diana 99,641                 2,653                  
Valladares, Halia 123,687               9,721                  
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Van Luven, William 93,824                 ‐                       
Vanderyagt, Julie 96,587                 4,521                  
Vaughan, Mark 93,824                 1,895                  
Wang, Jo 94,515                 ‐                       
Waters, Janet 93,797                 584                      
Watson, Judith 94,140                 ‐                       
Wayte, Rebecca 87,617                 811                      
Wells, Stephanie 93,797                 19,082                
Wharton, Kari 92,834                 337                      
Wight, Christine 75,457                 406                      
Williams, Milton 90,016                 2,495                  
Williams, Stephen 93,797                 3,186                  
Wilson, Richard Bruce 94,392                 1,928                  
Witan, Andrzej 104,946               ‐                       
Witkowski, Elizabeth 94,867                 ‐                       
Yaseri, Mahak 101,031               1,933                  
Yasinski, Daniel 104,969               ‐                       
Yip, Karen 93,797                 160                      
Zhu, Allen 94,697                 764                      

Remuneration greater than or equal to $75,000 25,540,733$       525,961$           

Remuneration less than $75,000 30,033,202         636,704              

Total remuneration 55,573,935$       1,162,665$        

Employer's Portion of CPP 1,998,604          
Employer's Portion of EI 840,151              

Total Employer's Portion 2,838,755$        
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Capilano University
Statement of Financial Information
For the Year Ended March 31, 2019

Supplier Name Amount
3RA Entertainment 44,774$              
Accountemps 283,690              
AG Hanson Construction Ltd. 195,629              
Alfred Horie Construction Co. 122,107              
Alvis Tsui (FSS) Inc. 31,357                
Amazon Marketplace CA 60,769                
Anixter Canada Inc. 80,827                
Apple Online Store 327,243              
Astral Media 42,741                
AVI‐SPL Canada Ltd 53,168                
B C Hydro & Power Authority 513,561              
B&H Photo 92,749                
Bartle & Gibson Co. Ltd 25,674                
Bartlett Tree Experts 26,293                
BCNet 661,152              
Beatty Floors Limited 36,951                
Best Service Pros Ltd. 1,310,561          
Bibliotheca Canada Inc. 84,561                
C. F. Ventures Building Services Inc. 82,373                
C3M Construction Group Inc. 53,748                
Canada Post Corporation 30,943                
Canadian Edge International Corporation 31,518                
Canadian Office Professional Employees 261,896              
Canam Consultants Ltd. 27,830                
Canuckstuff Volleyball 28,999                
Capilano Courier Publishing Society 170,356              
Capilano Students' Union 3,165,943          
Capilano University Faculty Association 622,597              
Cathay Pacific 26,325                
CDW Canada Inc. 87,839                
Centre Consulting Inc. 53,261                
Cisco Systems Capital Canada Ltd. 79,360                
CityStudio Vancouver 34,650                
Clark Wilson LLP 157,107              
College Pension Plan 3,779,448          

Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services
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Colleges and Institutes Canada 28,479                
Colorific Digital Printing Solutions 30,405                
Compass Group Canada 1,278,985          
Compugen Inc. 234,473              
Corporate Express Canada 161,760              
Council of Prairie and Pacific University Libraries 48,205                
Create Vancouver Society 112,825              
Darwin Group of Companies 673,839              
David Nairne & Associates 62,370                
Davidson Bros. Mechanical Contractors Ltd. 198,517              
Davies Park Executive Search 61,211                
DBBC Worldover 25,400                
Dell Computer Corporation 982,532              
Deloitte Management Services 175,099              
Design Roofing & Sheet Metal Ltd. 53,449                
DFM Mechanical 60,515                
Dialog Design 175,224              
District of North Vancouver 310,133              
Douglas College 27,752                
EBSCO Canada Ltd. 86,729                
Electronic Health Library of BC 36,826                
Elemental Architecture & Interiors Inc. 29,327                
EMC Corporation of Canada 114,324              
EMC Paradigm Publishing 31,749                
Emond Montgomery Publications Ltd. 28,978                
Encore Business Solutions 26,770                
Envirotech 41,225                
ESC Automation Inc. 198,308              
Euromonitor International Inc. 25,259                
Evin Ross Publications 29,728                
Explorance Inc. 51,765                
Facebook Advertising Services 36,260                
Flow Consulting Group Inc. 36,059                
Fortis BC 89,099                
Freshnet 287,280              
Fusion Cine 50,025                
FVB Energy Inc. 41,055                
FWD Engineering Ltd. 163,041              
Glacier Media Group 34,020                
Global Colliance 41,177                
Grand & Toy 28,826                
Great West Life 2,586,393          
Guillevin International Inc. 49,977                
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Haida Glass Ltd 56,608                
Harbourview Electric Ltd. 65,877                
Hearn, Karen 37,026                
Hemlock Printers Ltd. 94,075                
Heritage Office Furnishings Ltd. 397,803              
Hodgson King & Marble Ltd. 25,221                
Holmes & Brakel (B.C.) Inc. 356,468              
Homewood Health Inc. 44,532                
Houle Electric Ltd. 84,488                
IDP Education Ltd. 70,444                
Infosilem Inc. 37,824                
Initial Print 27,509                
Innovative Interfaces Global Limited 54,621                
Integral Group 164,398              
Ion Branding & Design 85,513                
Ip, Joyce 25,405                
JBA Transfer Corp. 34,334                
John Wiley & Sons Canada, Ltd. 51,326                
Johnstone's Insurance Services 116,325              
K. Calder & Associates 47,250                
Kahunaerse Sports Group 58,264                
Kanopy LLC 52,500                
Kerrisdale Cameras Ltd. 29,038                
KPMG LLP 77,789                
Kwela Leadership & Talent Management 34,476                
Lamar Companies, The 82,334                
Leaders International Executive Search 44,599                
Lebowitz, Fran 28,263                
Lil'wat Nation 375,046              
Lime Painting and Decoration 251,150              
Listel Canada 28,233                
Long & Mcquade 35,122                
Long View Systems Corporation 662,280              
Lorne Lapham Sales & Rentals 84,275                
Luxton Construction 91,571                
M Square Business Solutions Inc. 1,489,760          
Macmillan Publishing Solutions 55,391                
Magil Construction Pacific Inc. 1,153,899          
Manulife Financial 1,440,033          
Massive Media Inc. 49,140                
Matrix Video Communication 121,619              
Matthieu, Patricia Lynn 40,950                
MBS Wholesale Textbooks Inc. 94,079                
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McGraw‐Hill Ryerson Ltd. 341,126              
Medical Services Plan of B C 477,698              
Microserve 38,623                
Middleware 360 Solutions Inc. 687,319              
Minister of Finance, BC Stats 48,532                
Minister of Finance, Climate Action Secreteriat 38,666                
Mitchell Press Limited 63,541                
MNP LLP 138,747              
Municipal Pension Plan 1,225,923          
MYRA Systems Corp. 68,495                
Nebraska Book Company Inc. 81,598                
Nelson Education 145,676              
Neopost Canada 68,853                
Newco Solar Solutions div of Newco Glass Tinting Ltd. 35,303                
North Shore News 43,913                
North West Homestay and Student Agency 25,200                
Novus Technical Services Ltd. 125,679              
Olympic International Sales 246,736              
Omland Hospitality Pro 28,251                
Opus Art Supplies 34,364                
Oxford University Press 85,470                
Pace Chemicals 46,947                
Paladin Security Group Ltd. 490,500              
Pattison Outdoor Advertising 25,823                
Peak Technologies 72,702                
Pearson Education Canada 262,562              
Pedamento Consulting 84,457                
Phillips, Hager & North 167,206              
Pinnacle Food Equipment Services LLP 34,680                
Pinnacle International Hotel 26,494                
Pinton Forrest & Madden 40,725                
ProQuest LLC 183,740              
Pyramid E‐Services 92,139                
Quantum Lighting Inc. 38,010                
R. F. Binnie & Associates Ltd. 202,660              
R. K. Logic System Solutions Inc. 31,789                
Ray Contracting Ltd. 38,086                
Read Jones Christoffersen Ltd. 41,085                
Receiver General for Canada 2,828,754          
Ricoh Canada Inc. 193,266              
Rightway Immigration and Education Services 43,347                
Rimini Street Inc. 32,890                
Robert Half 62,006                
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S.I. Systems Ltd 215,725              
Sasco Contractors Ltd. 64,753                
Sea to Sky Community Services Society 56,245                
Sechelt Indian Band 42,020                
SES Consulting Inc. 49,480                
Shell Energy North America (Canada) Inc. 101,158              
Simon Fraser University 326,776              
SoftChoice LP 550,637              
Softlanding Network Solutions Inc. 66,709                
SolarWinds 46,114                
Solvera 30,340                
Spark Computer Graphics Society 45,140                
Spicers Canada Ulc 56,884                
Squamish Nation 40,150                
Squamish Volunteer Centre Society 72,742                
Status Systems 44,706                
Stepwest Experience Providers Inc. 80,483                
Sunshine Coast Community Services Society 52,004                
Tableau Software Inc. 30,992                
Talentfit 162,086              
Tania Mostert Consulting 38,346                
TELUS Communications Inc. 88,930                
Telus Mobility 87,404                
Terminalfour 194,586              
ThyssenKrupp Elevator 26,172                
TLD Computers Inc. 116,944              
Total Energy Systems Ltd. 972,722              
Translink 2,267,534          
Travel Healthcare Insurance Solutions Inc. 158,800              
Ts'zil Learning Centre 32,326                
Unilogik Systems Inc. 91,022                
Universal Access Design 68,513                
University of Hertfordshire 119,943              
University of the Fraser Valley 62,650                
UPS Canada 28,798                
Vancouver Fire & Security 140,387              
Vancouver Musicians' Association 33,228                
Veritiv Canada Inc. 90,811                
Visual Schedule Builder 25,388                
West Coast Building Restoration Inc. 77,871                
Westcoast TBar Ltd. 129,335              
Western Overseas Study Abroad PVT. Ltd. 40,501                
WestPark Parking Services (2015) Inc. 192,653              
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Whitworth, Pam 67,016                
Wong, Monique 78,952                
Worksafe BC 107,399              
WSP Canada Group LTD. 58,122                
Xerox Canada Ltd. 58,051                
Yellow Pencil Inc. 31,526                
Vendor payments greater than $25,000 46,500,886$      

Vendor payments less than $25,000 7,821,657          

Total Vendor Payments 54,322,543$      
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Capilano University
Statement of Financial Information
For the Year Ended March 31, 2019

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

Employees' Remuneration 55,573,935$   
Employees' Expenses  1,162,665           
Payments to Vendors 54,322,543         

111,059,143       
Adjustments:
Flow through payments (not recorded as expenses) (5,603,439.63)    
Accruals, tax and other reconciling items (787,270)             
Capital Purchases (5,349,439)          
Amortization of Capital Assets 7,775,403           

107,094,398       

Change in prepaid expenses (89,232)               
Change in allowance for doubtful accounts 416,902              
Change in employee future benefits (58,200)               
Change in inventories (26,028)               
Change in accrued liabilities 3,439,664           

Total expenses per audited financial statements      110,777,504$    
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BOARD REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 7.2:  FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PLAN, FISCALS 2020/21 – 2024/25 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE: September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER:  Patricia Heintzman, Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 

PURPOSE 

All public post-secondary institutions in BC are required to submit an annual capital plan to the Ministry 
of Advanced Education, Skills and Training (the Ministry).  The Finance and Audit Committee 
recommend that the draft five-year plan submission be approved by the Board of Governors.   

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

That the Board approves the Five Year Capital Plan for 2020/21 - 2024/25.  

BACKGROUND 

The Ministry provides instructions and templates to collect in a consistent, standardized format using 
the templates provided.  For this year’s submission, which captures a rolling five-year horizon from 
2019/20 to 20123/24, institutions are asked to: 

• Provide a high-level understanding of capital requirements;
• Identify any changes in requests for new priority projects, whole asset replacement and renewal

projects; and
• Identify projects that address demonstrable demand for student housing and an inventory of

existing housing buildings.

The student housing information provided assists the Ministry in assessing the current status of, and 
demand for housing, and in prioritizing proposed projects as part of the Student Housing Loan Program.  
Although the University provides all capital requirements as requested, institutions are not given serious 
funding consideration for academic related capital projects until classroom/lab utilization for domestic 
students exceeds 115 percent of space utilization guidelines.  For comparison, the University reported 
65 percent classroom/lab utilization at the North Vancouver Campus in 2017/18; reporting for the next 
fiscal will be completed in Fall 2019 with similar results.  

All changes to this year’s capital plan are described in the opening preamble.  Projects selected for the 
plan are expected to provide the best return on investment in support of the University’s goal to 
increase domestic enrolments.  Student housing remains the University’s top priority as our current 
297 bed leased student housing facility must be replaced at the end of the lease term in 2022.  The plan 
describes several housing developments being explored, one of which involves an application to access 
the Ministry’s Student Housing Loan Program to fund 500 bed facility in two phases.  The University 
intends to bring the completed loan application forward for Board approval at the November meeting.  
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Capilano University Five-Year Capital Plan 
 

Capilano University’s new Campus Master Plan considers future University needs, responds to 

climate change, and suggests new directions relating to campus land use and buildings. 

Completed in 2018, the Campus Master Plan prescribed a number of studies and assessments as 

first steps to support future development, many of which have been completed or are underway 

or including the following: 

 Student housing business analysis 

 Campus wide accessibility audit 

 Underground infrastructure mapping and assessment 

 2018 VFA building assessment 

 Campus Energy and Emissions Plan 

 Space needs and utilization assessment 

In Fall 2018, a Campus Master Plan steering committee was established to provide oversight and 

direction for campus development and to ensure alignment with academic and strategic plans. 

While the Campus Master Plan focused primarily on the development of the North Vancouver 

campus, the steering committee considers our entire region including the University’s presence 

in Sechelt, Squamish, Mount Currie and the Greater Vancouver area. As an example, the 

committee steered the development a new 11,000 ft2 academic facility in the heart of Lower 

Lonsdale, North Vancouver due to be open for the Fall 2019 semester. Additional priorities set 

by the steering committee are reflected in the attached Five-Year Capital plan. 

 
The development of student housing remains the highest major capital priority for the 

University. We continue to operate a 293-bed leased student housing facility approximately 

three kilometers from campus. The lease ends in 2022 which is near the timeframe that the 

developer who owns the property anticipates re-development of the site. In the fall of 2017 

when the facility first opened, applications for the residence did not begin until July and only 102 

beds were filled for the fall semester. All 293 beds were filled in 2018. All 293 beds are filled for 

Fall 2019 and as of mid-June 2019, there is a wait list of over 60 students. 

 

A 2018 need assessment for student housing at the North Vancouver campus identified an 
immediate need for a 500-bed student housing facility. The need assessment is also supported 
by the success of the 293-bed leased facility and the growing waitlist. A consulting firm was 
engaged through the winter 2018 to develop a full business case for the 500-bed development. 
The business case includes available site options based on the Campus Master Plan, a review of 
environmental, geotechnical and site servicing options, high level design parameters (i.e. unit 
type, FF&E), Class D estimates of soft and hard project costs, and operating and maintenance 
cost estimates. Additionally, the business case explores various project delivery options (e.g. 
public private partnerships) available to the University. 
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In addition to the 500-bed business case, the University is exploring a partnership with a 

developer to construct a 70-bed student housing facility on the North Vancouver campus. The 

70-bed unit would be self-funded by the University and built at cost by the developer as part of a 

requirement to include affordable housing in a development project adjacent to the University’s 

property. A final application with the District of North Vancouver to gain approval of the 

development is expected to take place in late fall 2019. If the project moves forward, the 70-bed 

student housing facility could be finished in early 2022. 

 
Changes to projects in this year’s Five-Year Capital plan include the removal of a project to add a 

fourth floor to our Library Building, and the addition of a project to revitalize our Center for Sport 

and Wellness Building. The Library expansion project was removed due to the project’s high 

construction costs compared to a relatively small gain in additional usable space. The newly 

added project to revitalize the Center for Sport and Wellness aligns with the University’s recent 

signing of the Okanagan Charter, an International Charter for Health Promoting Universities and 

Colleges.  The project would see the addition of classroom/teaching space for academic 

programs such as Human Kinetics, the development of universally accessible, gender-neutral 

washroom and shower facilities, expansion and improvements to fitness center, and address a 

portion of the building’s deferred maintenance backlog. 

In the coming years, the University aims to bring more students to the campuses through new 

academic degree offerings, the improvement of student services, the development of student 

housing, and expansion of operations throughout the region. Recognizing the significant cost 

associated with growth, the University is committed to exploring creative strategies and 

partnerships with other institutions and developers, seeking fundraising opportunities, and 

continuing to self-fund projects. 

Sch 7.2



ATTACHMENT 2: Project Overviews 

Student Housing 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project 

Category 
(1, 2 or 3) 

Project 

Priority 

Capilano 

University 

North 

Vancouver 

Student Housing 3 1 

 

1.0 Current Situation 
• September 2017 Capilano University offered its first student housing 

in leased facilities approximately three kilometers from campus. The 

lease ends in 2022 which is near the timeframe that the developer 

who owns the property anticipates re-development of the site. 

• In Fall 2017 when the facility opened, 102 beds were filled and in 

Spring 2018, 110 beds were occupied. Applications for the residence 

did not begin until July 17, 2017. 

• In Fall 2018 all 293 beds were filled. 

• All 293 beds will be filled for Fall 2019 and a wait list has been 

established with over 60 students. 

• A survey of students regarding housing identified a strong preference 

for the facility to be on campus. 

• In the October 2018 Rental Market Report published by CMA, 

vacancy rates in North Vancouver for bachelor apartments were 

0.0% and average rents were $1,165. 

• Ongoing discussion and negotiation with a local developer for 

construction of a 70-bed student housing building adjacent to the 

campus have not yet resulted in an agreement. The 35,263 square 

foot project will require an investment of approximately $8 million by 

the University. 

2.0 Project Description 
• To support educational and sustained enrolment objectives, 

Capilano University proposes to build a wood-frame 500-bed student 

housing in two phases on the main, North Vancouver campus. 

Results of Functional Program, Concept Plan and Test-fit inform that 

Phase 1 will be 302 beds with a total Gross Floor Area of 8,545 m2 

(91,947 ft2) and Phase 2 will be about 200 beds with a total Gross 

Floor Area of 8772 m2 (94,394 ft2). The Project when both phases are 

complete will have a total Gross Floor Area of 17,318 m2 (186,341 ft2). 
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3.0 Project Objectives 
• Ensure a continued offering of student housing once the lease of the 

current off campus facility is concluded 2022. 

• Provide an opportunity to eliminate commute times, a Fall 2017 survey of 

students identified 31% of students spending over two hours a day 

commuting to the campus. 

• Capilano University is a commuter campus. Building student housing on 

campus will create vibrant campus life after business hours. 

• Increase student recruitment and retention through the availability of 

affordable housing 

• Increase affordable housing in the community by freeing up spaces 

currently rented by students. 

4.0 Project Outcomes 
• Continued availability of student housing when the current leased facility 

is no longer available. Phase 1 (302 beds) will replace the existing stock 

which is currently under lease at the off-campus facility on Dollarton in 

North Vancouver. Current lease expires in July 2022 after which the 

building will be replaced with a new development. 

• This project will provide on-campus student housing which will assist in 

deterring the status quo that Capilano University is a commuter campus. 

• On-campus student housing will vitalize and further activate campus life. 

Revitalization of the north campus is a high priority identified in the 

Campus Master Plan. 

• This project will significantly assist Capilano University in student 

recruitment and retention. 

5.0 Project Cost/Funding 
• Anticipated project costs, Class D (+/-25%) are, Phase 1: $42M and 

Phase 2: $41.7M. 

• Note that this project is not included on Attachment 3 as it is understood 

that provincial funding is not available for this project other than the 

potential of a Provincial loan. 
• Funding partners and/or self-funding will be required for this project. 

 

6.0 Key Risks 
• Finding funding partners 

• Construction escalation 
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7.0 Project Schedule Phase 1 
 

Task 

2019 2020 2021 2022 

Q 

1 

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Planning & 

Partners 

                

Design                 

Construction                 
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Fir Building – Envelope Remediation 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project 

Category 

(1, 2 or 3) 

Project 

Priority 

Capilano 

University 

North 

Vancouver 

Fir Building – Envelope Remediation 2 2 

 

1.0 Current Situation 
• Fir building is 8,440 m2 with a Facilities Condition Index of 0.48. In the past 

few years investment has been made to address the deferred 

maintenance liability on this building. Continued investment will prevent 

the need for replacement. 

• This building was constructed in 1982 and consists of a 5-storey multi- 

tiered building containing science labs, classrooms and faculty offices, 

and computer and resource rooms. 

• The building is a reinforced concrete frame structure with three primary 

types of wall assembly: stucco clad steel infill walls; stucco clad concrete, 

and exposed concrete. 
 

2.0 Project Description 
• A consulting firm completed an inspection and report on the building 

condition in September 2012. This report indicates extensive exterior 

remediation work is required. 

• The Fir building is the second largest building on the North Vancouver 

campus. 
 

3.0 Project Objectives 
• Ensure a secure envelope and increase the longevity of this building 

asset. 

• Improve energy efficiency. 

• Alleviate any WorkSafe BC issues that may arise as a result of poor air 

quality or mold through remediation. 
 

4.0 Options Considered 
• This is remediation of an existing asset and is one of the largest buildings 

on campus, therefore other options such as leasing offsite etc. are not 

viable. 
 

5.0 Project Outcomes 
• This scope of work will improve the FCI and will also improve the energy 

efficiency of this building. 
• Building structure will be protected and life of the asset will be lengthened. 

• Thermal comfort will be increased. 

Sch 7.2



6.0 Project Cost/Funding 
• This project will not trigger any additional operating costs and will likely 

reduce operating costs by making the building more energy efficient. 
• Cost for this project is estimated at $5.9M for the following items: 

 

- Consultant design fees and project management 

- Applying wall coating to all exposed concrete walls 

- Replace all sealant joints in stucco cladding 

- Targeted wall repairs 

- Replace all existing windows 

- Replace existing doors 

- Replace T-Bar skylight to pressure plate system 

- Contingency 
 

7.0 Key Risks 
• If the building envelope is not addressed then water ingress will continue to 

occur and will result in deterioration of the building infrastructure (steel stud 

corrosion, water ingress at windows and doors resulting in rot and mold). 

• If the building is closed in whole or part because of an occupational health 

and safety issue this would have a major impact on the University’s ability to 

deliver its educational programming. 
• During the construction phase the building must remain operational. 

 

8.0 Project Schedule 
 
Task 

2019 2020 2021 2022 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Design                 

Construction                 

• It is anticipated the project will be phased over two years with 50% of the 
building completed each year to ensure project size is manageable during 
the better weather and while lower occupancy on campus. 
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Willow Building Refurbishment & Re-purposing 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project 

Category 

(1, 2 or 3) 

Project 

Priority 

Capilano 

University 

North 

Vancouver 

Willow Building Renewal & Re-purposing 2 3 

 

1.0 Current Situation 
• The building no longer has academic offerings subsequent to the 

closure of Studio Arts several years ago. 

• It is used as a storage space for furniture waiting for re-use, excess 

building supplies, furniture and equipment. 

• The Facilities Condition Index (FCI) for this building is 0.42. 
 

2.0 Project Description 
• Currently the new function of the building has not been identified. 

• The initial ideas for the building would refurbish and re-purpose it. 

• Some activities in support of the Film and Animation programming have 

been identified as potential for this location which is directly adjacent to 

the BOSA building which houses Film and Animation. Other activities 

focus on innovation and technology and STEM related programs. 

3.0 Project Objectives 
• Address deferred maintenance requirements before the building reaches 

a condition that it would need to be demolished. 

• Create a space useful for academic programming. 
 

4.0 Project Outcomes 
• Flexible academic space that supports a range of programs 

• Addressed deferred maintenance and improves FCI rating. 
 

5.0 Project Cost/Funding 
• Estimated project cost is $3.8M. 

 

6.0 Key Risks 
• Potential of unforeseen building conditions during renovation. 

 

7.0 Project Schedule 
 
Task 

2019 2020 2021 2022 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Design                 

Construction                 
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Center for Sport and Wellness – Revitalization 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project 

Category (1, 2 

or 3) 

Project 

Priority 

Capilano 

University 

North 

Vancouver 

Center for Sport and Wellness - Renewal 2 4 

 

1.0 Current Situation 
• The Center for Sport and Wellness currently houses the University’s 

gymnasium, fitness center and weight room, general change rooms, 

team change rooms, administrative office space, coaching office 

space, and a concessions area. 
• The building was originally constructed in 1991. 

• Building size is 2941 m2 (31,657 ft2). 
 

2.0 Project Description 
• Renovation of a portion of the existing building, renewal of building 

systems, and improvement of the front façade are in the scope of this 

project. The gymnasium that makes up approximately half of the 

building is outside of the scope of this project as it is in good condition. 

3.0 Project Objectives 
• To add classroom/teaching space for fitness related programs. 

• To increase the size of fitness center and weight room. 

• To modernize the existing general change rooms and team change 

rooms including the washroom facilities and shower facilities for universal 

access. 

• To improve the administrative and coaching office space and 

accommodate growth of staff in each area. 

• To modernize the entry to the building and front façade. 

• To replace end of life building systems and improve building 

performance. 
 

4.0 Options Considered 
Option Comments 

Status Quo Will not meet stated objectives. 

Phased Approach This scope of work could be broken 

down into phases and the work could 

be completed over several years. 
Build New This would be cost prohibitive. 

Use/Rental of vacant or 
underutilized public assets 

Not viable. 

Partnership with industry None identified. 
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5.0 Project Outcomes 
• Provide ample modern fitness facilities and universally accessible 

washrooms and shower facilities to meet the needs of a growing and 

diverse student and staff body. 
• Supports the University commitment under the Okanagan Charter. 

• Incorporate fitness related academic programming. 

• Accommodate staff growth. 

• Reduce GHG emissions and improve building performance. 
 

6.0 Project Cost/Funding 
• Estimated cost for the full renovation (excluding gymnasium), replacement 

of building systems, and improvements to the front façade is $9.5M. 
 

7.0 Key Risks 
• Renovations have inherent risk with the potential of unforeseen building 

conditions 

• Logistical risks as this is an existing building with functions that will be required 

to continue during the construction period (noise, dust, closure of areas, 

etc.). 

8.0 Project Schedule 
 
Task 

2019 2020 2021 2022 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Functional 

Prog/Concept 

                

Design                 

Construction                 
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Phase 2 Nat & Flora Bosa Centre for Film and Animation 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project 

Category 

(1, 2 or 3) 

Project 

Priority 

Capilano 

University 

North 

Vancouver 

Phase 2 Nat & Flora Bosa Centre for Film and 

Animation 

1 5 

 

1.0 Current Situation 
• Bosa Center Phase Two will be a new construction adding net space 

to the campus. 

• Bosa Phase Two was designed to be incorporated into Bosa Phase 1 

which was completed in 2011. 

• Bosa Phase Two architectural drawings are complete and the 

project is shovel ready for construction. 

• The existing Bosa Centre will be impacted by the new construction 

of Phase Two. The Phase One building is sited in an East-West 

direction and the new Phase Two will be situated at the same site 

though crossing in a North-South direction. Some construction 

planning has already been undertaken to ensure the existing  Phase 

One structure can remain open and operational during the 

construction period of Phase Two. 

2.0 Project Description 
• The Nat and Flora Bosa Centre for Film and Animation Phase Two will be 

a new building consisting of 2424 m2 (26,091 ft2) over three floors and will 

accommodate approximately 200 FTEs. 

• The construction will be a combination of concrete, structural steel and 

heavy timber frame supported by piping and grade beams. 

• The building will be located at the North end of the campus and 

incorporated into the existing Phase One. 

• Phase Two will primarily house state-of-the-art specialized training spaces 

for Film and Animation, studio, student study and collaboration spaces, 

as well as a limited number of program offices. 
 

3.0 Project Objectives 
• To add instructional space, student collaboration space, and 

office/program space. 

• Will provide a state-of-the art learning environment that will be 

technologically and pedagogically in keeping with the teaching mission 

of the university. 

• Provide space for training in the new fields of virtual and augmented 

reality. 
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4.0 Options Considered 
• This project was originally designed as a Phase Two of the prior build, 

therefore most of the project planning has already been completed. 

• The training/instruction that will occur in this building will rely, in part, on 

the existing infrastructure of Bosa Centre Phase One and the existing 

equipment to compliment the instruction. 

 
Option Comments 

Status Quo Will not allow for expansion of 

educational programming. 

Phased Approach This is phase two of a phased 

approach – this was designed to 

be incorporated into the design of 
the existing building. 

Build New This is a new build. 

Distance Learning Intensive hands-on use of the 

studios and the equipment does 
not allow for learning at a distance. 

Use/Rental of vacant or 

underutilized public assets 

To ensure availability of and 

efficient use of existing equipment 

and building studio infrastructure 

the students need to co-locate 
next to the existing building. 

Sublease of existing facility To ensure availability of and 

efficient use of existing equipment 

and building studio infrastructure 

the students need to co-locate 
next to the existing building. 

Partnership with industry This is a partnership with industry – 

partial funding for instructional 

equipment had been secured for 

use in both Phase One and Two. 

5.0 Project Outcomes 
• Increased capacity to offer programs, particularly for 4-year degrees. 

• Provides much needed space for student study areas and collaborative 

learning spaces. 
 

6.0 Project Cost/Funding 
• An all-in estimated budget, inclusive of FF&E, permits, consultants, DDCs 

and other municipal fees, insurance, contingency, inflation and 

applicable taxes, would be $21M. 
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7.0 Key Risks 
• External risk – labour market/availability and inflation. Current economic 

conditions favour this project though this is an unpredictable and 

unknown risk dependent on timing. 

• As this is Phase Two of the projects many of the project risks have already 

been addressed in terms of zoning, geotechnical, tree removal, nesting 

studies, etc. 

8.0 Project Schedule 
 
Task 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Design refresh                 

Tender/award                 

Construction                 

 
• It is expected 24 months will be required to complete the construction. 

• As the design will be several years old a review/refresh of the design will 

be completed. 

• Occupancy planned for summer 2025 ready for September classes. 
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Five-Year Capital Plan Instructions (2020/21 - 2024/25) 
 

Attachment 1: Project Categories 
 

Category of Project Definition Examples 

1. New Priority 

Projects 

• New system capacity 

• Accommodates growth 

• New academic building 

with classrooms and labs 
• Additions to existing 

academic building 

2. Whole Asset 

Replacement & 

Renewal Projects 

• Major renovations where 

50% or more of the asset is 

replaced (as a percentage 

of replacement value; (FCI 
> 0.5) 

• Improves the condition of 

the physical asset 

• Reduces deferred 

maintenance backlog 

• Major renovation of an 

academic building due to 

poor physical condition 

e.g. aged mechanical 

and electrical systems 

and/or functional 

obsolescence e.g. 

classrooms and labs no 

long serve the current 

academic programs 

• Complete replacement of 

a building envelope e.g., 

wall and window systems 

3. Student Housing 

Projects 

• New capacity; 

accommodates growth 

and/or 
• Major renovations where 

>50% of asset is to be 

replaced (FCI 0.5); improves 

condition of asset and 

reduces deferred 

maintenance backlog 

• New student housing 

building 
• Additions to existing 

student housing building 

• Major renovation due to 

poor physical condition 

e.g., wall and window 

systems 
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Five-Year Capital Plan Instructions (2020/21 - 2024/25) 

Attachment 2: Project Overview 
 

Institution Campus/City Project Title Project Category 

(1, 2 or 3) 

Project 

Priority 
1 of 

1.0 Current Situation 
• Describe the building(s) affected including bldg. name and size, 

Facilities Condition Index (FCI), deferred maintenance, 

leased/owned, and programs offered. Include the number of Full- 

Time Equivalents (FTEs) that are currently accommodated/ 

program. Also indicate what the final outcome of these buildings 

will be, e.g. demolished or repurposed, etc. 

2.0 Project Description 
• Provide a brief description of project scope including area (m2), campus 

location, also an estimated breakdown of the area that applies to 

renewal/replacement, and/or expansion. 

• Provide a description of the program(s) and FTEs that will be supported, 

including the amount and type of space required. 
 

3.0 Project Objectives 
• Describe the problem, opportunity or need that this project is intended 

to address, including labour market demand. 
 

4.0 Options considered 
• Describe alternative options for program delivery and facility solutions, 

including advantages/disadvantages, e.g. status quo, lease, phased 

approach, build new, distance learning, use/rental of vacant or 

underutilized public assets, sublease of existing facilities, partnership with 

industry. 

5.0 Project Outcomes 
• Infrastructure Improvements: 

o Describe how, and to what extent, it will improve the FCI and/or 

reduce life-safety and occupational health risks, and/or improve 

space utilization. 
• Cost Effectiveness: 

o Describe cost benefits throughout lifecycle and/or funding 
partnerships. 
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• Innovation: 

o Describe how, and to what extent, it demonstrates innovative 

solutions for program delivery, e.g. simulation, facility solutions and/or 

collaboration. 
• Strategic Alignment: 

o Describe how the project aligns with government priorities, e.g. 
Ministry Service Plan. 

o Describe how the project aligns with institutional priorities, e.g. mission 
statement, master planning, etc. 

o Describe how the project aligns with specific labour market and 
employer needs, e.g. inter-professional education. 

• Quality Education: 

o Describe how student access, persistence, completion and 

educational needs, would be supported by the project, e.g. 

aboriginal learners. 
• Energy and Emission Reduction: 

o Describe how the project reduces energy and greenhouse gas 
emissions. 

o Compare current energy usage (in GJ/year and $ value/year) and 

greenhouse gas emissions numbers (in tons CO2/year) with the 

projected numbers. For new facilities, compare with an equivalent 

existing building on campus or other similar types of institutional 

buildings in North America. 
 

6 . 0 Project Cost/Funding 
• Provide an estimate of the total capital cost, identifying expected 

Provincial debt impact and other financial sources. 

• Provide an estimate of the annual operating costs and impacts for 

infrastructure and program. Indicate operating funding assumptions for 

associated educational programming, if applicable, e.g. reallocation of 

existing resources, new funding sought from government, etc. 

• Identify the project capital cashflow on the Prioritized List of Proposed 

Projects spreadsheet (Attachment 3). 

7.0 Key Risks 
• Identify 2-4 key risks and proposed mitigation strategies. 

8.0 Project Schedule 
• Indicate anticipated start/end dates, including anticipated phases, 

key milestones. Include a simple Gantt chart with high-level activities, 

e.g. planning, design, construction, and occupancy. 
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Five-Year Capital Plan Instructions (2020/21-2024/25) 
Attachment 3: Prioritized List of Proposed Projects 

 

 

 
Category 1: New Priority Projects 

Category 2: Whole Asset Replacement & Renewal Projects 

Category 3: Student Housing Projects 

 

 

# 

 

Institution 

 

Campus 

 

Project Description 

 
Project 

Category 

Facility Condition 

Index 

(for existing 

assets) 

 

Asset 

Replacement 

Value 

 

Anticipated 

Construction 

Start Date 

 
Anticipated 

Occupancy Date 

 
Total 

Project Budget 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2020/21 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2021/22 

1 Capilano North Van Fir Envelope Replacement 2 - Replace & Renew 0.48 $ 31,492,247 1/Apr/20 1/Sep/21 $ 5,900,000 $ 400,000 $ 2,750,000 

2 Capilano North Van Willow Refurb 2 - Replace & Renew 0.42 $ 8,386,939 1/Apr/20 1/Jul/21 $ 3,800,000 $ 400,000 $ 3,400,000 

3 Capilano North Van Bosa Phase II 1 - New Addition   1/Apr/22 1/Jul/25 $ 21,000,000   

         $ -   

         $ -   

         $ -   

         $ -   

         $ -   

         $ -   

         $ 30,700,000 $ 800,000 $ 6,150,000 
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Project Description 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2022/23 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2023/24 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2024/25 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

Outgoing Years 

Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

2020/21 

Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

2021/22 

Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

2022/23 

Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

2023/24 

Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

2024/25 

Total Provincial 

Cashflow 

Forecast 

Outgoing Years 

 
Total Provincial 

Budget 

Fir Envelope Replacement $ 2,750,000    $ 400,000 $ 2,750,000 $ 2,750,000    $ 5,900,000 

Willow Refurb     $ 300,000 $ 3,300,000     $ 3,600,000 

Bosa Phase II  $ 1,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 10,000,000    $ 1,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 21,000,000 

           $ - 

           $ - 

           $ - 

           $ - 

           $ - 

           $ - 

 $ 2,750,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 700,000 $ 6,050,000 $ 2,750,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 10,000,000 $ 30,500,000 
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Five-Year Capital Plan Instructions (2020/21-2024/25) 
Attachment 4: Summary of Major Ongoing and Planned Self-Funded Projects (>$5 million) 

 
 

# 

 

Institution 

 

Campus 

 

Project Description 

 

Anticipated 

Construction 

Start Date 

 
Anticipated 

Occupancy Date 

 
Total 

Project Budget 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2020/21 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2021/22 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2022/23 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2023/24 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

2024/25 

 

Total Cashflow 

Forecast 

Outgoing Years 

1 Capilano North Van Woodbridge Housing 1/Apr/20 1/Jan/22 $ 7,800,000 $ 3,800,000 $ 4,000,000     

2 Capilano North Van Student Housing Phase 1 1/Apr/21 1/Apr/23 $ 42,000,000 $ 1,500,000 $ 19,500,000 $ 19,500,000 $ 1,500,000   

3 Capilano North Van Student Housing Phase 2 1/Apr/24 1/Aug/26 $ 41,700,000   $ 1,300,000 $ 19,500,000 $ 19,500,000 $ 1,400,000 

4 Capilano North Van Ctr for Sport and Wellness 1/Oct/20 1/Aug/21 $ 9,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 3,000,000     

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

$ 100,500,000 $ 11,300,000 $ 26,500,000 $ 20,800,000 $ 21,000,000 $ 19,500,000 $ 1,400,000 
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Five-Year Capital Plan Instructions (2020/21-2024/25) 
Attachment 5: Existing Student Housing Building Inventory Data 

 
 

# 

 

Institution 

 

Campus 

 

Municipality 

 
Neighbourhood/ 

Building Group Name 

 

Building Name 

 

Type 

(e.g. Single, 

Quad, Duplex) 

 

Description 

 
Number of 

Beds 

 

Year Built 

 
Year Renovated 

(if applicable) 

 
Description of 

Renovations 

1 Capilano North Van District of North Van Dollarton Student Housin n/a Double rooms Non-owned leased facility until 2022 297 n/a n/a n/a 

2            

3            

4            

5            

6            

7            

8            

9            

10            

11            

12            

13            

14            

15            

Total: 297 
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BOARD REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 7.3:  CREDIT AND DEBIT CARD POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE:  September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER:  Patricia Heintzman, Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 

PURPOSE 

Capilano University currently does not have policies or procedures in place related to handling of credit 
and debit card transactions.  This new policy and procedures establishes control in this area and ensures 
that Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS) best practices are being followed.  The 
Policy will be approved by the Board of Governors and the Procedures will be approved by Senior 
Leadership Council.  

The Credit and Debit Card Policy and related procedures is shared ownership between Financial Services 
and Information Technology Departments.  A Credit and Debit Card Policy Working Group led by the CIO 
and Director Financial Services has been established to review current practices and develop an action 
plan to mitigate risks in this area.   

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approves adoption of B.211 Credit and Debit Card Policy. 

BACKGROUND 

The Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS) is a global data security standard that is 
adopted by payment card brands for all entities that process, store or transmit cardholder data and/or 
sensitive authentication data.  The standards consists of several steps that mirror security best practices 
as shown in the table below. 

Sch 7.3



 
These standards were used in developing the Credit and Debit Card Policy and Procedures.  Key 
elements include: 
 
B.211 Credit and Debit Card Policy (to be approved by Board of Governors): 

• Authorizes the Vice President, Finance & Administration (VP, F&A) to implement credit and 
debit card procedures to ensure that cardholder information is processed in accordance with 
PCI DSS 

• Only specific locations and employees authorized by the VP, F&A are permitted to process 
cardholder information 

• Prescribes controls and restrictions regarding 
o handling and secure storage of cardholder information 
o approval of credit card merchant accounts and e-commerce solutions 
o relationships with third party service providers 

 
B.211.1 Credit and Debit Card Procedures (to be approved by Senior Leadership Council): 

• Identifies locations authorized to process credit and debit card transactions.   
 Please Note: authorized locations have been set in the procedures to those locations 

that currently have point of sale terminals.  All other departments or locations that are 
receiving credit card information via phone or other methods will be reviewed to 
determine business need and develop alternative solution if required (this will occur as 
part of the action plans of the Credit and Debit Card Working Group. 

• Requires ‘authorized’ employees to acknowledge understanding of the security policy and 
incident response process (appendix 1) 

• Requires managers/supervisors of authorized locations to communicate the incident response 
process to employees each year (appendix 2) 

• Describes the response process that must be followed in the event of a real or suspected 
security incident involving cardholder information (Appendix 3) 

• Prescribes how credit and debit card transactions must be processed, cardholder information 
protected, and credit card processing equipment secured 

 
STAKEHOLDERS CONSULTED 
 
The Credit and Debit Working Group will be leading the implementation of this policy and procedure 
which will include engaging stakeholders to help understand current practices and to develop an action 
plan to mitigate risks.    
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B.211 Credit and Debit Card Policy 

Approved by 
Board of 
Governors Officer responsible 

Vice President, Finance and 
Administration 

Effective date TBD Replaces or previous 
version date  

1. PURPOSE 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to 

a) protect credit and debit cardholder information for individuals and entities that use 
credit and debit cards to transact business with Capilano University (“University”), and 

b) ensure all credit and debit card processing activities and related technology follow 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS) best practices.   

2. DEFINITIONS 

“cardholder information” the contents of the magnetic strip, the primary account number plus any 
of the following, cardholder name, card expiration date and service code, for a credit, debit or 
other bank card 

“primarily account number (PAN)” the unique number on a credit or debit card that identifies the 
issue or and the cardholder account, also refer to as an account number 

“Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS)” global standards for securing credit 
and banking transactions with mandatory requirements and guidelines covering security, policies, 
procedures, network/software design and other critical protective measures 

“Personal Identification Number (PIN)” a numeric password used to authenticate an individual to a 
system 

3. SCOPE  

3.1 This policy applies to employees who have access to cardholder information and departments 
that accept credit and debit card payments using a gateway provider, point of sale terminal, 
or other electronic means.  

4. POLICY  

4.1 The University is committed to protecting and securing cardholder information.  

4.2 The Vice-President, Finance and Administration will design and implement 

a) procedures for processing and handling cardholder information to ensure that all 
employees and locations that process, maintain or transmit cardholder information do 
so in a manner that follows PCI DSS best practices, and 

b) incident response procedures that employees must follow in the event of a security 
breach or suspicious transaction or event involving cardholder information.  

4.3 Only those employees and locations authorized by the Vice-President, Finance and 
Administration and identified in B.211.1 Credit and Debit Card Procedures, may accept and/or 
access cardholder information. Employees and departments so authorized are responsible for 
protecting such cardholder information.  
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4.4 Employees are not permitted to 

a) retain credit and debit card numbers or cardholder information in a physical or digital 
form (e.g. hard copy, paper, electronic file on any device such as server, PC, laptop or 
smartphone), 

b) accept cardholder information by mail, e-mail, text or fax, or 
c) transmit or communicate an unprotected or non-encrypted PAN or PIN. 

4.5 The Director, Financial Services must approve all credit card merchant accounts prior to 
implementation of e-commerce solutions for credit and debit card transaction processing. 

4.6 The Chief Information Officer or designate must approve all e-commerce solutions and 
ensure that related software and equipment comply with the University’s technical standards 
and follow PCI DSS best practices. Third-party e-commerce solutions must be PCI-DSS 
compliant. 

4.7 All equipment used to process cardholder information must be protected against tampering. 
Employees are required to monitor such equipment daily and report any anomalies or 
suspicions of tampering immediately to the Director, Financial Services. 

4.8 Contractors and third parties engaged by the University to do business on its behalf, must 
comply with this policy when processing credit and debit card transactions.  

4.9 The Vice-President, Finance and Administration must ensure that third parties, service 
providers, vendors, payment gateway and other providers comply with PCI DSS requirements. 

4.10 Exceptions to this policy must be jointly authorized in advance by the Vice-President, Finance 
and Administration and the President and reported to the Finance and Audit Committee. 

5. RELATED REFERENCES 

Payment Card Industry Data Security standards (PCI DSS) 
B.211.1 Credit and Debit Card Procedures (for approval by university administration) 
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BOARD REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM 7.4:  CASH POLICY 

  PURPOSE:    Approval 
  Information 
  Discussion 

MEETING DATE: September 24, 2019 

PRESENTER: Patricia Heintzman, Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 

PURPOSE 

The Finance and Audit Committee recommends that the Board of Governors approves adoption of 
B.210 Cash Policy.

RECOMMENDED MOTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approves adoption of B.210 Cash Policy. 

BACKGROUND 

The Honorable Melanie Mark, Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training sent a letter dated 
May 28, 2019 to Board Chairs of all public post-secondary institutions to review their cash acceptance 
policies in response to the money laundering report released by the Ministry of Attorney General (see 
Appendix 1).  The request was to address the following with a response back to the Ministry by 
June 30, 2019: 

1) Immediately review your financial policies to ensure that payments with large amounts of cash
(e.g. thousands of dollars) from a single student are not accepted;

2) If your institution has a current policy regarding the acceptance of cash, I request that you share
a confidential copy of your policy with us, including any changes you propose to make, to help
inform any future guidance or direction the Ministry may provide on this issue; and

3) If your institution does not yet have a policy regarding the acceptance of cash, please advise the
Ministry of your expected timeline to develop this policy.

Capilano University’s response to the Ministry was: 
1. Effective August 1, 2019, Capilano University will not accept cash for payment of tuition and

student housing.
2. Capilano University is developing a policy regarding acceptance of cash and will have this

completed and approved by the Board by the Fall (early October).

Item #1 has been implemented, with the “Going Cashless” communications that have been issued by 
Financial Services.  This was a soft launch, with some cash payments being accepted if that was the only 
option of payment and dollar value was small.  Item #2 is being addressed with this new policy; there 
currently is no policy on accepting cash.   

Sch 7.4



STAKEHOLDERS CONSULTED 
 
As the majority of the cash transactions occurring outside of the Financial Services Department are low 
dollar values, stakeholders consulted was limited to areas that could potentially receive large cash 
transactions, for example the Bookstore and Foundation.  Brian Ball, Manager Bookstore and Print 
Services and Scott Blythe, Director Alumni and Development were consulted for feedback on this policy.  
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B.210 Cash Policy 

Approved by 
Board of 
Governors Officer responsible 

Vice President, Finance & 
Administration 

Effective date TBD Replaces or previous 
version date  

1. PURPOSE 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to mitigate the risks associated with accepting and refunding 
cash and cash equivalents.   

2. DEFINITIONS 

“cash” legal tender notes and coin 

“cash equivalents” items that can be used as or converted to cash including cheques, debit cards, 
credit cards, money orders and wire transfers 

“student-related fee” mandatory fees paid by students that are directly attributable to attending 
courses and residing at the University, including application, tuition and course fees, residence fees, 
and charges levied by the Students Association. This excludes purchases of books from the 
Bookstore.  

3. SCOPE  

3.1 This policy applies to employees and students of the university and to individuals associated 
with and/or working on behalf of the university.  

4. POLICY  

4.1 The University does not accept payments by cash for student-related fees.  

4.2 Cash may be accepted for donations and non-student-related purchases up to a maximum of 
$1,000 per person in a 24-hour period.   

4.3 Refunds for student-related fees cannot be made in cash. Cash refunds for non-student 
related purchases and cash payments for book re-purchases are limited to a $500 maximum 
per person.    

4.4 Acceptable payment and refund methods must be authorized by the Vice-President, Finance 
and Administration and posted on the University’s website. 

4.5 Credit and debit card transactions must be processed in accordance with the B.211 Credit and 
Debit Card Policy and related procedures. 

4.6 The Vice-President, Finance and Administration will ensure that employees who handle cash 
and credit and debit card information are adequately trained to securely process credit card 
and debit card information, handle cash and identify and report suspicious transactions. 

4.7 Exceptions to this policy must be jointly authorized in advance by the Vice-President, Finance 
and Administration and the President and reported to the Finance and Audit Committee. 

5. RELATED REFERENCES 

B.211 Credit and Debit Card Policy 
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APPENDIX 1:  LETTER FROM MINISTRY 

 
 

Our Ref. 115937 
May 28, 2019 

 
To all 25 Public Post-SecondaryInstitutions Board Chairs: 

 

As the Minister of Advanced Education, Skills and Training, I am writing to draw your attention to the 
report on money laundering (Dirty Money – Part 2) released recently by the Ministry of Attorney 
General. This report (page 265) alleges money laundering activities in British Columbia’s public 
post-secondary system. The report can be viewed at: 
https://news.gov.bc.ca/files/Dirty_Money_Report_Part_2.pdf. 

 

While I appreciate the need to accept payments in cash as a service to students, this has to be balanced by 
ensuring our post-secondary system not become a target for money laundering. As such, I am asking 
your institution to: 

 
1) Immediately review your financial policies to ensure that payments with large amounts of cash 

(e.g. thousands of dollars) from a single student are not accepted; 
 

2) If your institution has a current policy regarding the acceptance of cash, I request that you share a 
confidential copy of your policy with us, including any changes you propose to make, to help inform 
any future guidance or direction the Ministry may provide on this issue; and 

 
3) If your institution does not yet have a policy regarding the acceptance of cash, please advise the 

Ministry of your expected timeline to develop this policy. 
 

I would appreciate receiving this summary by June 30, 2019. Please direct these to: 

AEST.ADMFinanceTechandMgmtServs@gov.bc.ca 

We must all do our part to deter the ability to launder money through the British Columbia 
post-secondary system. 

 
If you require further information, please direct your inquiries to Kevin Brewster, Assistant Deputy 
Minister, Finance, Technology and Management Services Division at Kevin.Brewster@gov.bc.ca or by 
telephone at (250) 356-2496. 

 
Respectfully, 

Melanie Mark 
Hli Haykwhl Ẃii Xsgaak 
Minister 
pc: 25 Presidents of Public Post-Secondary Institutions 

25 Vice Presidents of Finance of Public Post-Secondary Institutions 
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50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

A MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT

PAUL DANGERFIELD
President and Vice-Chancellor

Over the span of our 50th anniversary, I had an opportunity to speak 
with a great number of people who shaped, and were shaped by,  
Capilano University—from alumni who made up our inaugural class of 
1968, to faculty who founded some of CapU’s most celebrated programs, 
to Elders committed to sharing cultural teachings and traditions. 

I was captivated by the stories and memories shared from the past  
six decades and inspired by the ambitious goals set out by our current 
student body. One comment card, submitted at our Fabulous 50  
Birthday Bash, simply read:

My wish for CapU/my future is “…to have great events like this, have 
organizations all over the world recognize the name Capilano University, 
score an awesome job and get a great dog.” 

A student who wants a return on their investment (and a dog); I can  
get behind that! But what really struck me was how closely the  
comment aligned with our anniversary objectives. 

When we began planning our 50th celebrations three years ago,  
we identified three goals:

 ▪ Raise the profile of Capilano University

 ▪ Build pride among alumni, employees and students

 ▪ Secure support for university priorities

Our anniversary program wrapped up on June 30, 2019, and it was a 
huge success by every measure! 

It is my pleasure to submit this 50th Anniversary Final Report, to share 
it with our community of contributors and to retain it as an important 
artifact. The Report showcases the wide range of activities, events and 
initiatives that helped cultivate and broaden an esprit de corps among 
the CapU community. We will build on that momentum as we continue 
to raise our profile, build pride and secure support. 

On behalf of Capilano University, thank you to everyone who “celebrated 
the experience” with us. Together, we will continue to make history.

Sincerely,

Paul Dangerfield 
President 
Capilano University
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AT A G L ANCE

50 YEARS OF SUCCESS

CapU enthusiastically marked its 50th anniversary 
with some truly shining moments. The anniversary 
came to a close on June 30, 2019, and here’s a look 
at a few of the highlights covered in this report. 

On September 10, 2018, 50 years to the day the 
doors were first opened, more than 500 people  
at the North Vancouver campus came together  
to celebrate CapU’s birthday at the Fabulous  
50 Birthday Bash. The event featured a four-foot 
birthday cake, live music and a special birthday 
greeting from the Prime Minister, as well as a 
reception for some of CapU’s first students and 
faculty from 1968. Birthday celebrations also  
took place at the Sunshine Coast campus and  
Ts'zil Learning Centre in Mount Currie.

CapU’s biggest anniversary celebration was 
CapFest. Held on September 22, 2018, CapFest 
featured events and activities across the North 
Vancouver campus. The Birch festival drew more 
than 4,400 attendees and featured live music, food 
trucks, a beer garden and a stunning new light 
display on the Birch Building. A huge thank you to 
the more than 130 people who volunteered. A glass 
was raised to celebrate the 410 alumni who joined 
the Alumni Homecoming at CapFest and an encore 
event at the Sechelt campus in spring. 

More than 150 people celebrated the annual  
Alumni Awards of Excellence at the Pipe Shop on 
the North Vancouver waterfront on October 18, 
2018. The event marked the Capilano University 
Alumni Association’s 10th anniversary and honoured 
five incredible alumni who exemplify CapU’s brand 
essence. CapU also celebrated employees who 
embody the spirit of the University’s brand during 
the Employee Recognition Awards at the Pinnacle 
Hotel on March 14, 2019.

On April 11, 2019, the CapU community  
came together to awaken the University’s 50th 
anniversary legacy canoe in a moving ceremony  
led by leaders of the Squamish Nation. Carved  
by Squamish Nation master carver Ses siyam,  
the legacy canoe is a symbol of the University’s 
commitment to Truth and Reconciliation.

Employees and students showed their University 
pride by donning items from the Cap Love Tuesdays 
collection and raised $2,700 for the CapU  
Student Bursary.

The Great Ideas fund helped make some amazing 
projects possible such as the CapU50 Trail and the 
vibrant painted murals at CapU’s main and kálax-ay 
Sunshine Coast campuses.

In the pages that follow, read more about these  
and other events and activities, many of which link 
to capu50 .capilanou .ca. While the site will no longer 
be updated, it will continue to archive some of the 
anniversary’s best written and video stories, and 
details of celebrations with the CapU community.

Then and Now

Legacy Canoe Awakening 
and Naming Ceremony

Capilano University

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/fabulous-50-birthday-bash/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/fabulous-50-birthday-bash/
https://vimeo.com/289184402
https://vimeo.com/289184402
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/capfest/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capu-lights-up-the-night/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capu-lights-up-the-night/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/making-history/legacy-canoe/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/great-ideas/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/great-ideas/capu50-trail/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/great-ideas/capu-murals-project/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/making-history/stories/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/making-history/video-gallery/
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50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

ANNIVERSARY GOALS & OUTCOMES
50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

Capilano University commemorated its 50th 
anniversary from January 2018–June 2019 with 
official celebrations throughout the academic year. 

The three goals guiding the anniversary  
program were to: 

 ▪ raise the profile of Capilano University
 ▪ build pride among alumni, employees and students
 ▪ secure support for university priorities

The outcomes* identified as contributors to the 
University’s three-year strategic plan include: 

 ▪ 8,500 qualified alumni contacts identified
 ▪ 40% increase in charitable funds raised
 ▪ 30% increase in sponsorship revenue generated
 ▪ 200 qualified prospects identified
 ▪ 15% increase in student volunteers
 ▪ Improvements in employee survey responses  

to two indicator questions: 
 ▪ “I am proud to work at CapU”
 ▪ “CapU makes a positive impact on the 

communities of the North Shore,  
Sunshine Coast and Sea-to-Sky corridor”

*From baseline 2016/17.

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither agree 
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Two 50th anniversary surveys were conducted: a survey of all CapU employees in October 2018 and a survey of employees  
who attended the Employee Recognition Awards event in March 2019. Both surveys were aimed at measuring employee  
responses to two questions: I am proud to work at CapU and CapU has a positive impact on the community.

Two years into our three-year strategy, the University is on track to exceed  
the key performance indicators articulated for the 50th anniversary  
(as of June 30, 2019).

†Survey response to be measured as part of the  
CapU Employee Engagement Survey in late 2019.

Charitable  
Funds Raised

$1.16 million
ON TRACK AT 
90% OF GOAL

Sponsorship 
Revenue

$472,532
EXCEEDED GOAL 

BY 120%

Qualified Alumni 
Contacts

10,596
EXCEEDED GOAL 

BY 24.6%

Prospects 
Identified

174
ON TRACK AT 
87% OF GOAL

Student 
Volunteers

94% increase
EXCEEDED GOAL 

BY 79%

Employee Survey 
Response

N/A†

Did the events represent  
Capilano University as  

an important member of  
the community?

37.42%

43.05%

16.23%

2.65%
0.66%

The Employee Recognition Awards 
event made me feel that Capilano 
University had a positive impact 

on the communities we serve. 

Did the events/activities  
you attended make you feel  

proud to tell people you work  
at Capilano University?

45.14%

10.89%

42.02%

0.39%
1.56%

The Employee Recognition  
Awards event made me feel  

proud to be an employee  
of Capilano University

28%

10%

62% 52%

31%

10%

7%
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Fabulous 50  
Birthday Bash

Fabulous 50  
Birthday Bash

CapFest

CapFest

The University kicked off its anniversary  
celebrations with a Fabulous 50 Birthday Bash  
and CapFest and concluded with Convocation 
ceremonies honouring the University's 50th 
graduating class. Celebrations included:

 ▪ Scotiabank Charity Challenge: June 2018 
 ▪ Canada Day Parade: July 2018
 ▪ Fabulous 50 Birthday Bash: September 2018
 ▪ First Grad Reception: September 2018
 ▪ CapFest: September 2018
 ▪ Alumni Homecomings: September 2018  

and March 2019
 ▪ Alumni Awards of Excellence: October 2018
 ▪ CapRocks: January 2019
 ▪ Chancellor’s Circle Dinner: January 2019
 ▪ Employee Recognition Awards: March 2019
 ▪ Convocation: June 2019 

FABULOUS 50 BIRTHDAY BASH

On September 10, 2018 — 50 years to the day the 
doors were first opened, CapU celebrated with a 
birthday party and more than 500 people in the 
Birch cafeteria and at regional campuses. The event 
featured a four-foot tall birthday cake, refreshments, 
prizes, live music and a special birthday greeting  
from the Prime Minister. 

CAPFEST

CapU’s biggest anniversary celebration, CapFest, 
was designed for everyone — students, alumni, 
employees, friends, partners and the community. 
Held on September 22, 2018, CapFest featured 
events and activities across the North Vancouver 
campus — from an experience fair in the Centre  
for Sport and Wellness and a film and animation 
open house in the Bosa Centre to an Indigenous 
festival in the Cedar Courtyard.

The Birch festival drew more than 4,400  
attendees and featured two stages with live music, 
more than a dozen food trucks and a beer garden. 
The entertainers — all of which included at least  
one CapU alumna or alumnus — included Five  

In March 2019, CapU and Cantrav received special 
recognition for CapFest. The team was selected as 
a finalist for the Best Public Event/Fair or Festival 
at the Canadian Event Venue Awards.

Alarm Funk, The Phonix, Side One, Antonio  
Larosa and others. Headliner Hey Ocean!  
closed out the night.

ADDITIONAL CAPFEST HIGHLIGHTS:

 ▪ Children’s Centre open house
 ▪ Jazz in the forest — three performers
 ▪ Stories in the Library
 ▪ Alumni music showcase in the BlueShore Theatre
 ▪ Escape room in the Library
 ▪ Then and Now gallery of photographs
 ▪ IT Café with archival displays and artifacts
 ▪ Self-guided tour of nine murals

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

CELEBRATIONS

https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/albums/72157697986576212
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/fabulous-50-birthday-bash/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/fabulous-50-birthday-bash/
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138
CapFest 

volunteers took 
on roles from 

directing traffic 
to bartending.

1,000+
cupcakes 

distributed.

410
alumni records 

updated at 
Alumni 

Homecoming 
and Alumni 
Awards of 
Excellence.

360
glasses raised 
for a toast in 
the alumni 

homecoming 
tent.

54
faculty and 

staff entered 
the lawn sign 

draw.

4,400
ate, drank, 
sang and 

danced in the 
Birch festival 

at CapFest.

283
shares of the 

Prime Minister’s 
CapU birthday 
wish video on 

Facebook.

BY THE NUMBERS JANUARY–NOVEMBER 2018 CapFest

CapFest

CapFest

CapFest

CapFest

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
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Alumni Homecoming

Alumni Awards  
of Excellence

Alumni Awards  
of Excellence

Alumni Awards  
of Excellence

Scotiabank Charity 
Challenge

Alumni Homecoming

ALUMNI HOMECOMING

The Capilano University Alumni Association  
(CUAA) hosted its first Alumni Homecoming as one 
of the featured events at CapFest. Event attendance 
exceeded expectations with 360 participants. The 
event wrapped up with a toast from CUAA Vice 
Chair Rabjeet Wallia and President Paul Dangerfield. 
To commemorate the event, guests received 50th 
anniversary champagne flutes.

ALUMNI AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE

Held October 18, 2018 at the Pipe Shop on the 
North Vancouver waterfront, the annual Alumni 
Awards of Excellence welcomed 150 alumni, faculty, 
administration and community members. The event, 
co-hosted by CapU and CUAA, honored five alumni 
who exemplify CapU’s brand essence. A special 
series of videos were created to highlight and 
celebrate the five recipients:

 ▪ Jullian Kolstee, Luminous category (video)
 ▪ Amina el Mantari, Unified category (video)
 ▪ Danette (Petie) Chalifoux, Enduring category (video)
 ▪ Kaya Dorey, Confident category (video)
 ▪ Randy Celebrini, Creative category (video)

The event also marked another milestone:  
CUAA’s 10th anniversary. 

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

CELEBRATIONS

https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/sets/72157696739207760
https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/sets/72157696739207760
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/#julian
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/#amina
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/#petie
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/#kaya
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/alumni-awards-of-excellence/#randy
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Scotiabank Charity 
Challenge

Canada Day Parade

First Grads  
Reception

Let's Keep
It Going

ADDITIONAL EVENT HIGHLIGHTS INCLUDE:

 ▪ Scotiabank Charity Challenge — Decked out  
in colourful CapU tees, 50 CapU representatives 
(employees, board members and students) took 
part in the June 24, 2018 charity challenge,  
raising more than $22,000 to support the  
North Shore Neighbourhood House and  
CapU student bursaries. 

 ▪ First Grad Reception — As part of the September 
10, 2018 Birthday Bash, CapU invited its first 
students and faculty from 1968. Twenty-four 
students and faculty from our first year attended, 
including Carolyn Grass, whose band performed  
at the Birthday Bash. 

 ▪ Canada Day Parade — Nearly 60 participants 
represented CapU in the 2018 Canada Day  
Parade in North Vancouver. Dressed in colourful 
50th anniversary T-shirts, CapU faculty, staff, 
friends and family carried the CapU banner and 
handed out Canada flags. 

 ▪ Employee Information Sessions — Two special 
50th anniversary sessions were hosted for faculty 
and staff — Let’s Get It Started (held in September 
2017) and Let’s Keep It Going (held in March 2018). 
Designed to inform and engage staff, the lunch-
time sessions previewed anniversary events and 
initiatives and encouraged staff to participate.

 ▪ President’s Perspective — Held in January and 
August 2018, President Paul Dangerfield devoted 
time during each of his forums for 50th 
anniversary engagement. The January 11, 2018 
session served as the anniversary’s soft launch, 
highlighting the new microsite and an overview  
of the activities planned for the next 18 months. 
The August 23, 2018 President’s Perspective 
featured the Birthday Bash and CapFest, and 
included a call out to all staff to help spread the 
word through posters, lawn signs and social media. 

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
CELEBR ATIONS (CONTINUED)

https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/albums/72157698178698994
https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/albums/72157697986576212
https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/albums/72157668752332937
https://www.flickr.com/photos/capilanouniversity/albums/72157668752332937
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Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

CapRocks

Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

CAPROCKS

CapU was rockin’ on Friday, January 11, 2019 with 
CapRocks, an unforgettable concert that featured  
an impressive line-up of live performances including 
Delhi 2 Dublin, Dirty Radio, Moontricks and the 
Whiskeydicks. Co-hosted by the Capilano Students’ 
Union and CapU, the all-ages event was held at 
CapU’s Centre for Sport and Wellness and  
included a licensed bar and local food trucks.  
A commemorative video by Jason Vaughan  
captured the spirit of the night.

CHANCELLOR’S CIRCLE DINNER 

On January 17, 2019, Chancellor’s Circle dinner 
guests donned elaborate masks for a masquerade-
themed evening. Held at the Polygon Gallery, the 
event recognized CapU’s leading donors and featured 
student actors, dance performances and an address 
by Chancellor David Fung. More than $120,000 was 
raised to support CapU initiatives, scholarships and 
bursaries. The University matched 50 per cent of the 
gifts, adding $60,500 for a total of $181,500.

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
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https://www.delhi2dublin.com/home/?
https://www.dirtyradio.ca/
https://moontricksmusic.com/
https://vimeo.com/318882501
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Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

Employee  
Recognition  
Awards

Employee  
Recognition  
Awards

Chancellor's  
Circle Dinner

Employee  
Recognition  

Awards

EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION AWARDS

A special anniversary edition of the annual  
Employee Recognition Awards was created to 
honour employees who embody CapU’s brand 
essence. A total of 125 guests attended the March 
14, 2019 awards gala, including individuals and  
teams nominated for an award. Congratulations  
to recipients in each of the five award categories.

 ▪ Thomas Flower, Luminous award
 ▪ Kats Klein, Enduring award
 ▪ Deb Jamison, Confident award
 ▪ Louise Allison, Creative award
 ▪ Ts’zil Learning Centre (Mount Currie) – Lisa Fisher, 

Jenny Fitzgerald, Sharon Leinweber, Robert 
Schuster, Martina Pierre and Kim McLeod,  
Unified Team award

Attendees were surveyed following the event:

 ▪ 90% agreed or strongly agreed with the 
statement, “The Employee Recognition Awards 
event made me feel proud to be an employee  
of Capilano University.” 

 ▪ 83% agreed or strongly agreed with the 
statement, “The Employee Recognition Awards 
event made me feel that Capilano University  
had a positive impact on the communities  
we serve.”

SECHELT ALUMNI HOMECOMING 

Capilano University welcomed more than 50 alumni, 
former employees and community members at the 
Alumni Homecoming at the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast 
campus on March 23, 2019. During the champagne 
reception, guests enjoyed live jazz music, refreshments 
and sharing memories. Linda Epp, member of the 
Capilano University Alumni Association Board, spoke 
about the impact CapU has had on her life and her 
experience reconnecting to her Indigenous roots. 

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
CELEBR ATIONS (CONTINUED)
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  CELEBRATING THE 50TH ANNIVERSARY   

  WITH OUR AGENTS IN JAPAN WAS TRULY   

  MEMORABLE. I SHARED LOCALLY-MADE   

  BRANDED CAPU MINI CAKES AND TREATS   

  WITH OUR AGENTS AND THEY LOVED IT!   

  OUR LITTLE CELEBRATION AWAY FROM   

  HOME NOT ONLY MADE ME FEEL PROUD   

  TO CALL MYSELF A CAPU EMPLOYEE BUT IT   

  ALSO MADE THE PARTNERSHIP WITH OUR   

  NEW AGENTS EVEN STRONGER.  

AKIKO TAKIGUCHI, INTERNATIONAL STUDENT 
ADMISSIONS AND RECRUITMENT ASSISTANT

CELEBRATIONS AROUND THE WORLD!

CapU’s Wong and Trainor Centre for International 
Experience (CIE) elevated CapU’s 50th anniversary 
celebrations to international proportions. Visiting 
countries from around the globe—from Brazil to 
Mexico to Vietnam—CIE's recruitment team 
sweetened the journey with CapU branded treats. 
The team celebrated in 20 cities, sharing 750 
cookies, 170 cupcakes and five birthday cakes.

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

CELEBRATIONS

Colombia Colombia Brazil Brazil Brazil

Mexico India India Philippines South Korea
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  IN THE EARLY 1970'S, NANCY MCMASTER   

  LEARNED ABOUT A FREE IMPROVISATIONAL   

  MUSIC WORKSHOP FOR CHILDREN WITH   

  DISABILITIES—CALLED THE CHILDREN’S   

  SPONTANEOUS MUSIC WORKSHOP. “THAT   

  WAS THE BEGINNING OF MY WHOLE LIFE’S   

  VOCATION,” SAYS MCMASTER, WHO LATER   

  CO-FOUNDED CANADA’S FIRST MUSIC   

  THERAPY PROGRAM AT CAPILANO COLLEGE.  

EXCERPT FROM STORY: MUSIC THERAPY:  
A FIRST IN CANADA

CONVOCATION

Celebrating Capilano University’s 50th graduating 
class was the ideal culmination to the anniversary 
year. To mark the special occasion, graduands wore 
CapU’s new vibrant satin hoods, while diploma and 
credential graduands wore stoles over their traditional 
black gowns. A commemorative program featured  
a two-page spread of photographs showcasing 
anniversary moments throughout the year. 

Ceremony highlights included a live performance  
by Grammy Award-winning artist, Sarah McLachlan, 
who received an honorary degree. Founder of  
G Adventures, Bruce Poon Tip also received an 
honorary degree. Canadian poet, artist and retired 
CapU instructor, Pierre Coupey was honoured  
as Faculty Emeritus.

The University’s Coast Salish legacy canoe was 
prominently featured in front of the stage as  
a reminder of each students’ journey at CapU  
and their many journeys ahead. 

Convocation

Convocation

Convocation

Sarah McLachlan 
at Convocation

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
CELEBR ATIONS (CONTINUED)

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/music-therapy-a-first-in-canada/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/music-therapy-a-first-in-canada/
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Mural  
Series

Luminous 
Project

Mural  
Series

Unity 
Project

Mural  
Series

More than a dozen Great Ideas received funding  
as part of the University's 50th anniversary, with  
the majority completed during the first half of the 
anniversary program. The Great Ideas initiative  
was created to support projects and activities that 
improve the student experience, raise our profile  
in the broader community and/or beautify our 
campus. Great Ideas include:

 ▪ Unity Project
 ▪ Mural Project 
 ▪ Run/Walk Back to 1968
 ▪ Luminous Project
 ▪ Blues Home Opener
 ▪ CapU Cafeteria Sign
 ▪ CapU Speaker Series
 ▪ 50th Anniversary Athletic Shirts
 ▪ Nap Pods 
 ▪ Animation Academy Scholarships
 ▪ Short Édition Story Dispenser
 ▪ 50 Years of Campus Fashion
 ▪ CapU50 Trail

UNITY PROJECT

At CapFest, the Unity Project attracted more  
than 150 people who co-created an interactive, 
public art piece. The project, hosted by the  
Wong and Trainor Centre for International 
Experience, was designed to celebrate diversity  
and to inspire connections. Participants tied 
colourful yarn between a series of 24 posts  
each marked with identifiers such as “I believe 
in education for all” and “I am a world traveller.”  
The end result was a colourful woven canopy that 
reflected compassion, humanity and togetherness.

The art structure remained on display in the Birch 
courtyard through September 2018. Most of the 
material has been reused, repurposed or recycled. 
The yarn was donated to Enterprising Women 
Making Art, a program of Atira Women’s  
Resource Society.

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

INITIATIVES

https://vimeo.com/291987695
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1,177
people have 
attended the 

Speaker Series 
to date.

$22,000
raised by 

CapU’s team in 
the Scotiabank 

Charity 
Challenge.

16
artists brought 

the Capilano 
University 
series of 10 

murals to life.

50
skeins of yarn 
were on hand 
for the Unity 

Project.

1,830
items sold 

from the Cap 
Love Tuesday 

collection since 
January 2018.

200
retro 

headbands 
distributed at 

Run/Walk 
Back to 1968.

1,517
photographs 

tagged, sorted, 
and posted 

online; a 
historical 

archive 
initiated  

by the 
anniversary's 

history 
committee.

BY THE NUMBERS JANUARY–NOVEMBER 2018 

Fran Lebowitz, 
CapU Speaker Series

Cafeteria 
Sign

MURAL SERIES

With completion of the final mural located at  
kálax-ay, the Sunshine Coast campus of Capilano 
University, iIllustrator Ben Tour’s piece followed  
the painting of nine murals on CapU’s North 
Vancouver campus. A mural dedication was  
held during CapFest, followed by a tour led  
by Vancouver Mural Festival’s David Vertesi,  
a CapU alumnus. Participants were encouraged  
to take self-guided tours and to hashtag their  
selfies in front of murals with #CapFest  
and #CapU50.

A number of media reported  
on the murals including the 
Vancouver Sun, the North Shore  
News and the Coast Reporter.  

CAPU SPEAKER SERIES

The CapU 50th anniversary speaker series  
kicked off with three sold-out engagements in 
the BlueShore Financial Centre for the Performing 
Arts. Fran Lebowitz headlined the series with two 
shows on September 27 and 28, 2019, followed  
by Pulitzer Prize-winning journalist Chris Hedges  
on October 10, 2019.

Tyee founder David Beers led a panel entitled  
“Make Vancouver the Slowest City” on October  
18, 2018 and Dr. Gabor Maté spoke about  
addiction on November 20, 2018. The final  
event in the series, held in May 2019, featured 
broadcaster Ziya Tong in conversation with  
Green Party Leader Elizabeth May.

RUN/WALK BACK TO 1968

The School of Human Kinetics’ annual Run/Walk 
Back to Cap took on a 50th flavour as the "Run/ 
Walk Back to 1968." Held on October 4, 2018, the 
event was designed to promote physical activity and 
campus spirit. Approximately 200 people took part 
including 73 employees. 

Sporting retro headbands branded with CapU’s 
colours and logo, participants chose to walk or run 
2.5 or 5 km. Everyone who crossed the finish line 
received a 50th anniversary commemorative mug. 

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
INITIATIVES (CONTINUED)

https://capu.arcabc.ca/islandora/object/capu%3Ahistorical-archive
https://www.capilanou.ca/about-capu/get-to-know-us/news/2018/title-65737-en.php
https://www.capilanou.ca/about-capu/get-to-know-us/news/2018/title-71782-en.php
https://scottrobarts.smugmug.com/Capilano-University-RunWalk-Back-to-1968/
https://scottrobarts.smugmug.com/Capilano-University-RunWalk-Back-to-1968/
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Luminous 
Project

LUMINOUS PROJECT

Every evening since September 22, 2018, the Birch 
Building has served as a beacon of light on CapU’s 
North Vancouver campus. Through the Luminous 
Project, two sides of the building are washed in bright, 
colourful lights nightly. The glow is visible from the 
Ironworkers Memorial Bridge, providing our communities 
with a peek at our campus nestled among the trees. 

MORE GREAT IDEAS

In addition to the Great Ideas noted, the following 
have been completed:

 ▪ Blues Home Opener — In celebration of the 50th, 
the CapU men’s soccer team kicked off the season 
with a home game followed by a BBQ

 ▪ Cafeteria Sign — Our first Great Idea to come to 
fruition, the CapU sign in the Birch cafeteria has 
been the backdrop of countless photographs since 
it was installed in March

 ▪ 50th Anniversary Athletic Shirts — Blues athletes 
have been wearing 50th anniversary branded 
T-shirts at athletic and community events

CAP LOVE TUESDAYS:  
2,500 BRANDED ITEMS WORN WITH PRIDE!

Every Tuesday, between January 2018 and June 
2019, friends, employees and students of the 
University were encouraged to wear their favourite 
item from the Cap Love Tuesdays collection in 
celebration of the 50th anniversary. Five per cent 
from each item sold was donated to the CapU 
Student Bursary. Nearly 2,500 items from the special 
anniversary collection were sold for a total of $54,127, 
and a $2,706 contribution to the CapU Student Bursary. 

Throughout the year, the CapU community showed 
their pride by participating in Cap Love Tuesdays 
contests, photoshoots and a fashion show. The  
Cap Love Tuesdays tradition will continue after the 
anniversary with employees and students sporting 
their favourite CapU T-shirts, baseball hats and  
other branded apparel.

  BEING A SINGLE MOM   

  CAN BE A BARRIER IN   

  SO MANY WAYS, BUT MY   

  EXPERIENCE AT CAPU HAS   

  HELPED ME OVERCOME   

  THE OBSTACLES I’VE   

  FACED. EVERYONE AT   

  CAPU IS SO SUPPORTIVE, AND   

  I FEEL BLESSED AND HONOURED   

  TO HAVE RECEIVED THE FINANCIAL   

  ASSISTANCE THAT HAS ENABLED   

  ME TO FURTHER MY EDUCATION.  

MARYKE PETER, SINGLE MOM AND FULL-TIME STUDENT
EXCERPT FROM STORY: HOW CAP LOVE TUESDAYS HELP STUDENTS IN NEED

Cap Love Tuesdays

Cap Love 
Tuesdays

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
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https://capu50.capilanou.ca/how-cap-love-tuesdays-help-students-in-need/
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SHORT ÉDITION STORY DISPENSER

The University unveiled the first Short Story 
Dispenser in British Columbia at the official  
opening of its Learning Commons. Readers select 
the length of their story: one, three or five minutes 
to read, and then press a button to receive an 
original story or poem on a scroll of eco-friendly 
paper. Free of charge for the reader, the stories 
transform unoccupied minutes and wait times  
into literary experiences. The University’s innovative 
dispenser garnered national media attention.

50 YEARS OF CAMPUS FASHION

A look at 50 years of campus fashion played  
out in several forums over the course of the  
50th anniversary. Students costumed in fashions 
from six decades performed during CapFest, and  
a behind-the-scenes video showcased Costuming  
for Stage and Screen faculty and students as well  
as guest commentary from fashion historian Ivan 
Sayers. The video and a companion story  
were profiled in May 2019. 

CAPU50 TRAIL

The new 1.6 km CapU50 Trail opened in  
June 2019 and connects existing pathways,  
including the Seymour Greenway Trail and the  
path through the central forest, with a new  
footpath in the wetland area north of the Bosa 
Centre for Film and Animation. Designed and  
built collaboratively by students, faculty and  
facilities staff, the trail facilitates access to the 
wetland, the identification of different plant 
assemblages, locating native and non-native species 
and participation in a bird monitoring program.

  CLOTHING IS THE SINGLE MOST   

  IMPORTANT ARTIFACT WHEN YOU’RE   

  TRYING TO UNDERSTAND SOCIETY.  

IVAN SAYERS, FASHION HISTORIAN
EXCERPT FROM VIDEO: COSTUME & IDENTITY VIDEO

  IT’S BEEN A CHALLENGE TO BALANCE ALL   

  THE USER INTERESTS, MEET SAFETY   

  STANDARDS AND PRIORITIZE ECOLOGICAL   

  CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION   

  NEEDS, BUT I’M REALLY PROUD OF THE   

  TRAIL THAT OUR MANY VOLUNTEERS AND   

  COLLABORATORS HAVE BUILT AND HOPE   

  THAT IT HELPS THE CAPU COMMUNITY TO   

  ENJOY CAMPUS NATURE.  

RACHEL CLEARWATER, CAPU BIOLOGY INSTRUCTOR
EXCERPT FROM STORY: TAKING TIME OUT ON THE 
CAPU50 TRAIL

CapU50 Trail 
Building

Short Édition 
Story Dispenser

CapU50 Trail 
Building

50 Years of  
Campus Fashion

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
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https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/short-story-dispenser/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/short-story-dispenser/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/whats-happening/capfest/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/costume-and-identity/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/costume-and-identity/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/costume-and-identity/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/taking-time-out-on-the-capu50-trail/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/taking-time-out-on-the-capu50-trail/
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LEGACY CANOE

Capilano University commissioned the building of a 
traditional Coast Salish canoe as a 50th anniversary 
legacy and a symbol of the University's commitment 
to Truth and Reconciliation.

FROM TREE TO CANOE

Seventh-generation Squamish Nation master  
carver Ses siyam (Ray Natraoro) selected an 
800-year-old red cedar from B.C.’s Elaho Valley  
to transform into a seaworthy hunting canoe. 

The carving took place on the North Vancouver 
campus, adjacent to the Bosa Centre, where 
students, employees and the community had  
an opportunity to witness the transformation  
and learn first-hand about Coast Salish traditions 
and culture. Over an eight-week period, the CapU 
community was invited to observe Ses siyam  
carve and to participate in a series of hands-on 
sessions with the artist.

  IT’S LIKE BEING IN A CADILLAC, BUT   

  WITH THE SPEED OF A FERRARI.  

SES SIYAM, ARTIST
EXCERPT FROM STORY: THE MAKING OF  
CAPU'S LEGACY CANOE

  THE UNIVERSITY NOW HAS A   

  RESPONSIBILITY TO CARE FOR   

  SKW’CHÁYS. THE CANOE’S SPIRIT HAS   

  BEEN AWAKENED AND IS NOW A LIVING   

  PART OF THE UNIVERSITY.  

JOEL CARDINAL, CHAIR OF CAPU’S LEGACY COMMITTEE
EXCERPT FROM STORY: CELEBRATING COAST  
SALISH CULTURE

AWAKENING AND NAMING CEREMONY

The commissioning of the 30-foot Coast Salish  
canoe by Capilano University is more than an 
important legacy of the University’s 50th anniversary, 
it’s about recognizing and bringing back the culture, 
language and teachings of the Coast Salish people. 

On February 25, 2019, a blessing ceremony of  
the log was held and on April 11, 2019 the canoe  
was awakened and named Skw’cháys. Led by 
Squamish Nation leaders, the awakening drew 
together more than 600 students, employees  
and community members.

Following cultural protocol, the University will  
host ceremonies to awaken Skw’cháys every  

spring and put the canoe to sleep every fall.

CELEBRATING SKW’CHÁYS IN STORIES

A series of six stories were created to  
commemorate the canoe and celebrate  
Coast Salish culture, including:

 ▪ The Making of CapU’s Legacy Canoe
 ▪ A Canoe Named Skw’cháys
 ▪ Celebrating Coast Salish Culture
 ▪ Legacy for Future Generations
 ▪ Contemplating the Canoe
 ▪ Indigenizing the Academy

An advertising and social media campaign 
promoted the stories, shared highlights and 
encouraged the community to attend the  
awakening and naming ceremony (see more  
details in the Promotions section).

CapU Legacy 
Canoe

Legacy Canoe Awakening 
and Naming Ceremony

Legacy Canoe Awakening 
and Naming Ceremony

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/the-making-of-capus-legacy-canoe/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/the-making-of-capus-legacy-canoe/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/celebrating-coast-salish-culture/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/celebrating-coast-salish-culture/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/the-making-of-capus-legacy-canoe/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/a-canoe-named-skwchays/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/celebrating-coast-salish-culture/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/a-legacy-for-future-generations/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/contemplating-the-canoe/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/indigenizing-the-academy/
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50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

SPONSORSHIP

$10,000
bursary for 
Indigenous 

students 
announced by 

Neptune 
Terminals 
during the 

Birthday Bash.

100%
of the 

commemorative 
50th 

anniversary 
growlers sold 
through Deep 
Cove Brewers 
and Distillers.

5
sponsors 
onsite at 

CapFest with 
displays and 

booths.

$273,728
raised  

through cash 
 and in-kind 

sponsorships.

BY THE NUMBERS JANUARY–NOVEMBER 2018 

Twenty-two sponsorship partners were engaged to 
support the anniversary program. Support included:

 ▪ $110,000 from 10 cash sponsors
 ▪ $110,000 of in-kind media sponsorship from  

five media sponsors
 ▪ $53,728.75 of in-kind sponsorship from seven 

community businesses and partners 
 ▪ Total sponsorship achieved: $273,728 .75

PRESENTING SPONSOR

Neptune Terminals, which also celebrated its 50th 
anniversary in 2018, was CapU’s presenting sponsor 
for all anniversary events. During the Fabulous 50 
Birthday Bash, Neptune Terminals announced 
creation of a bursary for Indigenous students and 
committed to matching up to $10,000 in donations.

IN-KIND MEDIA SPONSORSHIP HIGHLIGHTS

Media sponsors helped promote CapFest and  
the Alumni Awards of Excellence through television, 
print and social network platforms. In-kind media 
sponsors included Global BC, CFOX, Daily Hive  
and Georgia Straight (see promotions section  
for media impact).

ADDITIONAL IN-KIND SPONSORSHIP 
HIGHLIGHTS

 ▪ Peak Technologies provided more than $35,000  
of in-kind LED screen equipment and labour

 ▪ A CapU alum at Cobs Bread provided sweet and 
savoury pastries at the Birthday Bash, First Grads 
Reception and Alumni Homecoming

 ▪ Thrifty Foods provided more than 1,000 cupcakes 
for the Birthday Bash and CapFest, plus food 
platters for the Alumni Homecoming

 ▪ Deep Cove Brewers created a commemorative 
growler for CapU’s anniversary, which was sold at 
the brewery and CapU bookstore

  2018 WAS NEPTUNE’S 50TH   

  ANNIVERSARY TOO, SO WE'RE   

  VERY HAPPY TO PARTNER WITH   

  CAPU TO CREATE A LEGACY OF OUR   

  SHARED 50TH ANNIVERSARIES: THE   

  NEPTUNE TERMINALS INDIGENOUS   

  STUDENT BURSARY.  

CLAUS THORNBERG, PRESIDENT  
NEPTUNE TERMINALS

Claus Thornberg from 
Neptune Terminals

Cupcakes from 
Thrifty Foods

Sponsorship  
at CapFest
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Anniversary marketing and communications focused 
on a wide range of celebrations and initiatives, from 
CapFest and the Legacy Canoe to the anniversary 
site capu50 .capilanou .ca and e-bulletin.

EARNED MEDIA

Throughout the anniversary program, CapU  
pitched 50th related stories and announcements, 
resulting in more than 25 earned media articles  
and listings in print and broadcast channels. Stories 
covered murals, first grads, CapU50 trail, B.C.’s first 
Short Story Dispenser, an in-depth feature on the 
Legacy Canoe and more. (See a detailed list of 
earned media in Appendix B)

ONLINE MARKETING

 ▪ capu50 .capilanou .ca — Launched in January 
2018, this microsite contains anniversary stories, 
videos, photographs, celebrations/events, alumni 
information, initiatives, the CapU50 e-bulletin  
and other news and announcements. Every 
month, new stories and videos were added, 
bringing the total number of stories to 89. 

THE MOST WIDELY READ STORIES WERE:

1. CapU Lights Up the Night
2. Big Ideas and Aspirations: CapU’s  

Campus Master Plan
3. Honouring CapU’s History Through Design
4. Indigenizing the Academy
5. Music Therapy: A First in Canada

TOGETHER, THE FIVE STORIES GENERATED:

 ▪ 1,800 views
 ▪ 1,060 clicks on Facebook
 ▪ 735 reactions, comments and shares

HIGHLIGHTS FROM JANUARY 2018–JULY 2019 INCLUDE:

 ▪ 28,071 total users
 ▪ 85.55% new users and 14.45% returning users
 ▪ Most users arrived at the site through:

- Social: 39.48%
- Direct: 37.65%
- Organic search: 18.95% 
- Other: 3.92%

 ▪ CapU50 E-Bulletins — Nine e-bulletins were 
issued to promote and highlight celebrations, 
photographs, stories, videos and special initiatives. 
The final e-bulletin was issued on June 11, 2019 
and featured a look at Capilano University’s 50th 
graduating class and a thank you to all who joined 
the University in "celebrating the experience." 

E-bulletin Activity

M
A

R

M
A

Y

JU
L

SE
PT

O
C

T

N
O

V

FE
B

A
PR

JU
N

Emails delivered 14,391 12,925 13,780 15,878 15,769 13,564 13,489 13,327 13,076

Emails opened 3,828 3,968 3,606 4,147 3,687 3,982 4,027 3,553 4,467

Open rate 30% 31% 27% 27% 28% 29% 30% 27% 34%

Unique clicks 427 318 255 376 431 251 209 176 1,185

Click rate % 11.2% 8% 7% 9% 12% 5.6% 4.4% 4.4% 16%

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT

PROMOTIONS

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capu-lights-up-the-night/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/big-ideas-and-aspirations/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/big-ideas-and-aspirations/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/honouring-capu-history-through-design/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/indigenizing-the-academy/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/music-therapy-a-first-in-canada/
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 ▪ Social Media — The University’s existing social 
media channels were widely used for promoting 
the 50th anniversary. More than 275 stories  
and celebrations, including the Legacy Canoe, 
CapRocks and Convocation, were posted on 
Facebook, Instagram and Twitter.

THE ANNIVERSARY PROGRAM'S TOP THREE VIDEOS: 

1. Unboxing Our Stories  101K views
2. Four Pioneers  36K views
3. How We Met  21K views

CapU videos, along with videos tagged  
with #CapFest and #CapU50, generated the 
following interest through November 2018: 

 ▪ Facebook: 26 videos with 35,589 views
 ▪ Instagram: 24 videos with 4,395 views
 ▪ Twitter: 10 videos with 2,740 views
 ▪ LinkedIn: 3 videos with 4,550 views

Official CapU Social Media Channel Activity 
to November 2018

CAPU POSTS 47 32 81 8

LIKES 1,194 4,981 557 285

OTHER POSTS*
(with #CapU50 
and #CapFest)

88 199 164

LIKES 1,500 6,600 700 285

NEW FOLLOWERS
From Jan. to Oct.

1,108 1,062 129 1,314

*posts from stakeholders using #CapU50 or #CapFest

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
PROMOTIONS (CONTINUED)

Unboxing Our Stories

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/unboxing-our-stories/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/four-pioneers/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/how-we-met/
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PROMOTIONS

CAPFEST AND ALUMNI AWARDS  
OF EXCELLENCE AD CAMPAIGN

Between July and October 2018, an anniversary 
media campaign featured CapFest and the  
Alumni Awards of Excellence. The campaign 
included a broad mix of paid and sponsored  
media including:

 ▪ Outdoor — Transit shelters, bike racks and the 
SeaBus walkway, as well as screens at North 
Shore Cineplex Theatres, Tim Hortons (five 
locations) and Park Royal Shopping Centre

 ▪ Municipal Papers — Georgia Straight, Squamish 
Chief, Coast Reporter, Burnaby Now, Vancouver 
Courier and North Shore News

 ▪ Broadcast — Global TV and CFOX

 ▪ Digital — Websites and social media ads, as  
well as newsletters, eblasts, blogs and postings  
in a variety of digital channels that included  
Miss604 and the Daily Hive

Advertising impact highlights include: 4.4 million 
impressions from the SeaBus walkway; 656,000 
weekly readers in the Georgia Straight; and 510,500 
impressions from Global TV’s on-air announcements. 
(See a detailed list of media, dates and impacts  
in Appendix A). 

MAIL DROP TO NORTH  
SHORE HOUSEHOLDS

The final of three CapFest mail drops was  
mailed to almost 30,000 households the week  
of September 10, 2018. The trifold mailer featured  
a roster of events, a schedule of live entertainment 
on five stages, a listing of food trucks and a detailed 
campus map.

The first two CapFest mailings included a save- 
the-date postcard issued in May 2018 and an 
invitation postcard issued in August 2018.

ADDITIONAL PROMOTIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

 ▪ Campus Graphics — As students and faculty 
returned to campus in late August, they were 
greeted with signage celebrating CapU’s 
anniversary—from lamp post banners up Lillooet 
Road and the Library walkway to a wide range  
of on-campus displays. The 50th displays include 
window treatments, elevator wraps, large banners 
and special signage celebrating CapU’s roots  
and future.

 ▪ Lawn Sign and Posters — Lawn signs and a  
series of posters could be found across North 
Vancouver and neighbouring municipalities. A 
weekly lawn sign contest was held over the four 
weeks leading up to CapFest, with more than  
50 people entering to win Cap Love Tuesdays 
apparel and tickets to see Fran Lebowitz.

MASTER CONTACT LIST

In February 2018, CapU launched an internal 
campaign to request contacts for the 50th master  
list. More than 1,500 contacts were received from 
faculty and staff and added to the existing database 
of more than 11,500 contacts, including donors, 
alumni, volunteers, Board members, employees.

CapFest Campaign

Lawn Signs

CapFest Campaign

Campus 
Graphics

Campus 
Graphics

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
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LEGACY CANOE ADVERTISING

Carved on CapU’s North Vancouver campus,  
the creation of the legacy canoe featured a  
number of opportunities for students, employees 
and community groups to gather, witness and 
participate in the process. A series of print and  
social media advertising, earned media and  
stories helped to share progress, encourage 
engagement and promote legacy events, including 
the Awakening Ceremony held on April 11, 2019. 
(See table below)

BRAND CAMPAIGN: 50 YEARS OF STORIES

Additionally, CapU’s annual brand campaign,  
while not funded through the 50th anniversary 
program, honoured the anniversary. Entitled  
50 Years of Stories, the campaign celebrated  
five decades of CapU’s diversity, creativity and 
sense of community.

RECOGNITION AND KEEPSAKE

As the anniversary program wound down,  
CapU extended a special thank-you to the 
community that contributed to its success.  
A limited-edition anniversary beach towel was 
curated and distributed to approximately 450 
employees and alumni who participated in the 
annual employee scavenger hunt, CapU leadership 
BBQ and/or the Alumni Envisioning 2030 event. 

In recognition of the broader community’s 
engagement in CapU’s celebrations, a ½ page  
thank-you ad was placed in the North Shore  
News and featured in social media.

LEGACY ADVERTISING, PRINT AND SOCIAL

Media Call to Action Specs Date Impact

North Shore News Legacy features on microsite  ▪ 1/2 page ad March 8, 2019 60,000 newspapers

North Shore News Awakening Ceremony  ▪ 1/4 page ad

 ▪ 1/4 page ad

April 5, 2019

April 11, 2019

60,000 newspapers 

60,000 newspapers

Vancouver Sun Legacy features on microsite  ▪ 1/3 centre spread March 12, 2019 136,787 newspapers

Facebook & Instagram Legacy features on microsite  ▪ Paid posts February 25– 
March 6, 2019

Link clicks: 1,409

Reach: 56,815 

Impressions: 124,130

Facebook Event Boost Awakening Ceremony event page  ▪ Paid posts March 28–April 10, 
2019

Event responses: 56

Reach: 2,542

Impressions: 5,875

Facebook & Instagram Awakening Ceremony event page  ▪ Paid posts April 4–11, 2019 Link clicks: 94

Unique clicks: 83

Reach: 5,150

Impressions: 8,248

THANK 
YOU!

Thank you for being part of our 
50 years of success! Our CapU 
community spirit is fuelled by the 
enthusiasm of the students, faculty, 
employees and community members 
who engage with us each year. 

Decade after decade, this spirit has 
propelled us forward. We want to 
continue building on the momentum 
and we’re excited about what our 
next 50 years might bring.

Happy Canada Day!

CAPILANOU.CA/50

 HONOURING  
 COA ST SALISH  
 C ANOE CULTURE  
 AT C APU 

Wa àynexw
Please join us in the Legacy Canoe 
Awakening and Naming Ceremony.

THURSDAY, APRIL 11, 2019 | 2 P.M.
Birch Cafeteria | Capilano University
2055 Purcell Way, North Vancouver, B.C.

As Capilano University celebrates 50 
years, we continue our commitment to 
Truth and Reconciliation. Please join the 
University community, master carver 
Ses siyám (Ray Natraoro) and carver 
Xats’alánexw siyám (Victor Harry) to 
awaken and name our traditional, 
seaworthy Coast Salish canoe.

Legacy Canoe
Advertising

50th Anniversary 
Towel50th Thank You Ad

50TH ANNIVERSARY FINAL REPORT
PROMOTIONS (CONTINUED)
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PAID AND SPONSORED MEDIA: JULY–NOVEMBER 2018

APPENDIX A 

Media Specs Date Impact

MUNICIPAL PAPERS

North Shore News  ▪ Two-page front wrap

 ▪ Full page ad and front page post it

 ▪ 1/4 page ad

Sept. 7, 2018

Sept. 19, 2018

Sept. 21, 2018

180,000 newspapers with ads

140,000 estimated readers

Squamish Chief  ▪ 1/2 page ad Sept. 13, 2018 3,400 newspapers with ad

7,280 estimated readers

Coast Reporter  ▪ 1/2 page ad Sept. 14, 2018 11,930 newspapers with ad

27,439 estimated readers

Burnaby Now  ▪ Full page ad and front page post-it Sept. 19, 2018 44,165 newspapers with ad

101,580 estimated readers

Vancouver Courier  ▪ Back page ad and front page post-it Sept. 19, 2018 106,582 newspapers with ad

245,139 estimated readers

Georgia Straight 
(media sponsor)

Sept. 7, 2018

Sept. 14, 2018

Oct. 4, 2018

656,000 weekly readers

TV/RADIO

Global TV 
(media sponsor)

 ▪ Our BC — on-air announcements

 ▪ BC1 community calendar

 ▪ Twitter

 ▪ Facebook

Sept. 7 – 13, 2018

Sept. 7 – 22, 2018

Sept. 15, 2018

Sept. 17, 2018

510,000 impressions

1,400 clicks a day

10,570 reached through 
Twitter and Facebook

CFOX 
(media sponsor)

 ▪ 53 thirty-second commercials 

 ▪ Listener Club e-newsletter post

 ▪ Three social media posts 

 ▪ Nine weeks online event page

 ▪ 20 fifteen-second commercials

Sept. 10 – 22, 2018 

Sept. 3 and Oct. 8, 2018

Aug 30., Sept. 17 and 
Sept. 22, 2018

Aug. 20 – Oct. 18, 2018

Oct. 8 – 11, 2018

430,100 impressions created with 
on-air radio commercials

34,000 subscribers

3,660 views for social media

OUTDOOR/TRANSIT

SeaBus Walkway  ▪ 24 panels lining the south side of the 
SeaBus terminal walkway

July 2 – Sept. 24, 2018 4,409,228 impressions (based on 
boardings between Lonsdale Quay 
and Waterfront Station)

Bus King  ▪ Twelve 30” x 139” posters Aug. 15 – Sept. 26, 2018 2,960,266 impressions

Transit Shelter Ads  ▪ Eight on the North Shore Aug. 13 – Sept. 23, 2018 2,602,783 circulation

Bike Racks  
(North Vancouver)

 ▪ 10 facings Sept. 1 – 30, 2018

Bike Racks 
(Burnaby)

 ▪ Three facings July 15 – Sept. 15, 2018 30,000 impressions
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Media Specs Date Impact

CINEPLEX, TIM HORTONS & PARK ROYAL

Tim Hortons 
(Four North Shore and 
one Sunshine Coast)

 ▪ 15-second video loops every 
15 minutes

Aug. 24 – Sept. 6, 
2018

8,736 plays

Park Royal Digital 
Screens

 ▪ 15-second video loops on  
seven screens

Aug. 24 – Sept 6, 2018 29,466 plays

Cineplex North Shore 
Theatres

 ▪ 15-second video plays before all 
shows, two locations, 12 screens

Aug. 24 – Sept. 6, 
2018

13,766 theatre guests

DIGITAL ADVERTISING

Glacier Media Digital 
Programmatic

 ▪ Ads shown to target audience on 
hundreds of sites (follows  
target users)

Sept. 7 – 21, 2018 342,479 impressions

345 clicks

Glacier Media Digital 
Community Display

 ▪ Ads on North Shore News, Coast 
Reporter and Squamish Chief websites

Sept. 7 – 21, 2018 115,001 impressions

178 clicks

Georgia Straight 
(media sponsor)

 ▪ Big Box Ad 

 ▪ Contest on website

 ▪ Blog posting

Sept. 14 – 21; Oct. 8, 
2018

Sept. 5, 2018

Sept. 7, 2018

150,000 impressions

Daily Hive 
(media sponsor)

 ▪ Custom content article 

 ▪ Newsletters/eblast 

 ▪ Instagram posts 

 ▪ Facebook posts 

 ▪ Twitter posts

Sept. 11 and  
Oct. 4, 2018

Aug. 31, Sept. 14  
and Oct. 5, 2018

Sept. 11, 12  
and 19, 2018

Sept. 12 and  
Oct. 4, 2018

Sept. 12, 19, Oct.  
4 and 5, 2018

2,451 page views 

144,022 recipients, 42,937 opens 

66,247 impressions, 51,256 reached* 

71,796 reached, 1,411 clicks 

19,098 impressions

Miss604 .com  ▪ Blog post

 ▪ Website ad

 ▪ 4 Twitter posts

Sept. 5 – 22, 2018 1,640 readers of the post with 229 
clicks to CapU website; 18,441 
Twitter impressions and 159 
engagements (actions)

* According to Hootsuite, the difference between reach vs. impressions is:

 ▪ Reach refers to the total number of people who have seen the ad or content. If 100 people have seen the ad,  
that means the ad’s reach is 100.

 ▪ Impressions refers to the number of times the ad or content has been displayed on a screen. If the ad from the previous  
example popped up on those people’s screens a total of 300 times, the number of impressions for that ad is 300.

PAID AND SPONSORED MEDIA: JULY–NOVEMBER 2018
APPENDIX A (CONTINUED)
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E ARNED MEDIA: JANUARY 2018–JULY 2019

APPENDIX B 

NEWS RELEASES & PITCHES COVERAGE FROM NEWS RELEASES & PITCHES

 ▪ June 13, 2018: Capilano University 
seeks mural artists

 ▪ August 17, 2018: Mural artists 
selected to beautify 
Capilano University

 ▪ August 31, 2018: Mingle with our 
first graduates on September 10

 ▪ September 4, 2018: Capilano 
University seeks mural artist on 
Sunshine Coast

 ▪ September 10, 2018: Hey Ocean! 
to headline CapFest

 ▪ September 14, 2018: Capilano 
University invites everyone to 
celebrate its 50th anniversary at 
CapFest, September 22, 2018

 ▪ September 20, 2018: Neptune 
Terminals to provide $10,000 in 
matching funds for the creation of 
an endowment bursary for 
Indigenous students

 ▪ September 26, 2018: Artist Ben 
Tour selected to brighten kálax-ay, 
the Sunshine Coast campus of 
Capilano University

 ▪ October 17, 2018: Capilano 
University to honour five 
outstanding alumni October 18, 
2018

 ▪ November 22, 2018: Capilano 
University is the first university in 
Canada to provide a Short Édition 
Short Story Dispenser

 ▪ February 19, 2019: 50th 
anniversary legacy canoe project

 ▪ June 19, 2019: CapU50 Trail

 ▪ June 14, 2018: Capilano University seeks mural artists, Arts Whistler

 ▪ June 15, 2018: Capilano University seeks artists for 50th anniversary murals, straight.com

 ▪ June 15, 2018: Capilano University seeks mural artists, NationTalk

 ▪ June 17, 2018: Mural festival expands to include CapU’s 50th anniversary, Vancouver Sun

 ▪ June 21, 2018: Mural artists wanted, Coast Reporter

 ▪ August 23, 2018: Murals add colour to Capilano University campus, North Shore News

 ▪ September 11, 2018: Capilano University celebrates 50 years, Vancouver Sun

 ▪ September 19, 2018: Vancouver favourites Hey Ocean! headline North Shore party, 
Inside Vancouver

 ▪ September 21, 2018: Former Capilano University students look back on ‘the first  
North Shore college,’ North Shore News

 ▪ September 21, 2018: 5 things to do on the North Shore this weekend, North Shore News

 ▪ September 21, 2018: Former Capilano University students look back on ‘the first  
North Shore college,’ Vancouver Is Awesome (same as North Shore News story, above)

 ▪ September 21, 2018: CapFest, Fairchild, Talentvision TV

 ▪ September 22, 2018: INQUIRING REPORTER: What do you like best about going to 
Capilano University?, North Shore News

 ▪ September 28, 2018: 5 things to do on the North Shore this weekend, North Shore News

 ▪ October 9, 2018: North Vancouver Chamber Business Excellence Awards, North Shore News

 ▪ November 27, 2018: Short Story Dispenser at Capilano University, News1130

 ▪ November 28, 2018: Capilano University Launches Unique Vending Machine,  
Breakfast Television and CityNews

 ▪ November 28, 2018: B.C.’s first prose machine debuts at CapU, North Shore News

 ▪ January 1, 2019: Short Story Dispenser, CBC French

 ▪ January 25, 2019: CapU Chancellor’s Circle Dinner, North Shore News

 ▪ April 1, 2019: Squamish carvers build canoe at CapU, Salish Sea Sentinel

 ▪ April–August 2019: Building a Legacy, Capilano University shows its commitment to Truth  
and Reconciliation with traditional Coast Salish canoe carving project, The Capilano Courier

 ▪ June 20, 2019: Paddling forward: Truth and Reconciliation at Capilano University,  
North Shore News and Pique News Magazine

 ▪  July 3, 2019: New 1.6-km trail highlights nature surrounding Capilano University,  
North Shore News and The Squamish Chief

 ▪ July 3, 2019: North Vancouver nature trail highlights sustainability, culture, and 
Indigenous history, Vancouver is Awesome (same as North Shore News story, above)
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ANNIVERSARY STORIES: JANUARY 2018–JULY 2019

APPENDIX C 

CELEBRATIONS AND REFLECTIONS 

 ▪ Books and Bras
 ▪ Cap Cookery
 ▪ CapFest (video)
 ▪ Capilano College Symbol is Unveiled
 ▪ CapRocks Kicks Off 2019
 ▪ CapU Convocation Regalia  

Gets a Makeover
 ▪ Celebrating CapU’s 50th  

Around the World
 ▪ Escape at CapFest
 ▪ Five Alarm Fun at CapFest
 ▪ Happy 50th! (video)
 ▪ The Legendary Cafetheatre
 ▪ The Meaning of 50 (video)
 ▪ Mr. Bannock: Something  

Good, Something Great
 ▪ Turning 50 (six profiles) Deb Jamison, 

Bruno Tomberli, Stephanie Wells, 
Michelle Yu, Tania Alekson, Dalene 
Samborski

 ▪ A Tribute to Bill Manson
 ▪ Unboxing Our Stories (video)

GREAT IDEAS AND INITIATIVES 

 ▪ Cap Love Tuesdays: Get  
Your Gear; Save Your Tag!

 ▪ CapU Lights up the Night
 ▪ CapU Speaker Series: Poignant  

Speakers, Compelling Conversation
 ▪ The CapU 50th Anniversary 

Commemorative Tea Towel
 ▪ Costume and Identity: Ivan Sayers 

Reflects on 50 Years of Campus  
Fashion (story and video)

 ▪ How Cap Love Tuesdays  
Helps Students in Need

 ▪ Short Édition Short Story Dispenser (video)
 ▪ Taking Time Out on the CapU50 Trail
 ▪ The World According to Fran: Fran 

Lebowitz on Stage at the BlueShore

INDIGENIZING THE UNIVERSITY 

 ▪ A Canoe Named Skw’cháys
 ▪ Celebrating Coast Salish Culture
 ▪ Contemplating the Canoe
 ▪ Legacy for Future Generations
 ▪ Indigenizing the Academy
 ▪ Indigenous Heritage
 ▪ Latash’s Journey (video)
 ▪ Linda Epp: Reclaiming her  

Indigenous Heritage
 ▪ The Inlet (video)
 ▪ The Making of CapU’s Legacy Canoe
 ▪ University One (video)

ALUMNI

 ▪ Adventures of an Outdoor Reckie
 ▪ Alumni Awards of Excellence (five videos):  

Creative: Randy Celebrini;  
Confident: Kaya Dorey;  
Luminous: Jullian Kolstee;  
Enduring: Danette (Petie) Chalifoux; 
Unified: Amina el Mantari 

 ▪ Banding Together
 ▪ Cap Connections
 ▪ Class of ’71: Janet MacDonald
 ▪ First Distinguished Alumna:  

Alpha Woodward
 ▪ Four Pioneers (video)
 ▪ How We Met (video)
 ▪ A Novel Idea (video)

ARTS, LITERATURE AND  
ENTERTAINMENT

 ▪ Backstage at the BlueShore Theatre
 ▪ Building Characters Through Costume
 ▪ Honouring CapU History  

Through Design
 ▪ How the Costuming Program  

Came to CapU
 ▪ Origins of the Capilano Review
 ▪ Students Run with the News
 ▪ A Theatre’s Outreach (video)
 ▪ A Universal Language (video)

FACULTY, PROGRAMS,  
DEPARTMENTS AND UNITS

 ▪ Backyard History (video)
 ▪ Bookstore as a Living Lab
 ▪ Brett McGillivray
 ▪ Capilano Universe: Building  

Bridges Between Communities
 ▪ Capilano University Historian Robert 

Campbell on the Social History of Alcohol
 ▪ CapU Library: Preserving  

Our Natural Environment
 ▪ EarthWorks: Inspiring Change
 ▪ Loblaw in Lebanon
 ▪ Pierre Coupey: Artist, Poet, Faculty Emeritus 
 ▪ Terry Brown

CAPU FIRSTS

 ▪ Capilano College in China:  
Customs & Cash

 ▪ Capilano College in China: 
Internationalization

 ▪ The Early Days of Women’s Studies
 ▪ Music Therapy: A First in Canada
 ▪ Press Conferences, Placards  

and the Plebiscite
 ▪ Wee Hours of Ink Stains:  

The Beginnings of a New College

ATHLETICS

 ▪ Athletics at Capilano: Against All Odds
 ▪ Coach of a Lifetime: Cap’s First  

Coach of the Year
 ▪ Rugby Scrums, Road Trips and Ice Cream
 ▪ A Short History of Cap on Ice
 ▪ Sportsplex Satisfaction

IN CASE YOU DIDN'T KNOW

 ▪ Big Ideas and Aspirations:  
CapU’s Campus Master Plan

 ▪ Carbon Neutral
 ▪ Holy Smokes!

https://capu50.capilanou.ca/books-and-bras/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/cap-cookery/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/project/capfest/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capilano-college-symbol-is-unveiled/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/caprocks-kicks-off-2019/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capu-convocation-regalia-gets-a-makeover/
https://capu50.capilanou.ca/capu-convocation-regalia-gets-a-makeover/
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